Utah State University DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies

8-2021

Evaluation of Bioretention Performance in Northern Utah as a Function of Media, Vegetation, and Loading

Trixie Rife Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

Part of the Civil and Environmental Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Rife, Trixie, "Evaluation of Bioretention Performance in Northern Utah as a Function of Media, Vegetation, and Loading" (2021). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 8207. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/8207

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



EVALUATION OF BIORETENTION PERFORMANCE IN NORTHERN UTAH AS A

FUNCTION OF MEDIA, VEGETATION, AND LOADING

by

Trixie Rife

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

In Civil and Environmental Engineering

Approved:

R. Ryan Dupont Ph.D. Major Professor Joan E. McLean MS Committee member

Blake P. Tullis Ph.D. Committee member

Sarah J. Hinners Ph.D. Committee member Sarah Null Ph.D. Committee member

D. Richard Cutler, Ph.D. Interim Vice Provost for Graduate Studies

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, Utah

2021

Copyright © Trixie Rife 2021 All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Evaluation of Bioretention Performance in Northern Utah as a Function of Variable

Media, Vegetation, and Pollutant Loading

by

Trixie Rife, Doctor of Philosophy

Utah State University, 2020

Major Professor: Dr. R. Ryan Dupont Department: Civil and Environmental Engineering

The EPA has identified bioretention (BR) systems as a best management practice to mitigate pollutants in stormwater runoff. BR systems reduce pollutant loads received by surface water bodies and lower concentrations for water infiltrating into groundwater storage areas. However, further study is necessary for variable loadings, different filter media, and vegetation. This study evaluated the effectiveness of plants, specific filter media for pollutant removal, and impact of loading on removal of nitrogen, phosphorus, Cu, Zn, and Pb in a BR system at three field sites. The Salt Lake City Public Utilities site contained a BR system with Utelite[™] expanded shale and pea gravel. The Green Meadows contained native soil and compost and 300 East site contained native soil. The Public Utilities site leached most pollutants and the soil at the Green Meadows site leached high concentrations of As. Water extractions were completed on the Public Utilities media, identifying the source of the leached pollutants as the expanded shale within the BR system. Two field sites were used to examine the impact of the presence of vegetation and vegetation selection on pollutant removal from stormwater runoff. The Green Meadows site was planted with four species of BR specific plant species and the

300 East site was planted with a common cabin grass mixture. Results show that vegetation improves pollutant removal compared to no vegetation and common cabin mixture grass contributes to pollutant removal from stormwater runoff. The same two field sites were used to analyze loading rates on pollutant removal. At the Green Meadows and 300 East sites pollutant loadings were not reflected in the pore water concentrations for most pollutants examined. The pollutant loadings at 300 East were assimilated for the BR system and the concentrations found in the pore water were reflective of the background concentrations of the soil media and not those found in the runoff. The selection of filter media and vegetation for BR systems is an important step in the system design process, with the appropriate design a BR system can remove a variety of pollutant loads from stormwater runoff.

(155 pages)

PUBLIC ABSTRACT

Evaluation of Bioretention Performance in Northern Utah as a Function of Variable Media, Vegetation, and Pollutant Loading

Trixie Rife

Pollutants found in stormwater runoff are a growing environmental concern. The EPA has identified bioretention (BR) systems as a best management practice for the control of pollutants in stormwater runoff. BR systems reduce pollutant loads discharged to surface water bodies and to lower pollutant concentrations of water infiltrating into underlying groundwater. However, knowledge of the performance of BR systems in semi-arid Western climates is lacking. This study was conducted at three field sites in Northern Utah to evaluate the effectiveness of various natural and engineered media and various plant species on pollutant removal subjected to a range of pollutant loadings found to represent stormwater runoff in the region. The three field sites were used to evaluate media selection for pollutant removal in a BR system. Two vegetated field sites were used to examine the impact of vegetation selection and loading rates on pollutant removal from stormwater runoff. Pollutant removal was not consistent among the three field sites due to leaching of pollutants from the media at varying rates. The vegetated BR systems improved pollutant removal when compared to unvegetated systems. Pore water concentrations were not correlated with the stormwater runoff loading rates for most pollutants examined in this study, being controlled primarily by media characteristics. Media type, vegetation species and loading are important parameters when considering bioretention design.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the Utah Water Research Laboratory, Salt Lake City Public Utilities, and Logan City for the use of their facilities and for financial or in-kind support. I appreciate the opportunity to complete this work with the help of iUTAH and USEPA STAR funding.

Thank you to my major professor, Dr. R. Ryan Dupont for his help over the course of this project. Many, many thanks to Joan McLean for always being available to answer any and all of my endless questions and for her extensive help in revising and reviewing everything within this dissertation. Thank you to the rest of my committee for your help, guidance, and expectations. Thank you to Kaisa Patterson, my fellow graduate student that worked so hard on the Green Meadows portion of this project. Thanks to all the lab techs, especially, Joshua Horton, Grant Mauk, Merrisa Nielsen, and Avery Holyoak, that helped with analyzing the seemingly endless amounts of samples. Thanks to the undergrad researchers and iUTAH fellows that helped in the lab and in the field, I could not have done it without you.

This project was made possible through a grant from the NSF/iUTAH, an EPA/STAR grant #83582401, and funding from the Utah Water Research Laboratory.

I am grateful for the love and support of my husband who encouraged me and kept me sane along the way. I am also grateful for my mom, sisters, and extended family who encouraged from afar and were always supportive of my goals.

Trixie Rife

CONTENTS

ABSTRACTiii
PUBLIC ABSTRACT
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSvi
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURESxi
CHAPTER
I. INTRODUCTION1
Overview1
Research Hypotheses and Objectives4
Experimental Design 6
II. LITERATURE REVIEW10
Introduction and Background10
Bioretention Design and Function11
Pollutant Uptake in Plants13
Filter Media21
Pollutant Loading in BR Systems23
Bioretention Research Needs25
References
III. IMPACT OF MEDIA SELECTION ON TRACE ELEMENT REMOVAL IN A BIORETENTION SYSTEM
Abstract
Introduction
Materials and Methods41
Results
Discussion59
Conclusions64
References

IV.	EFFECTS OF PLANT SELECTION ON NUTRIENT AND TRACE ELEMENT REMOVAL FROM A BIORETENTION SYSTEM	69
	Abstract	69
	Introduction	70
	Materials and Methods	74
	Results	78
	Discussion	85
	Conclusion	88
	References	90
V.	POLLUTANT REMOVAL IN BIORETENTION SYSTEMS AS A FUNCTION OF VARIABLE LOADING	93
	Abstract	93
	Introduction	94
	Materials and Methods	97
	Results	102
	Discussion	108
	Conclusion	111
	References	113
VI.	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	116
VII	L ENGINEERING SIGNIFICANCE	119
AP	PENDICES	121
CU	RRICULUM VITAE	142

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
3-1:	Characteristics of storm events monitored at the three field sites in this study
3-2:	Summary of trace element concentrations measured in stormwater runoff and applied during simulated storms throughout the study period at all three study sites. *As and Pb values are trace amounts found in Logan City water used at the Green Meadows site. <mdl detection="" indicates="" less="" limit<="" method="" td="" than="" the=""></mdl>
3-3:	pH and EC results for pore water (PW) and well water samples from the three study sites
4-1:	Storm characteristics for storm events at the 300 East and Green Meadows field sites
4-2:	pH and EC results ± 95% Confidence Intervals for pore water samples collected from the two field sites monitored in this study
4-3:	Comparison of pore water concentrations between treatment bays and comparison bay. Letters incidate significant difference at $p \le 0.05$ based on ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals
4-4:	Summary statistics for nutrients and trace element concentrations for AG plant material as a function of plant type measured at the end of the study period. Letters indicate significant difference at $p \leq 0.05$ based on ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results
5-1:	Pollutant loading for low, medium, and high loading rate simulated storms at the Green Meadows field site. Organic-N was added as urea99
5-2:	Summary of nutrient and trace element concentrations and corresponding loading rates measured in stormwater runoff and applied during simulated storms throughout the study period at the Green Meadows and 300 East study sites
5-3:	Average pore water concentrations measured at the Green Meadows and 300 East field sites
5-4:	Regression equation data for pollutant loading (g/ha) versus pore water concentration relationships for Green Meadows planted bays and 300 East treatment bays. Peak loading and average pore water concentrations are also included. Regulatory standards shown are for drinking water except

for TDP	which	is a re	gulated	wastewater	discharge	standard	d in the	State	
of Utah.			•••••						106

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1-1:	Locations of three field sites for project
1-2:	Green Meadows field demonstration site, Logan, Utah7
1-3:	300 E Bioswale, 900 N – 1000N, Logan, Utah
1-4:	BR system at Salt Lake City Public Utilities, Salt Lake City, Utah9
3-1:	a. Small bay; b. Largest bay at south end of study area; c. Raised berm for comparison bay, 300 East, Logan, UT42
3-2:	 a. Schematic of Public Utilities BR system, Salt Lake City, UT, indicating the material used in each subsurface storage layer. Not drawn to scale. b. Profile of BR System, Public Utilities, Salt Lake City. The subsurface storage layer was composed of either pea gravel or Utelite[™] expanded shale. Not drawn to scale
3-3:	Schematic of stormwater treatment demonstration site showing bay location of plant types and unplanted controls evaluated at the Green Meadows site
3-4:	Sampling boxes for runoff samples at the 300 East site49
3-5:	Runoff and pore water or well concentrations of total elements in a. Treatment Bays at 300 East site; b. Treatment Bays and Comparison Bay at 300 East site; c. Pea gravel (PG) storage layer at Public Utilities site. d. Utelite TM storage layer at Public Utilities site. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals; letters indicate significant difference $p < 0.05$ at individual sites. Note: Y axes differ among panels
3-6:	Applied and pore water concentrations in non-planted (control) and planted bays at Green Meadows site for a. Cu b. Zn c. As and d. Pb. One-way ANOVAs within a given application rate a (capital letters), and across all applications rates (small letters) with post-hoc Tukey's HSD testing. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals; letters indicate significant difference p < 0.05
3-7:	Runoff, water extraction, and well results for the Public Utilities site for a. Cu, b. Zn, c. As, and d. Pb. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals; letters indicate significant difference for each filter media type at $p \le 0.05$ based on ANOVA with post hoc Tukey's results. (PG = Pea Gravel, WE = water extraction)
11.	200 East a Nutriant supoff and none water concentrations h Total trace

4-1: 300 East a. Nutrient runoff and pore water concentrations. b. Total trace element runoff and pore water concentrations. Letters indicate significant

	difference at $p < 0.05$ based on ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals	.80
4-2:	Pore water concentrations in planted treatments and unplanted controls at the Green Meadows field site. a. As and Zn, b. Cu and Pb, c. NH_3 -N and TDP, d. NO_3 -N + NO_2 -N and TDN. Letters indicates significant difference at p < 0.05 based on ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results. Error bars indicate 95% confidence interval	.82
4-3:	Concentrations in pore water at Green Meadows by plant type for a. Cu, b. As, and c. NH ₃ -N. Letters incidate significant difference at $p \le 0.05$ based on ANOVA and Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results. Error bars indicate 95% confidence interval.	.83
5-1:	Regression analysis of loading (g/ha) versus pore water concentrations. a. Cu, b. Zn, and c. NH ₃ -N at the Green Meadows site; and d. TDN at the 300 East site	e .06

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

In the semi-arid West there is a predicted change in weather patterns that will increase precipitation in the winter months as rain and increase drought in the summer months (EPA 2016a). Because of this shift, strategies are necessary to increase water availability in the summer for irrigation and consumption. Currently, most semi-arid regions in the Intermountain West depend on snowmelt to provide the necessary water in the spring and summer for crops and water needs for a growing population. Climate change models indicate that the snowpack will diminish, limiting springtime infiltration into aquifers and runoff into reservoirs and therefore, the amount of freshwater necessary for agriculture and human consumption (EPA 2016a, EPA 2017b). An effective way to capture and filter stormwater runoff is necessary to increase the water supply for future human consumption or irrigation by infiltration to groundwater.

Stormwater runoff, however, can be a source of pollutants that negatively impact a receiving water body, and some pollutants may pose a significant health risk to humans and aquatic organisms (Cohen et al. 2001; Gaffield et al. 2003). Urbanization has increased the amount of runoff by increasing the coverage of impermeable surfaces, creating a need to improve stormwater runoff quality. An increase in runoff creates an increase in pollutant loadings as the water flows over lawns, parking lots, roads, sidewalks and roofs. The pollutants found in these areas come from lawn fertilizer, pesticides, tire wear, brakes, engine lubricants, auto exhaust, etc. (Davis et al. 2001b; Charters et al. 2016). Some of the pollutants of concern in stormwater include nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), copper (Cu), lead (Pb) and zinc (Zn). These pollutants should be removed before water can be used for groundwater recharge or be allowed to run into surface water bodies.

By using bioretention (BR) systems for infiltration, stormwater runoff can be captured and harvested for reuse. BR systems are depressed areas that contain vegetation and filter media designed to reduce peak flows and increase infiltration into groundwater and have been a method of stormwater mitigation since the 1990s. (Prince George's County 2007; Winston et al. 2016).

The Department of Environmental Resources, Prince George's County, MD developed the practice and prepared the first instructional manual for the design and implementation of BR systems in 1993 (EPA 1999; Prince George's County 2007). BR systems are considered best management practices by the EPA for pollutant removal which occurs by settling, filtration, adsorption and/or plant uptake (EPA 1999; Prince George's County 2007; EPA 2016b). Many studies have been completed verifying the ability of BR systems to remove pollutants, including nutrients and suspended solids from stormwater runoff.

However, national design guidelines may be ineffective since regional pollutant loading, plant species, and soil type are generally not considered, and retention areas are not always modified for local conditions. Pollutant loading, media type and plant variety can all effect the efficiency of pollutant removal in a BR system. These variables should be considered in the design of BR systems in areas with different climates. Some areas have created BR system manuals to accommodate the different variables that can impact BR system performance in their specific regions (Kennedy/Jenks Consultants 2007; Watershed Management Group 2012; ACHD 2014; City of Tucson 2015; City of Mesa 2015; Delta Institute 2017) but no guidelines or manuals have been developed for the Intermountain West.

Filtration media within a BR system plays an important role in performance. The media must allow drainage within a certain time frame, must allow for plant growth, and should aid in pollutant removal. Amendments to soil or engineered media may improve pollutant removal in BR systems. Studies have been conducted using different types of sand (Barrett et al. 2013; Ren et al. 2016; Glaister et al. 2017), naturally occurring soil (Zhang et al. 2008; Ren et al. 2016; Glaister et al. 2017), expanded shale combined with other amendments (Sloan et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2008), and various other soil amendments to enhance pollutant removal (Zhang et al. 2008; Gilchrist et al. 2013; Lim et al. 2015; Ren et al. 2016; Afrooz et al. 2017; Shrestha et al. 2018). These studies reported variable results for pollutant removal with each media type or amendment that was added, from negligible to high removal for most pollutants. Zhang et al. (2008) and Ren et al. (2016) found that fly ash enhanced P and Pb removal when combined with sand or gravel. Expanded shale has been found to remove significant amounts of P and metals when combined with compost, soil, sphagnum peat moss, or zeolite (Zhang et al. 2008; Sloan et al. 2008). Naturally occurring soils, in most cases, perform better at pollutant removal when amendments are added (Zhang et al. 2008; Lim et al. 2015; Ren et al. 2016; Glaister et al. 2017).

Vegetation within BR systems is generally selected simply for plant survivability. However, using vegetation to enhance pollutant removal should also be considered when selecting plants for BR systems. Studies conducted on BR systems with and without vegetation have shown that vegetation improves pollutant removal, specifically N (Barrett et al. 2013; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017; Glaister et al. 2017). However, studies have shown that different plant types vary in their ability to remove pollutants and these finding should be considered when choosing plants for BR systems (Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2008; Barrett et al. 2013; Payne et al. 2014; Leroy et al. 2016; Wu et al. 2017; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2017; Shrestha et al. 2018). A lack of vegetation increases clogging potential, ponding, evaporation and decreases infiltration leading to inefficient pollutant removal (Barrett et al. 2013; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017).

This study, consisted of three field sites in Northern Utah and was used to 1) determine the role filter media in BR systems plays in affecting soil pore water and protecting groundwater quality and subsequent BR system pollutant removal performance evaluation, 2) evaluate the role of vegetation and vegetation type on BR systems removal of nutrients and select trace elements, and 3) document maximum loading rates that can be applied to vegetated BR systems to ensure protection of groundwater quality from nutrient and trace metal contamination from stormwater runoff. 1.2. Research Hypotheses & Objectives

The overall objective for this study was to determine how different vegetation and media types under different loading conditions reflective of stormwater runoff conditions in Northern Utah affect stormwater pollutant removal. Removing pollutants is important to protect groundwater quality and increase water resource availability. The findings from this study will help to improve design recommendations of BR systems that can effectively capture stormwater, while maintaining groundwater quality. The specific hypotheses and objectives were:

Hypothesis 1: Soil and engineered media affect the removal of stormwater pollutants in BR systems. To test this hypothesis, two engineered materials, Utelite[™] expanded shale and pea gravel, used as storage and treatment media in one BR system field site in Salt Lake City, along with native soils used as fill material at two field sites in Logan, UT were analyzed for their effectiveness in pollutant removal from stormwater runoff. Runoff samples were collected and analyzed along with well and pore water samples below the sites to quantify and compare pollutant removal through the media and soil layers.

Hypothesis 2: Plant species vary in efficiency in nutrient and select trace element removal within a BR system. To test this hypothesis, a chosen set of plant species (turf grass (*Poaceae*), small wing sedge (*Carex microptera*), cattail (*Typha latifolia*), common Baltic rush (*Juncus balticus*), and sunflowers (*Helianthus maximilliana*)) were evaluated to determine their effectiveness at removal of nutrients and trace elements found in stormwater runoff. BR system pore water was sampled and analyzed to evaluate pollutant removal as a function of vegetative cover. Unvegetated treatments served as controls.

Hypothesis 3: Variable pollutant loadings impact nutrient and trace metal removal in BR systems. To test this hypothesis, nutrient (N and P) and trace metal concentrations in pore water throughout the BR system soil profiles were analyzed to determine their mobility and distribution, and to document overall pollutant removal efficiency as a function of pollutant loading. Maximum pollutant loading rates were also quantified for future BR system design.

1.3. Experimental Design

The cities of Logan, UT and Salt Lake City, UT have installed BR systems to help manage stormwater runoff. However, currently both cities have limited data related to the functionality of these BR systems. With cooperation through the Utah Water Research Laboratory (UWRL), Logan City, and Salt Lake City Public Utilities, studies were conducted at three field sites to determine the effectiveness of a range of BR types with different design parameters. Two sites were located in Logan, UT and one site was in Salt Lake City, UT, as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Locations of three field sites for project

The first Logan site, the Green Meadows housing development (Logan, UT), was designed and installed by a former PhD student at the UWRL to study the impacts of various plant types on nutrient and metal uptake from urban stormwater from this development (Figure 2) (Rycewicz-Borecki 2015). Simulated storms, with three pollutant loading regimes, low, medium and high, were applied over the length of the study. Plants used for the study were *Typha latifolia* (Broadleaf cattail), *Carex micorptera* (Small wing sedge), *Heliathus maximiliani* (Maximilian Sunflower) and *Juncus balticus* (Baltic rush). Three watering regimes were used, once every 5 days, once every 11 days, and once every 23 days. Total pollutant load at the end of the study was equal among regimes, while the total amount of water applied over the course of the study varied. The study was conducted from May 2018 to September 2018.



600 South

Figure 2: Green Meadows field demonstration site, Logan, Utah

The second Logan site is a curbside bioswale, designed and constructed by Logan City Public Works Department. The bioswale is located along 300 East between 900 North and 1000 North (Figure 3) and contains turf grass and ornamental pear trees. Samples were collected and analyzed after natural storm events. Events were sampled from Spring 2016 to Fall 2018.



Figure 3: 300 E Bioswale, 900 N – 1000N, Logan, Utah

N

The site in Salt Lake City was constructed at the Public Utilities office building and lies at the edge of a parking lot to treat runoff from the area (Figure 4). This BR system contains two types of engineered subsurface media and top soil, and various plant species that lie outside the primary runoff infiltration area that were planted primarily for aesthetic value. The site in Salt Lake City and in the roadside bioswale in Logan were both sized using design specifications for from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (EPA 2016b). Samples were collected and analyzed after natural storm events. Events were samples from Spring 2017 to Fall 2017.



Figure 4: BR system at Salt Lake City Public Utilities, Salt Lake City, Utah

Chapter 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction and Background

In 1999 the EPA updated the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) policy limiting the amount of stormwater discharges from municipalities (municipal separate storm sewer systems, MS4), industry, and from construction sites. The NPDES permit aims to reduce sediment runoff, reduce harmful pollutant influx to surface water, and protect water resources. The initial policy was limited to cities over 100,000 in population. All other urban areas were advised that the policy would apply to other areas by 2010. In 2010 Phase II of the MS4 policy expanded the sources that were covered through the NPDES and MS4 permitting process. This included all urban areas with a population of 50,000 or more (EPA, 2017a). Both Salt Lake City (population 194,000) and Logan City (population 51,000) are now covered under parts of the MS4 permitting program and are required to manage pollutants in stormwater.

Due to increased restrictions and requirements to develop a stormwater management plan, municipalities and state agencies are examining ways to improve pollutant removal from stormwater runoff, using existing technology, specifically BR systems. Using BR systems to capture and treat stormwater runoff can decrease pollutant load input into nearby surface water or groundwater (EPA, 2017a). BR systems may contain filter media and vegetation where runoff is routed to remove pollutants including sediment, nutrients and trace metals. Different features allow for different functions of the BR system. Various vegetation types can provide enhanced nutrient and metal uptake from runoff (Davis et al. 2001a; Davis et al. 2001b; Davis et al. 2003; Sun and Davis 2007; Bratieres et al. 2008; Brisson and Chazarenc 2009; Read et al. 2010; Barrett et al 2013; Leroy et al. 2016; Nocco et al. 2016; Glaister et al. 2017; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017, Turk et al. 2017; Wu et al. 2017; Cording et al. 2018; Shrestha et al. 2018; Schück and Greger 2019). Different depths of media, inlet and planting configurations and the use of features, such as an underdrain or saturated zone (SZ), allow for improved N or P removal (Davis et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2003; Forbes et al. 2005; Brisson & Chazarenc 2009; Read et al. 2010; Liu & Davis 2014; Reddy et al. 2014; Dietz 2016; Turk et al. 2016; Wu et al. 2017; Afrooz & Boehm 2017; Cording et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2018; Lopez-Ponnada 2020). Variation in BR system design can improve pollutant removal when pollutant loading, filter media, and plant variability are considered.

2.2 Bioretention Design and Function

BR systems generally consist of vegetation, for uptake of key nutrients and metals, erosion control, and increased infiltration; soil and filter media to accomplish the optimum filtration rate for pollutant removal and reduction of peak flows; and an optional underdrain system to increase holding time for runoff within the BR system, thereby increasing N and P removal (Prince George's County 2007; EPA 2016b). While BR systems have been installed nationwide, the original BR design focused on upland, forested terrestrial system (Prince George's County 2007).

BR systems remove pollutants from stormwater through physical, biological and chemical processes (EPA 2016b). Different varieties of plants and soil types within BR

systems, compared to non-vegetated BR systems, deliver variable removal efficiencies for different pollutants (Lucas and Greenway 2008; Barrett et al. 2013; Li and Davis 2014; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2016, 2017). Vegetation increases the removal of N and P from stormwater with variation reported among different plant species (Lucas and Greenway 2008; Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2010; Barrett et al. 2013; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017; Cording et al. 2018; Lopez-Ponnada 2020). Metal removal occurs through sedimentation and sorption in the upper layers of the BR system (EPA 1999) along with plant uptake. Organic amendments, such as compost or wood chips, added to a BR system increases the sorption of nutrients, metals, and organic pollutants within the system, removing them from stormwater (Davis et al. 2009). Vegetation helps to maintain long term infiltration rates within BR systems; without plants, the surface clogs quickly creating a crust through which little to no infiltration can occur (Davis et al. 2012; Rycewicz-Borecki 2015).

Vegetation and soil selection impact the effectiveness and sustainability of BR systems. Proper vegetation selection can also create landscaping that does not need irrigation; a necessity in water stressed arid areas (Houdeshel and Pomeroy 2014). Various studies have compared different vegetation types and their ability to uptake metals, nutrients and other pollutants. *Carex Apressa* (sedge) (Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2008, 2010; Barron et al. 2019), *Juniperus horizontalis* (creeping juniper) (Davis et al. 2001a; Davis et al. 2001b; Davis et al. 2003), *Buchloe dactyloides* (buffalograss), *Muhlenbergia lindheimeri* (big muhly) (Barrett et al. 2013), *Carex microptera* (small wing sedge) (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2016, 2017), *Helianthus maximilliana* (sunflower) (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2016, 2017), and *Typha latafolia* (cattail) (Houdeshel and Pomeroy 2014; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2016, 2017; Schück and Greger 2019) are just a few of the plant species that have been studied in BR systems.

Media composition can affect pollutant removal within BR systems. Different studies have used Skye sand (Glaister et al. 2017), loamy sand (Glaister et al. 2017), expanded shale with amendments (Zhang et al. 2008; Sloan et al. 2008), fly ash (Zhang et al. 2008; Ren et al. 2016; Liu, et al. 2018; Jiang et al. 2019), concrete sand (Barrett et al. 2013), masonry sand (Barrett et al. 2013), SorbtiveMediaTM (Cording et al. 2018; Shresta et al. 2018), and compost (Lim et al. 2015; Cording et al. 2018) with differing volumes of each component within a system. Compost within a soil mixture may increase the amount of P in the effluent, however increased organic matter is beneficial for vegetation and for increased metal sorption capacity. When used in conjunction with an internal water storage layer, organic matter has been shown to improve the removal of copper through enhanced sorption (Bradl 2004) and total N through stimulation of denitrification (Dietz and Clausen 2006). While choice of media is important for targeting specific pollutant removal, the presence of vegetation significantly increases N and P uptake and increases the useful life of BR areas (Lucas and Greenway 2008).

2.3 Pollutant Uptake in Plants

Plants in BR systems can improve trace metal, P, and N retention over BR systems without plants. Unplanted controls consistently have decreased removal ability when compared with BR systems with vegetation for most pollutants (Lucas and Greenway 2008; Barrett et al. 2013; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2015, 2017; Barron et al. 2019; Luo et al. 2019).

For removal of dissolved metals in BR systems, plants are effective in removing varying amounts, depending on plant type with varying uptake ability. Rycewicz-Borecki et al. (2016) in a study conducted in Logan, UT, found that *Carex* species were able to mobilize metal in the rhizosphere and increase the amounts taken up by both the below ground and above ground plant material. With removal of above ground plant material at the end of the growing season the metals that have accumulated within the vegetation can be removed from the BR system, extending its operating life (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2015, Cording et al. 2018). Metal concentrations in the harvested plant material would not be expected to be at dangerous levels if harvested annually due to low annual loading of metal pollutants in urban runoff, and this harvested biomass can then be incorporated into local composting programs.

Read et al. (2010) compared different characteristics of plants in Australia with the plant's ability to remove metals from the soil. No characteristic was deterministic in a plant's ability to uptake metals, but all 20 plant species that were studied were effective in removing Cu, Pb and Zn from BR influent (Read et al. 2010). N and P removal however was correlated with root length, root mass, and high growth rate with *Carex appressa* being the most effective in nutrient removal. Schück and Greger (2019) analyzed 34 wetland species in Sweden and found that the removal of Cu, Zn and Pb was highly correlated with root/rhizome biomass and above ground biomass. They also determined that the majority of the pollutants were removed from the simulated stormwater within the first 24 hours of application, with large variability among species. Leroy et al. (2016) compared two BR systems in France, one planted with fescue (*Festuca arundinacea, Festuca rubra*) and ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*) and another planted

with macrophytes, to analyze the systems' effectiveness for pollutant removal. The BR system planted with macrophytes performed better than the system planted with fescue and ryegrass for removal of trace metals. This may be due to the inability of the grass to capture soil particles as the stormwater moved through the system whereas the higher root density of the macrophytes retained particulate metals (Leroy et al. 2016). Sun and Davis (2007) analyzed three types of grass Panicum virgatum (switch grass), Kentucky-31, and *Bromus ciliatus* in a BR system in Maryland for their effectiveness of trace metal removal. They found that the plants only removed 0.5-3.3% of applied metals, most likely due to the low plant biomass production (Sun and Davis 2007). Muthana et al. (2007) analyzed BR systems along three roadway types in Norway. The study specifically looked at the high pollutant loads created with snow removal and the impact the salts and runoff have on BR systems in cold climates. Of the six plant species analyzed, the evergreen Vinca minor accumulated the largest amount of metals in the above ground plant material. However, the plant metal uptake was only between 2 and 8% of the total metal retention in the system (Muthana et al. 2007). Barron et al. (2019) saw enhanced removal of Cu from columns with layers of sand and sand with and without cedar mulch in all vegetated laboratory columns when compared to an unvegetated column, however Zn removal was consistent across all columns, regardless of the presence of vegetation. Wang et al. (2018) observed that Cu, Zn, and Pb were removed from laboratory mesocosms with composted sandy loam soil regardless of the presence of plants (*Hymenocallis speciose*); adsorption by the filtration media was more important for metal retention than plant uptake. Wang et al. (2018) attributed nitrate, ammonium and P removal to the SZ with minimal removal by plant uptake, although, as

the researchers point out, plants were young with limited rooting mass. Metal removal may be enhanced if the best performing plant species is selected. The combination of optimum plant species and filter media would likely enhance the overall function of a BR system.

In studies analyzing P removal effectiveness it has been found that without plants P can be leached from the soil and exported in the effluent. P removal is generally attributed to adsorption onto particles, however when adsorption sites are limited plants are able to sequester the excess P and remove it from BR system effluent (Lucas and Greenway 2008; Barrett et al. 2013; Glaister et al. 2016; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017; Luo et al. 2019). Rycewicz-Borecki, et al. (2017) compared P uptake in six plant species (*Carex* (2), *Thypha, Helianthus, Phragmites, Scirpus*) and determined that all species studied were able to remove P from the influent. The two *Carex* species and the *Phragmites* had the highest concentrations of P in their above ground biomass enabling the nutrients to be easily removed from the system via annual above ground plant tissue harvesting (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017). Plants significantly improved P removal from stormwater in two studies by Lucas and Greenway (2008, 2011). The first study (Lucas and Greenway 2008) used common filter media used in BR systems, i.e., loam, sand, or gravel planted with Swamp Foxtail Grass (*Pennisetum alopecurioides*) and Flax Lily (Dianella brevipedunculata), and two woody shrubs, Banksia (Banksia integrefolia), and Bottle-brush (Callistemon pachyphyllus), The authors found that N and P removal improved in all BR systems with the addition of plants (Lucas and Greenway 2008). In the other study, Lucas and Greenway (2011) analyzed three types of media, sand amended with a clay soil, red mud (high Fe oxides) or Al wastewater treatment residual

(WTR) (high Al oxides), to evaluate P removal, with and without vegetation. Improved removal of P for all media types was further enhanced when vegetation was included in the BR mesocosms. However, red mud was not effective since it leached P over the initial phase of the study (Lucas and Greenway 2011). Barrett et al. (2013) analyzed three media types, concrete sand, masonry sand, and a medium marketed for BR systems, with and without vegetation (buffalo grass and Big Muhly). These authors found that the vegetation within the columns significantly improved P removal for all media types, however, the type of plant was not found to influence results. Plant uptake was however influence by the media type where a competition between sorption surfaces and plant uptake was evident, i.e., better sorption to soil surfaces results in less plant uptake. A SZ also improved P removal by slowing pore water flow and enhancing P precipitation. Jurczak et al. (2018) used five plant types, including a *Carex* species and a *Typha* species, in floating mats in a hybrid BR system. They found that the plants reduced TP concentrations in the effluent by 57.6%. Cording et al. (2018) used sand (60%) with compost (40%) alone or with Sorbtive Media[™], a proprietary oxide containing additives, with two vegetation combinations and found that the combinations with the greater total root surface area, associated with deep fibrous roots of switchgrass, performed better at pollutant removal. Barron et al. (2019) analyzed eight plant types and determined that Carex appressa and C. generalis performed best at TP removal, with >67% removal, in the BR systems studied. *Phragmites australis* removed only 13% TP, while the unvegetated BR systems provided no TP removal. Johnson and Hunt (2019) monitored a BR system after construction, then 15 years later and determined that the TP removal had

improved over the life of the BR system. For the most effective removal of TP within a BR system, the inclusion of plants is essential.

Vegetated BR systems have also been shown to increase N removal from stormwater when compared to non-vegetated systems. Reported N removal ranges from 40 to 90% and is dependent on vegetation, media, and the presence of a water storage layer or SZ. As indicated above, a SZ within a BR system has been shown to be effective in increasing denitrification of various forms of N in BR systems. Wan et al. (2018) saw a significant reduction in TN and NO_x-N in the effluent of the BR system and attribute it entirely to the denitrification stimulated by the wood chips in the filter layer of the basin.

Bratieres et al. (2008), Lucas and Greenway (2008), and Rycewicz-Borecki et al. (2017) all found a 10 to 20% increase in N removal efficiency when plants were included in a BR system. Plant choice for BR systems is important in the design to increase the removal efficiency of N. Various sedge species (*Carex*) (Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2010; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017; Jurczak et al. 2018; Barron et al. 2019) and cattails (*Typha*) (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017) have been found to perform well at sequestering N in BR basins. For *Carex*, this may be due to the dense root structure that supplies more surface area for nutrient uptake. *Typha* also has larger root structures than other species enabling the plants to uptake more nutrients (Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2010; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017; Jurczak et al. 2018). Nocco et al. (2016) evaluated 12 BR study cells with a mixture of topsoil, sand, and compost and found that the cell without vegetation leached the largest amount of dissolved inorganic N, while the cells with plants (19 prairie species, including one *Carex* species, six shrubs, and Kentucky bluegrass) removed similar amounts of N from the influent regardless of plant type. The

turf grass had the highest plant uptake of N, but lower overall removal compared to the mixed prairie plants. Wang et al. (2017) found that all plant species performed better than an unplanted control, however, *Medicago sativa* performed poorly for N removal, while *Juncus effuses* performed the best of the five species tested. Cording et al. (2018) determined that a seven species plant combination did not perform as well as a two species plant combination in NO₃-N removal and actually exported NO₃-N in the effluent. The improved removal of NO₃-N in the two-plant combination is attributed to root characteristics. Barron et al. (2019) saw high N removal (>75%) in six of the eight species they studied. While Phragmites australis and Phormium tenax did not perform as well (9% and 2%, respectively) as the other six species, they did demonstrate removal compared to the unplanted BR system (-34%) that leached N during the study. These vegetated columns also outperformed the unvegetated columns for NO₃-N, NH₃-N and TDN removal for the two *Carex* species with denitrification accounting for <15% of N removal compared to the N removal associated with plant uptake. The added carbon as mulch did not improve treatment in systems with a SZ since the mature plants had extensive rooting systems that also provided exudates as a carbon source for microorganisms (Barron et al. 2019). Johnson and Hunt (2019) observed that the NO₃-N removal in a BR system constructed in 2001 had improved from 13% removal to 86% removal over 17 years. The authors propose that it may be due to plant root maturation and uptake and/or plant matter cycling through the fill media. The cycling of the plant matter would provide a carbon source for denitrification. Barrett et al. (2013) found that Big Muhly consistently outperformed buffalo grass for NO_x removal due to the roots penetrating throughout the media, although the plants were young. The researchers point

out that the buffalo grass performance may improve with development of a more substantial rooting system.

Plants in studies conducted with designed or developed SZ provided improved N removal due to increased root structure in addition to increased denitrification. The increased retention time provided by a SZ enables plants to increase root structure and form a dense mat of root hairs within the column, improving nutrient uptake. The SZ zone also creates an anaerobic region within the columns where denitrification can occur, increasing the removal of N from the system (Barrett et al. 2013; Manka et al. 2016; Glaister, et al. 2017). Brown and Hunt (2011) found high levels of various forms of N in the effluent of the BR systems they analyzed. These BR systems did not have a saturation zone and were under designed and hence failed with pollutant removal. These BR systems exported large amounts of nitrate compared to the influent which may be attributed to the mulch that was placed in the basins or fertilizer applied on the plants (Brown and Hunt 2011).

Turk et al. (2016) compared the use of native plants to cultivars of the same species. The authors found that cultivars and native plants are both effective in nutrient removal, however, plants with larger biomass removed larger amounts of N than smaller biomass plants. The native variations of *Helianthis* and *Panicum* outperformed the cultivars for N & P removal. The cultivar *Betula* Dura-heat removed slightly more N than the native species while the *Magnolia* Sweet Thing cultivar removed twice the amount of N & P as the native variety. The authors also optimized plant selection by including cost into their metric. Woody plants performed better in N and P removal when price was included. However, when canopy cover was used in the metric the herbaceous plants performed best. Price, aesthetics, and hardiness to high pollutant loading are factors in optimizing plant choice for BR basins (Turk et al. 2016).

2.4 Filter media

Filter media in BR systems is a variable that can improve the effectiveness of pollutant removal from stormwater. Depending on the composition of a BR system's filter media, the removal efficiency for trace elements for the system could be as high as 90% (Davis et al. 2001a; Paus et al. 2014; Lim et al. 2015; Gulbaz 2015; Jiang et al. 2019). Particulate trace elements are removed from influent stormwater by filtering through the top layers of the BR system (Davis et al. 2001a; Lim et al. 2015). Dissolved metals are removed through sorption to soil particles and precipitation. The amount of sand, silt, clay and organic matter affect the adsorption capacity of the soil, which contributes greatly to the removal of dissolved metals (Lu and Xu 2009). Cu, Cd, Pb, and Zn are the metals found in stormwater that are frequently analyzed in studies for removal efficiencies of BR systems (Davis et al. 2001a; Davis et al. 2003; Muthanna et al. 2007; Lu and Xu 2009; Paus et al. 2014; Reddy et al. 2014; Gulbaz et al. 2015; Lim et al. 2015; Li et al. 2016; Ren et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2018; Jiang et al. 2019). Various studies have found that metal competitive sorption is in the order of Pb>Cu>Zn (McKay and Porter 1997; Srivastava et al. 2005; Gulbaz et al. 2015).

In studies that compared various BR media types, media containing organics removed the largest amounts of heavy metals (Paus et al. 2014; Gulbaz et al. 2015; Lim et al. 2015). Reddy et al. (2014) found that any one filter type was not completely effective in removal of all the trace metals of concern in stormwater. A combination of several filter types would be most effective in the removal of all metals of concern (Reddy et al. 2014). Ren et al. (2016) analyzed five mixed substrates for trace metal removal. Fly ash, sludge, soil, gravel, fine cinder and fine sand were used in varying amounts for the five substrates. The substrate without fly ash had the highest removal capacity for Pb. The authors also determined that the ideal pH range for any of the substrates was between 8 and 10. Gravel improved the hydraulic conductivity but did not improve removal efficiency (Ren et al. 2016). Liu et al. (2018) analyzed fly ash, blast furnace slag and planting soil. The fly ash was the most efficient for removal of Cu, while the blast furnace slag performed poorly for the removal of Zn. Jiang et al. (2019) used fly ash, WTR, green zeolite, and coconut bran to optimize removal of heavy metals from BR systems. The coconut bran had the poorest performance for metals removal.

As indicated above, organic amendments, such as compost or wood chips, have also been added to a basin to increase the sorption of nutrients (Davis et al. 2009). However, compost within a soil mixture may increase the amount of P in the effluent (Lim et al. 2015; Mullane et al. 2015; Cording et al. 2018) despite it being used to aid in plant establishment and increased metal sorption. Engineered materials and native soils have also been shown to be sources of P load to groundwater. Lucas and Greenway (2011) reported that high Fe oxide red mud when used without vegetation leached P over the initial phase of their study. Barron et al. (2019) reported unvegetated BR systems provided no TP removal in their study of pollutant removal by eight different BR system plant species. Topsoil, sand, and compost mixtures have also been reported (Mullane et al. 2015; Nocco et al. 2016, Barron et al. 2019) to leach dissolved inorganic N when used without vegetation, and under designed, mulch-amended and fertilized systems studied by Brown and Hunt (2011) were found to export large amounts of nitrate compared to their influent concentrations.

Arsenic is not a constituent of stormwater runoff but bioretention systems can produce conditions conducive to solubilization of geogenic As. Many areas in the United States, i.e., the Great Basin Region which includes Utah, and other parts of the world have As enriched geology, and As mobilization to groundwater is specifically of concern. In these areas with naturally occurring As in the soil, As solubility can be enhanced under reducing conditions imposed with temporary inundation of a BR system and conditions selected for maximum metal retention, in particular pH, which enhances As release from geogenic sources. Arsenic is solubilized through reductive dissolution of host iron oxide minerals under imposed reducing conditions as in SZ of BR systems. Mechanism of solubilization are further discussed in Smedley & Kinniburgh (2002) and Meng, et al. (2017). Rycewicz-Borecki (2015) and Patterson (2019) both observed elevated As in pore water from a BR system in Northern Utah where temporary anaerobic conditions and the presence of plants solubilized As.

This variability in results from different media selected for pollutant removal indicates a need for more studies to be completed to determine the most effective media type or media combination for pollutant removal and mitigation of negative effects, i.e., pollutant mobilization, of stormwater treatment by BR systems.

2.5 Pollutant loading in BR systems

Location and size of BR systems lead to variable loadings and removal rates. Previous laboratory and field studies have added varying amounts of trace metals and
nutrients to BR systems via synthetic storm events. Rycewicz-Borecki et al. (2016) used three loading rates for simulated storms to examine the uptake of trace metals by macrophytes. The three loading rates were to simulate event mean concentrations found in three regions of the United States. While certain plant species outperformed others at removal of trace metals, overall 92% of metals applied were removed during the study. Rycewicz-Borecki et al. (2017) also used three loading rates for total P and total N to determine uptake by plants in BR systems. Phosphorus removal ranged from 93% to 115% with no difference in removal between loadings. Nitrogen removal was lower than P removal, ranging from 42% to 62% among treatments, likely due to nitrification and denitrification. Lucas and Greenway (2011) administered much higher concentrations of total P ranging from 2.8 mg/L to 3.2 mg/L over an 80-week study period to determine the effectiveness of P removal of a BR system over time. Removal ranged from -109% to 99% depending on type of filter media. Davis et al. (2003) used two loading rates ranging from 64 μ g/L to 140 μ g/L for Cu and 550 μ g/L to 650 μ g/L for Zn. Removal efficiency was 94% or higher regardless of loading rate. Gilchrist et al. (2013) analyzed different design parameters for rain gardens and their impact on N removal. The administered concentration averaged 1.40 mg/L with improved removal occurring in the systems that had a SZ. Other studies administered much higher concentrations of N. Borin and Salvato (2012) used NO₃-N concentrations of 104 to 105 mg/L and 100 to 119 mg/L NH₄-N and reported that N removal improved over the 3-year course of the study suggesting plants need time to mature for effective N removal. Turk et al. (2016) used average concentrations of 81 mg/L of N and 15 mg/L P to determine the difference in nutrient uptake between native and cultivar plants. The authors report that 11 of the 16 plants

studied could be recommended for BR systems based on the metrics of cost and nutrient uptake in the study. The range of applied concentrations for trace metals and nutrients in these studies shows that variations in BR systems, related to plant type, media, and loading impact pollutant removal.

2.7 Bioretention Research Needs

There have been a limited number of studies that have been completed at field sites with full-scale BR systems responding to natural runoff events (Fischer et al. 2003; Flint & Davis 2007; Yergeau & Obropta 2013; Lucke & Nichols 2015; Al-Ameri et al. 2018; Jurczak et al. 2018; Johnson and Hunt 2019; Costello et al. 2020). Many more studies have been conducted in small microcosms or in columns in greenhouses (Davis et al. 2001a; Davis et al. 2001b; Kim et al. 2003; Davis et al. 2006; Muthana et al. 2007; Hsieh et al. 2007; Lucas & Greenway 2008; Murakami et al. 2008; Blecken et al. 2009a; Blecken et al. 2009b Read et al. 2010; Borin & Salvato 2012; Gülbaz et al. 2015; Subramaniam et al. 2015; Lim et al. 2015; Lynn et al. 2015; Ren et al. 2016; Afrooz & Boehm 2017; Wu et al. 2017; Barron et al. 2019; Brenner et al. 2019).

While many field studies have been completed in warm, wet regions, with mild winters such as Florida and North Carolina (Mangangka et al. 2015; Strong & Hudak 2016; Manka et al. 2016; Turk et al. 2016; Lopez-Ponnada et al. 2020), few have been conducted in cold climates with large amounts of winter snowfall (Muthanna et al. 2007; Roseen et al. 2009; Houdeshel and Pomeroy 2014). Muthanna et al. (2007) conducted field research in Norway to evaluate the effectiveness of BR in late winter/early spring with frozen soils, dormant vegetation, and low bioactivity versus summer conditions. They found seasonal differences in water infiltration and movement but not in metal retention, i.e., BR system design was shown to be efficient in removing metals regardless of season since the main mechanism was soil sorption not plant uptake. Roseen et al. (2009) evaluated winter conditions of rain on snow increasing runoff, limited infiltration capacity due to frozen ground, road salt, reduced particle settling, and dormant vegetation on BR system performance and found that these systems using proper LID design provide a high level of functionality even in winter.

In a review completed by Roy-Poirer et al. (2010), the authors point out that although studies have been conducted in cold climate regions with a necessity for snow storage there is uncertainty of the effectiveness of bioretention areas in climates that differ significantly from that of the Eastern United States. They note that there is a lack of knowledge about BR systems in arid climates, as well as areas with large snow accumulation (Roy-Poirier et al., 2010), both conditions which can significantly affect the survival and growth of vegetation in planted BR systems, and their ultimate long-term pollutant removal performance. Davis et al. (2009) conclude that the BR technology is still immature and additional research is necessary with an emphasis in areas of fill media composition and vegetation selection. Ahiablame et al. (2012), in a review of low impact development, state that characterization of runoff and water quality from different urban land uses and continued data collection for evaluation of BR systems over different spatial scales, temporal scales and climate conditions are several areas that need continued research. LeFevre et al. (2014) found that more research is needed in media selection, vegetation selection, and performance and field monitoring. Kratky et al. (2017) recommend that more long-term field studies are needed to understand water quality performance in BR systems. They also recommend that BR systems need to be

designed specifically for geographic regions but designed consistently so that systems can be compared across regions and be improved.

This study was designed to address some of the data gaps identified above, specifically focusing on performance of various engineered and natural media types in full-scale BR systems. These systems were monitored over a number of summer-fall seasons and planted with a range of vegetation types to document pollutant removal performance in response to natural and synthetic storm events that subjected these BR systems to pollutant loadings representative of runoff conditions expected in the Intermountain West.

References

- Ada County Highway District (2014). "Green Stormwater Infrastructure Guidance Manual." June 2014, http://achdidaho.org/Documents/Engineering/Stormwater/GSIstormwaterGuidanc eManual.pdf.
- Afrooz, A.R.M.N. and Boehm, A.B. (2017). "Effects of submerged zone, media aging, and antecedent dry period on the performance of biochar-amended biofilters in removing fecal indicators and nutrients from natural stormwater." *Ecol. Eng.* 102:320-330.
- Ahiablame, L.M., Engel, B.A., Chaubey, I. (2012). "Effectiveness of low impact development practices: Literature review and suggestions for future research." *Water Air Soil Pollut*. 223:4253-4273.
- Al-Ameri, M., Hatt, B., Le Coustumer, S., Fletcher, T., Payne, E., Deletic, A. (2018)"Accumulation of heavy metals in stormwater bioretention medial A field study of temporal and spatial variation." *J. Hydrol* 567:721-731.
- Barrett, M.E., Limouzin, M., Lawler, D.F. (2013). "Effects of media and plant selection on biofiltration performance." *J. Environ. Eng.* 139(4): 462-470.
- Barron, N.J., Deletic, A., Jung, J., Fowdar, H., Chen, Y. (2019). "Dual-mode stormwatergreywater biofilters: The impact of alternating water sources on treatment performance." *Water Res.* 159:521-537.
- Blecken, G-T., Zinger, Y., Deletić, Fletcher, T.M., Viklander, M. (2009a). "Influence of intermittent wetting and drying conditions on heavy metal removal by stormwater biofilters." *Water Res.* 43:4590-4598.
- Blecken, G-T., Zinger, Y., Deletić, Fletcher, T.M., Viklander, M. (2009b). "Impact of a submerged zone and a carbon source on heavy metal removal in stormwater biofilters." *Ecol. Eng.* 35:769-778.
- Borin, M. and Salvato, M. (2012). "Effects of five macrophytes on nitrogen remediation and mass balance in wetland mesocosms." *Ecol. Eng.* 46(2012) 34-42.
- Bradl, H.B. (2004). "Adsorption of heavy metal ions on soils and soils constituents." J. of Colloid Interface Sci. 277:1-18.
- Bratieres, K., Fletcher, T.D., Deletic, A., Zinger, Y. (2008). "Nutrient and sediment removal by stormwater biofilters: A large-scale design optimisation study." *Water Res.* 42:3930-3940.

- Brenner, A., Cohen, H., Gradu, O., Koren, O., Shandalov, S., Zinger, Y. (2019).
 "Incorporation of hybrid biofilters in water sensitive urban design." *Present Environment Sustainable Development* Vol 13 No. 2.
- Brisson, J. and Chazarenc, F. (2009). "Maximizing pollutant removal in constructed wetlands: Should we pay more attention for macrophyte species selection?" Sci. Total Environ. 407: 3923-3930.
- Brown, R.A. and Hunt, W.F. (2011). "Impacts of media depth on effluent water quality and hydrologic performance of undersized bioretention cells." *J. Irrig. Drain. Eng.* Vol 137, No. 3, 132-143.
- Charters, F.J., Cochrane, T.A., O'Sullivan, A.D. (2016). "Untreated runoff quality from roof and road surfaces in a low intensity rainfall climate." *Sci. Total Environ*.550:265-272.
- City of Mesa, Arizona. (2015). Low Impact Development Toolkit April 2015.
- City of Tucson Pima County. (2015) *Low Impact Development and Green Infrastructure Manual* March 2015.
- Cohen, T., Que Hee, S.S., Ambrose, R.F. (2001) "Trace metals in fish and invertebrates of three California coastal wetlands." *Marine Pollution Bulletin* Vol. 42, No.3, 224-232.
- Cording, A., Hurley, S., Adair, C. (2018). "Influence of critical bioretention design factors and projected increases in precipitation due to climate change on roadside bioretention performance." J. Environ. Eng. 144(9):04018082.
- Costello, D.M., Hartung, E.W., Stoll, J.T., Jefferson, A.J., (2020). "Bioretention cell age and construction style influence stormwater pollutant dynamics." *Sci. Total Environ.* 712:135597.
- Davis, A.P., Hunt, W.F., Traver, R.G., Clar, M. (2009). "Bioretention technology: Overview of current practice and future needs." *J. Environ. Eng.* 135(3): 109-117.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Sharma, H., Minami, C. (2001A). "Laboratory study of biological retention for urban stormwater management." *Water Environ. Res.* 73:5-14.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Shubei, N. (2001B). "Loading estimates of lead, copper, cadmium, and zinc in urban runoff from specific sources." *Chemosphere* 44:997-1009.

- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Sharma, H., Minami, C., Winogradoff, D. (2003). "Water quality improvement through bioretention: lead, copper, zinc removal." *Water Environ. Res.* 75:73-82.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Sharma, H., Minami, C. (2006). "Water quality improvement through bioretention media: nitrogen and phosphorus removal." *Water Environ. Res.* Vol. 78, No. 3, 284-293.
- Davis, A.P., Traver, R.G., Hunt, W.F., Lee, R., Brown, R.A., Olszewski, J.M. (2012). "Hydrologic performance of bioretention storm-water control measures." J. Hydrologic Eng. Vol. 17 No.5:604-614.
- Delta Institute. (2017) Green Infrastructure Designs: Scalable Solutions to Local Challenges September 2017.
- Dietz, M.E. (2016). "Modified bioretention for enhanced nitrogen removal from agricultural runoff." *J. Environ. Eng.* 142(12):06016007:1-4.
- Dietz, M.E. and Clausen, J.C. (2006). "Saturation to improve pollutant retention in a rain garden." *Environ. Science Tech.* Vol. 40, No. 4, 1335-1340.
- Fischer, D., Charles, E.G., Baehr, A.L. (2003). "Effects of stormwater infiltration on quality of groundwater beneath retention and detention basins." J. Environ. Eng. 129(5): 464-471.
- Flint, K.R. and Davis, A.P. (2007). "Pollutant mass flushing characterization of highway stormwater runoff from an ultra-urban area." *J. Environ. Eng.* 133(6): 616-626.
- Forbes, M.G., Dickson, K.L., Saleh, F., Waller, W.T., Doyle, R.D. Hudak, P. (2005). "Recovery and fractionation of phosphorus retained by lightweight expanded shale and masonry sand used as media in subsurface flow treatment wetlands." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39:4621-4627.
- Gaffield, S.J., Goo, R.L., Richards, L.A., Jackson, R.J. (2003). "Public health effects of inadequately managed stormwater runoff." *Am. J. Public Health* Vol 93, No. 9, 1527-1533.
- Gilchrist, S., Borst, M., Stander., E.K. (2013). "Factorial study of rain garden design for nitrogen removal." J. Irrig. Drain. Eng. 04013016.
- Glaister, B.J., Fletcher, T.D., Cook, P.L.M., Hatt, B.E. (2016). "Intra-event nutrient removal dynamics in stormwater biofilters: the influence of system design." *NOVATECH*.

- Glaister, B.J. Fletcher, T.D., Cook, P.L.M., Hatt, B.E. (2017). "Interactions between design, plant growth and treatment performance of stormwater biofilters." *Ecol. Eng*.105:21-31.
- Gülbaz, S., Kazezyilmaz-Alhan, C.M., Copty, N.K. (2015). "Evaluation of heavy metal removal capacity of bioretention systems." *Water Air Soil Pollut*. 226:376.
- Houdeshel, D. and Pomeroy, C. (2014). "Storm-water bioinfiltration as no-irrigation landscaping alternative in semiarid climates." *J. Irrig. Drain. Eng.* Vol 140 Issue 2.
- Hsieh, C-h., Davis, A.P., Needelman, B.A. (2007). "Bioretention column studies of phosphorus removal from urban stormwater runoff." *Water Environ. Res.* 79:177-184.
- Jiang, C., Li, J., Ruan, T., Zhang, Z., Li, H. (2019). "Modified media for heavy metals and cod removal from urban stormwater runoff using pilot bioretention systems." *Pol. J. Environ. Stud.* Vol. 28, No.5: 3735-3744.
- Johnson, J.P. and Hunt, W.F. (2019). "A retrospective comparison of water quality treatment in a bioretention cell 16 years following initial analysis." *Sustainability* 11, 1945.
- Jurczak, T., Wagner, I., Kaczkowski, Z., Szklarek, S. (2018). "Hybrid system for the purification of street stormwater runoff supplying urban recreation reservoirs." *Ecol. Eng.* 110:67-77.
- Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. (2007). The Truckee Meadows Low Impact Development Handbook: Regional Stormwater Quality Management Program August 2007.
- Kim, H., Seagren, E.A., Davis, A.P. (2003). "Engineered bioretention for removal of nitrate from stormwater runoff." *Water Environ. Res.* 75, 355-367.
- Kratky, H., Li, Z., Chen, Y., Wang, C., Li, X., Yu, T. (2017). "A critical literature review of bioretention research for stormwater management in cold climate and future research recommendations." *Frontiers Environ. Sci. Eng.* 11(4):16.
- LeFevre, G.H., Paus, K.H., Natarajan, P., Gulliver, J.S., Noval, P.J., Hozalski, R.M. (2014). "Review of dissolved pollutants in urban storm water and their removal and fate in bioretention cells." *j. environ. eng.* 141(1):04014050.
- Leroy, M-C., Portet-Koltalo, F., Legras, M., Lederf, F., Moncond'huy, V., Polaert, I., Marcotte, S. (2016). "Performance of vegetated swales for improving road runoff quality in a moderate traffic urban area." *Sci. Total Environ*.566-567:113-121.

- Li, J., Jiang, C., Lei, T., Li, Y. (2016). "Experimental study and simulation of water quality purification of urban surface runoff using non-vegetated bioswales." *Ecol. Eng.* 95:706-713.
- Li, L. and Davis, A.P. (2014)." Urban stormwater runoff nitrogen composition and fate in bioretention systems." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 48:3403-3410.
- Lim, H.S., Lim, W., Hu, J.Y., Ziegler, A., Ong, S.L. (2015). "Comparison of filter media materials for heavy metal removal from urban stormwater runoff using biofiltration systems." *J. Environ. Manage*. 147:24-33.
- Liu, J and Davis A.P. (2014). "Phosphorus speciation and treatment using enhanced phosphorus removal bioretention." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 48:607-614.
- Liu, Z., Li, J., Li, P., Li, Y., Li, W. (2018). "Study of bioretention system on heavy-metal removal effect." *Pol. J. Environ. Stud.* Vol 27, No.1: 163-173.
- Lopez-Ponnada, E.V., Lynn, T.J., Ergas, S.J., Mihelcic, J.R. (2020). "Long-term performance of a conventional system for removing dissolved nitrogen species in stormwater runoff." *Water Res.* 170:115336.
- Lu, S.G., and Xu, Q.F. (2009). "Competitive adsorption of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn by different soils of Eastern China." *Environ. Geology* 57:685-693.
- Lucas, W.C. and Greenway, M. (2008). "Nutrient retention in vegetated and nonvegetated bioretention mesocosms." *J. Irrig. Drain. Eng.* Vol. 134, No. 5, 613-623.
- Lucas, W.C. and Greenway, M. (2011). "Phosphorus retention by bioretention mesocosms using media formulated for phosphorus sorption: Response to accelerated loads." *J. Irrig. Drain. Eng.* Vol 137, No 3, 144-153.
- Lucke, T. and Nichols, P.W.B. (2015). "The pollution removal and stormwater reduction performance of street-side bioretention basins after ten years in operation." *Sci. Total Environ.* 536:784-792.
- Luo, Y., Sun, S., Zhang. H. (2019). "Effectiveness of various wetland vegetation species on mitigating water pollution from highway runoff." *Water Environ. Federation* 91:906-917.
- Lynn, T.J., Yeh, D.H., Ergas, S.J., (2015). "Performance of denitrifying stormwater biofilters under intermittent conditions." *Environ. Eng. Science* Volume 32, Number 9, 796-805.

- Mangangka, I.R., Liu, A., Egodawatta, P., Goonetilleke, A. (2015) "Performance characterization of a stormwater treatment bioretention basin." J. Environ. Manage. 150:173-178.
- Manka, B.N., Hathaway, J.M., Tirpak, R.A., Hunt, W.F. (2016). "Driving forces of effluent nutrient variability in field scale bioretention." *Ecol. Eng.* 94:622-628.
- McKay, G. and Porter, J.F. (1997). "Equilibrium parameters for the sorption of copper, cadmium and zinc ions onto peat." *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.* 69:309-320.
- Meng, X., Dupont, R.R., Sorensen, D.L., Jacobson, A.R., McLean, J.E. (2017). "Mineralogy and geochemistry affecting arsenic solubility in sediment profiles from shallow basin-fill aquifer of Cache Valley Basin, Utah." *Applied Geochemistry* 77:126-141.
- Mullane, J.M., Flury, M., Iqbal, H., Freeze, P.M., Hinman, C., Cogger, C.G., Shi., Z. (2015). "Intermittent rainstorms cause pulses of nitrogen, phosphorus, and copper in leachate from compost in bioretention systems." *Sci. Total Environ.* 537:294-303.
- Murakami, M., Sato, N., Anegawa, A., Nakada, N., Harada, A., Komatsu, T., Takada, H., Tanaka, H., Ono, Y., Furumai, H. (2008). "Multiple evaluations of the removal of pollutants in road runoff by soil infiltration." *Water Res.* 42:2745-2755.
- Muthanna, T.M., Viklander, M., Gjesdahl, N., Thorolfsson, S.T. (2007). "Heavy metal removal in cold climate bioretention." *Water Air Soil Pollut*. 183:391-402.
- Nocco, M.A., Rouse, S.E., Balster, N.J. (2016). "Vegetation type alters water and nitrogen budgets in a controlled, replicated experiment on residential-sized rain gardens planted with prairie, shrub and turfgrass." *Urban Ecosystem* 19:1665-1691.
- Paus, K.H., Morgan, J., Gulliver, J.S., Hozalski, R.M. (2014). Effect of bioretention media compost volume fraction on toxic metals removal, hydraulic conductivity, and phosphorus release." J. Environ. Eng. 140 (10):04014133.
- Patel, D., Hauser, J., Johnston, J., Curtis, J. (2004). "Pilot filtration studies for turbidity and nutrient removal at Lake Tahoe." Presentation: 3rd Annual North American Surface Water Quality Conference (StormCon), Palm Desert, July 26-29.
- Patterson, K. (2020). "Arsenic release from surface soils induced by stormwater bioretention." Master's Thesis. DOI:https://doi.org/10.26076/exen-n333
- Payne, E.G.I., Fletcher, T.D., Russell, D.G., Grace, M.R., Cavagnaro, T.R., Evrard, V., Deletic, A., Hatt, B.E., Cook, P.L.M. (2014). "Temporary storage or permanent

removal? The division of nitrogen between biotic assimilation and denitrification in stormwater biofiltration systems." *PLOS ONE* Volume 9, Issue 3.

- Pitt, R., Clark, S., Field, R., (1999). "Groundwater contamination potential from stormwater infiltration practices." *Urban Water* 1:217-236.
- Prince George's County, MD. (2007). *Bioretention Manual*, Environmental Services Division, Department of Environmental Resources.
- Read, J., Fletcher, T.D., Wevill, T., Deletic, A. (2010). "Plant traits that enhance pollutant removal from stormwater in biofiltration systems." *Int. J. Phytoremediation* 12:34-53.
- Read, J., Wevill, T., Fletcher, T., Deletic, A. (2008). "Variation among plant species in pollutant removal from stormwater in biofiltration systems." *Water Res*.42,893-902.
- Reddy, K. R., Xie, T., Dastgheibi, S. (2014). Removal of heavy metals from urban stormwater runoff using different filter materials." J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 2:282-292.
- Ren, J., Gao, S., Tao, L., Li, H. (2016). "Pb removal using mixed substrates in a constructed laboratory-scale unvegetated vertical subsurface-flow wetland." *Pol. J. Environ. Stud.* Vol 25 No. 1, 283-290.
- Roseen, R.M., Bellestero, T.P., Houle, J.J., Avellaneda, P., Briggs, J., Fowler, G., Wildey, R. (2009). "Seasonal performance variations for storm-water management systems in cold climate conditions." *J. Environ. Eng.* 135(3): 128-137.
- Roy-Poirier, A., Champagne, P., Filion, Y. (2010). "Review of bioretention system research and design: past, present, and future." *J. Environ. Eng.* 136(9): 878-889.
- Rycewicz-Borecki, M. (2015). "Stormwater bioretention: Nitrogen, phosphorus and metal removal by plants," Doctoral dissertation.
- Rycewicz-Borecki, M., McLean, J., Dupont, R.R. (2016). "Bioaccumulation of copper, lead, and zinc in six macrophyte species grown in simulated stormwater bioretention systems." *J. Environ. Manage.* 166:267-275.
- Rycewicz-Borecki, M., McLean, J., Dupont, R.R. (2017). "Nitrogen and phosphorus mass balance, retention and uptake in six plant species grown in stormwater bioretention microcosms." *Ecol. Eng.* Vol 99: 409-416.

- Schück, M. and Greger, M. (2019). "Plant traits related to the heave metal removal capacities of wetland plants." *Int. J. Phytoremediation* DOI:10.1080/15226514.2019.1669529.
- Shrestha, P., Hurley, S.E., Wemple, B.C. (2018). "Effects of different soil media, vegetation, and hydrological treatments on nutrients and sediment removal in roadside bioretention systems." *Ecol. Eng.* Vol. 112:116-131.
- Sloan, J.J., Hegemann, M.A., George, S.A. (2008). "Dual-function growth medium and structural soil for use as porous pavement." *J. of Environ. Qual.* 37:2248-2255.
- Smedley, P.L., Kinniburgh, D.G. (2002). "A review of the source, behavior and distribution of arsenic in natural waters." *Applied Geochemistry* 17:517-568.
- Srivastava, P., Singh, B., Angove, M. (2005). "Competitive adsorption behavior of heavy metals on kaolinite." *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* 290: 25-38.
- Strong, P. and Hudak, P.F. (2015). "Nitrogen and phosphorus removal in a rain garden flooded with wastewater and stormwater." *Environ. Qual. Manage.* Winter 2015, 63-69.
- Subramaniam, D.N., Egodawatta, P., Mather, P., Rajapakse, J.P. (2015). "Stabilization of stormwater biofilters: Impacts of wetting and drying phases and the addition of organic matter to filter media." *Environ. Manage*. 56:630-642.
- Sun, X. and Davis, A.P. (2007). "Heavy metal fates in laboratory bioretention systems." *Chemosphere* 66:1601-1609.
- Turk, R.P., Kraus, H.T., Hunt, W.F., Carmen, N.B., Bilderback, T.E. (2016). "Nutrient sequestration by vegetation in bioretention calls receiving high nutrient loads." J. Environ. Eng. 143(2):06016009.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (1999). "Stormwater technology fact sheet: Bioretention." EPA 832-F-99-012.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (2016A). "What climate change means for Utah." EPA 430-F-16-046. <u>https://19january2017snapshot.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-</u> 09/documents/climate-change-ut.pdf. Accessed September 26, 2017.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (2016B). "Green infrastructure design and implementation." <u>https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/green-infrastructure-design-and-implementation</u>. Accessed September 11, 2017.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (2017A). National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). "Stormwater rules and notices."

https://www.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater-rules-and-notices. Accessed September 11, 2017.

- US Environmental Protection Agency (2017B). "Climate impacts in the southwest." <u>https://19january2017snapshot.epa.gov/climate-impacts/climate-impacts-</u> <u>southwest_.html#Water</u>. Accessed May 15, 2018.
- Wan, Z., Li, T., Liu, Y. (2018). "Effective nitrogen removal during different periods of a field-scale bioretention system." *Environ. Sci. Poll. Res.* 25:17855-17861.
- Wang, M., Zhang, D., Li, Y., Hou, Q., Yu, Y., Qi, J., Fu, W., Dong, J., Cheng, Y. (2018). "Effect of a submerged zone and carbon source on nutrient and metal removal for stormwater by bioretention cells." *Water* 10:1629.
- Wang, S., Lin, X., Yu, H., Wang, Z., Xia, H., An, J., Fan, G. (2017). "Nitrogen removal from urban stormwater runoff by stepped bioretention systems." *Eco. Eng.* 106 (2017)340-348.
- Watershed Management Group. (2012). *Green Infrastructure in Southwestern Neighborhoods* Version 1.2, October 2012.
- Wu, J., Cao, X., Zhao, J., Dai, Y., Cui, N., Li, Z., Cheng, S. (2017). "Performance of biofilter with a saturated zone for urban stormwater pollution control: Influence of vegetation type and saturation time." *Ecol. Eng.* 105:355-361.
- Yergeau, S.E. and Obropta, C.C. (2013). "Preliminary field evaluation of soil compaction in rain gardens," J. Environ. Eng. Vol. 139, No. 9, 1233-1236.
- Zhang, W., Brown, G.O., Storm, D.E., Zhang, H. (2008). "Fly-ash-amended sand as filter media in bioretention cells to improve phosphorus removal." *Water Environ. Res.* 80:507-516.

CHAPTER 3

IMPACT OF MEDIA SELECTION ON TRACE ELEMENT REMOVAL IN A BIORETENTION SYSTEM

Abstract:

Three field sites were used to evaluate the effectiveness of imported topsoil, imported topsoil with compost, pea gravel, and UteliteTM expanded shale on BR system performance. The Salt Lake City Public Utilities site contained a BR system with UteliteTM expanded shale and pea gravel. The 300 East site contained imported topsoil, while the Green Meadows site contained an imported topsoil-compost mixture. Well samples were collected at the Public Utilities site, while pore water samples were collected from the 300 East and Green Meadows sites to evaluate BR system performance for removal of Cu, Zn, and Pb. Media from the Public Utilities site contributed to trace element concentrations in well samples regardless of the levels of pollutants applied to the site. A Comparison Bay at the 300 East site verified pollutant attenuation through the Treatment Bays at that site, while removal at the Green Meadows site was not discernable until high loadings were applied and levels in the runoff exceeded the pollutant levels from the soil. Arsenic was generated from all sites due to dissolution of geogenic As, and dissolution was enhanced due to the vegetation in the BR systems.

1. Introduction

Stormwater runoff can be a source of pollutants that negatively impact a receiving surface water body or compromise groundwater quality, and some pollutants may pose a significant health risk to humans and aquatic organisms (Cohen et al. 2001; Gaffield et al. 2003). An increase in urban runoff creates an increase in pollutant loadings as the water flows over impervious surfaces such as parking lots, roads, sidewalks and roofs that may contain pollutants that come from pesticides, tire wear, brakes, engine lubricants, and auto exhaust (Davis et al. 2001b; Charters et al. 2016). Some of the pollutants of concern in stormwater include cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), copper (Cu), lead (Pb) and zinc (Zn). These pollutants should be removed before water can be used for groundwater recharge or be allowed to enter surface water.

A predicted change in weather patterns due to climate change necessitates using a variety of strategies to capture runoff for reuse for agriculture irrigation or human consumption. By using bioretention (BR) systems for infiltration, stormwater runoff can be captured and harvested for reuse. Amended soil or engineered filtration media within a BR system may improve the effectiveness of these systems in removing metals from stormwater. The media must allow drainage within a reasonable time frame, allow for plant growth, and should aid in pollutant removal through providing an increase in surface area and increased sorption sites, and providing the optimal pH for adsorption and precipitation of metals. Sorption and precipitation of metals are favored by high pH and the presence of organic matter, clays, and carbonates contributing to the cation exchange capacity of the media. Native soils or imported topsoil are often augmented with additional materials to increase sorption capacity and improve flow.

Depending on the composition of a BR system's filter media, the removal efficiency for trace elements could be as high as 90% to 100%, specifically Cu, Zn, and Pb (Davis et al. 2001a; Davis et al. 2003; Paus et al. 2014; Reddy et al. 2014; Lim et al. 2015; Gulbaz et al. 2015). Cu, Cd, Pb, and Zn are the primary elements of concern in stormwater that are frequently analyzed in studies evaluating pollutant removal efficiencies of BR systems (Davis et al. 2001a; Davis et al. 2003; Muthanna et al. 2007; Lu and Xu 2009; Paus et al. 2014; Reddy et al. 2014; Gulbaz et al. 2015; Lim et al. 2015; Li et al. 2016; Ren et al. 2016).

Reddy et al. (2014) performed batch sorption studies with Cu concentrations from 2.5 to 50 mg/L and Zn concentrations between 25 and 500 mg/L, applying Freundlich and Langmuir isotherms, with sand, calcite, zeolite, and iron fillings. Sand was the least effective with removal rates from 8 to 58%, while the other tested media removed between 90 and 100%. Sloan et al. (2008) used a 50:50 mixture of expanded shale and quartz sand with the addition of sphagnum peat moss or zeolite in a greenhouse pot study with Bermuda grass and reported near 100% removal of Cd, Cu, Pb, and Zn applied at 250 µg/L of each metal. Jiang et al. (2019) used varying combinations of water treatment residuals (WTR), green zeolite, and coconut bran as soil amendments to enhance metal removal in pilot scale field studies at concentrations similar to those used in the current study for Cu (0.3 to 1mg/L) and Zn (0.5 to 1.5 mg/L). Cu, Zn, and Cd removal was enhanced with the addition of organic matter via WTR with average removal of 80%, although removal efficiencies were highly variable within treatments. These studies display the importance of selection of media for metal retention, but also the importance

of the relevance of experimental design including concentrations tested and field versus lab controlled experiments.

Field studies involving designed BR systems are limited likely due to laboratory column and small microcosm studies being more economical and having more control over pollutant loading, media composition, plant species, etc. But while lab studies are useful to evaluate specific process, translation to field conditions is often lacking. Many active field BR sites are designed with limited considerations of local loading rates, soil, soil amendments, regional plant species, or pollutant constituents which can lead to a failure of pollutant removal within a BR system due to limited sorption capacity. Another consideration is that the soil, soil amendments, and other media, since they are geologic materials, contain metals that may mask the true removal of metal constituents in stormwater as they are leached from the media when subjected to stormwater runoff. Dietz and Clausen (2006) found the soil used in a rain garden was the source of Cu, Pb and Zn whereas the added mulch retained these metals. Mullane et al. (2015) found that compost used in a BR system leached Cu due to complexation to the DOC produced by the compost. Conditions within BR systems may also foster the release of other toxic components such as arsenic. Arsenic solubility is enhanced under reducing conditions that are imposed with temporary inundation of a BR system, and conditions created to maximum metal retention, in particular increased pH, can enhance As release from geogenic sources. Many areas in the US and other parts of the world have As enriched geology. Rycewicz-Borecki, (2015) and Patterson (2019) both observed elevated As in pore water from a BR system in Northern Utah where temporary anaerobic conditions and the presence of plants solubilized As.

This study evaluated the efficiency of trace element removal (Cu, Zn, and Pb) and potential release of As using three existing field sites containing four filter media types two top soils from Cache Valley, Utah (one unamended and the other amended with compost), and a pea gravel or UteliteTM expanded shale as a subsurface storage layer. The soils used were both locally purchased topsoil, originating within Cache Valley, that were medium texture with circumneutral pH, that would be recommended for metal retention. BR systems at these sites were designed with the expectations that pollutant removal would occur given the media installed in each system. Two sites experienced natural rain events, while the third site was exposed to simulated storms.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Study areas

The first study area is a BR system along a residential street in Logan, UT. There are three bays that contain curb cuts into which runoff can flow during a rain event (Figure 1). The BR system was designed by Logan City to hold the 100-year, 48-hour storm, a storm depth of 3.42 inches (8.69 cm) (Logan City 2016). As required by city code, infiltration should be complete within 72 hours after the end of a storm event. The entire system drains the west half of an asphalt paved road from 900 N to 1000 N encompassing a total drainage area of approximately 6,400 ft² (0.059 hectares). One individual bay was isolated from runoff with an added berm by the landowner (Figure 1c). This bay was used as a comparison bay since it did not receive runoff from the street. As the curb cuts are not uniformly spaced along the roadway, each receives varying quantities of runoff during a storm event based on their individual sub-drainages. There is no discharge to surface water; all BR systems drain below ground. Each bay contains

topsoil from a location within Cache Valley, grass, and at least two ornamental pear trees (Figure 1a, 1b). The grass planted is a "cabin mixture" grass, which is recommended for areas of disturbance in the Intermountain West, including parking strips, and typically contains a variation of the following species mix: soder streambank wheatgrass, roadcrest crested wheatgrass, and sheep fescue. The landowner of the site watered the study area twice a week throughout the dry season and fertilized using Ferti-lome Crabgrass Preventer Plus Lawn Food 20/0/3 or Ferti-Lome Green Maker 18/0/6 once a month from April until August.



Figure 1: a. Small bay; b. Largest bay at south end of study area; c. Raised berm for comparison bay, 300 East, Logan, UT

The second study area was located at the Public Utilities office complex in Salt Lake City. The site consisted of a BR system 350 feet (107 m) long and 30 feet (9.1 m) wide that treats runoff from an adjacent 1-acre (0.40 hectare) asphalt parking lot. The parking lot can accommodate approximately 100 cars and during the work week is typically between 50 and 75 percent full. The west half of the BR system contained pea gravel in the subsurface storage layer, while the east half of the BR system contained UteliteTM expanded shale in the subsurface storage layer (Figure 2a).





Figure 2: a. Schematic of Public Utilities BR system, Salt Lake City, UT, indicating the material used in each subsurface storage layer. Not drawn to scale. b. Profile of BR System, Public Utilities, Salt Lake City. The subsurface storage layer was composed of either pea gravel or UteliteTM expanded shale. Not drawn to scale.

The top layer in the BR system is a 6-inch (15.24 cm) layer of rock mulch, with the next layer being a 2 feet (61 cm) deep layer of topsoil, underlain by a 6 inch (15.24 cm) layer of topsoil/sand mix filter layer, all of which are separated from the 2 feet (61 cm) subsurface storage with either pea gravel or expanded shale layers by a layer of filter fabric (Figure 2b). The expanded shale used in the retention basin was purchased from the Utelite Corporation located in Salt Lake City, UT. The pea gravel was standard 3/8inch (0.95 cm) washed construction pea gravel. The topsoil was locally sourced. For most rain events the runoff from the parking area only contacted the storage layer material. Runoff did not reach the soil or soil/sand layers within the systems and was not influenced by the plantings. The third study area was an existing stormwater demonstration site in a southwest neighborhood of Logan, UT. The site was constructed to collect and treat stormwater from a 25-acre portion of the Green Meadows subdivision. Street drains collect stormwater from the neighborhood which is conveyed into a runoff distribution box (Figure 4) at the inlet of the stormwater treatment area. The water then overflows into two distribution channels, then overflows into each of 24 constructed bays. For this study the distribution channels were blocked off and simulated storms were administered with hoses using potable water supplied by Logan City.

Prior to the beginning of the study each bay was excavated to remove biomass and topsoil from previous studies conducted at the same location. Each bay was then reconstructed with topsoil, compost, and mulch. The topsoil was obtained from a local excavating company and the compost and mulch were obtained from the Logan City Landfill. The topsoil to compost mixture, with a ratio of 2:1, was applied to each bay to a depth of 9 inches (22.9 cm) then rototilled into the original soil. The plant starters were planted to a 3-inch (7.62 cm) depth, 12 inches (11.45 cm) apart, followed by a final 1inch (2.54 cm) layer of mulch. Plants were allowed to grow to maturity for one growing season before the study began.

Fifteen bays (5 feet (1.5 m) wide by 15 feet 8 inches (4.78 m) long) established with four triplicate plant species and three control bays that contained no vegetation were used. The triplicate vegetated bays were randomly assigned and each contained a single species of plant that included: cattails (*Typha latifolia*), small wing sedge (*Carex microptera*), Baltic rush (*Juncus balticus*), or sunflower (*Helianthis maximillina*) (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Schematic of stormwater treatment demonstration site showing bay location of plant types and unplanted controls evaluated at the Green Meadows site.

Synthetic, simulated storm events were used to analyze pollutant removal at this site. Storms were administered with three pollutant loads, with individual storm volumes simulating the 3 month, 45-minute storm, 0.202 inches (0.513 cm) of rain in Logan, UT. The surface area for runoff received by each bay for each storm event was calculated by assuming the BR system was 5% of an adjacent urban drainage area (USEPA 1999) with a 50% surface runoff coefficient, mimicking runoff volume from a housing development similar to the Green Meadows subdivision. These calculations resulted in a total volume per individual storm of 97.25 gallons (370 L). The first flush, assumed to be the first 10 percent of a storm (9.7 gallons, 37 L), contained the entire concentrated pollutant load, and was administered uniformly to each treatment plot using a hose end sprayer with a flow rate of 0.63 gal/min (2.4 L/min). Pollutant mixtures were made in Logan City tap water. A phosphorus solution was applied first followed by a nitrogen and trace metal solution, each with half of the first flush volume. The phosphorus and nitrogen data were

analyzed and discussed in Chapter 4. These simulated pollutant loading solutions were applied separately to avoid precipitation of metals and phosphorus prior to application. Once the first flush solutions were applied, the remainder of the storm volume was applied using sprinkler hoses attached to a 3-foot (0.91 m) by 13 foot (3.96 m) frame within each bay that sprayed for 30 minutes with tap water at a flow rate of 2.32 gal/min (8.8 L/min). Logan tap water contains trace levels of Cu and Zn that contributed to the overall loading of these elements. Cu concentration added to the bay was 31% and Zn was 46% higher than intended for site loading calculations per application.

2.2 Precipitation data collection

At the 300 East site, precipitation data was recorded using an ONSET, HOBOware® rain gauge smart sensor (S-RGA-M002) with a U30 data logging station. At the Public Utilities site a HOBOware® RG3 data logging rain gauge was installed adjacent to the BR system. Any rain event data that were missing due to rain gauge malfunctions were supplied by the Utah Climate Center (USU, UCC, 2019). The weather station used for the 300 East location was from the Logan Cache Airport station (station ID USW00094128) located within 3.7 miles (6 km) of the site and for the Public Utilities site the climate station used was the Salt Lake Triad Center station (station ID USC00427606) located within 2.6 miles (4.2 km) of the site.

2.3 Sample collection procedures

At the 300 East location two Micro Rhizon pore water samplers (Soilmoisture Equipment Corp., Santa Barbara, CA. Soil Moisture Miniature Samplers – 1908D4.5L09) were installed at depths of 12 (30.5cm) and 20 (50.8 cm) inches in each bay, including

the comparison bay. Samplers were installed per manufacturer instructions within 6 to 12 inches (15.2 cm – 30.5 cm) from the end of the concrete apron of each curb cut. Each lysimeter was connected to a length of plastic tubing with a Luer-LockTM connector. The lysimeters were made of a porous polymer, internally strengthened by a wire or plastic fiber. The porous portion of the lysimeter was 3.5 inches (8.9 cm) long with an outer diameter of 0.98 (2.5 cm) inches and an inner diameter of 0.06 inches (0.15 cm).

To collect runoff from storm events entering each bay, funnels were fashioned from sheet metal and collapsible plumbers tubing to direct water into sixteen-quart (16.75 inches x 11.88 inches x 7 inches, [42.5 cm x 30.2 cm x 17.8 cm]) polystyrene (SteriliteTM) sample boxes (Figure 4) from the curb cuts. A two-inch baffle was inserted in the sample boxes to create a collection area with a v-notch to allow flow to continue during storm event. Composite runoff grab samples were collected from the sample boxes after each rain event was complete.



Figure 4: Sampling boxes for runoff samples at the 300 East site.

At the Public Utilities site, modified sump wells (Figure 2b) were installed with a 2-feet (61 cm) collection chamber at the bottom to hold approximately 1200 mL of sample. The wells were installed 18 inches (45.7 cm) from the edge of the parking lot with the screened section beginning at the bottom of the subsurface storage layer, approximately 5 feet (1.5 m) below the soil surface. Small sampling gutters were installed at the edge of the parking lot (Figure 2) to collect runoff directly from the lot. Water level indicators were used to activate ISCO automated samplers to collect runoff for analysis when water was detected in the sampling gutters. The gutters were 2 feet (61 cm) in length and sealed at each end to prevent runoff from leaking out the sides of gutters during sampling.

At the Green Meadows site, each bay was instrumented with six Micro Rhizon pore water lysimeters, which were installed similar to lysimeters installed at the 300 East site. Three lysimeters were installed within the bay to a depth of approximately 3-6 inches (7.62 cm -15.24 cm) and three installed to a depth of 6-9 inches (15.24 cm - 22.86 cm). Each pair of lysimeters were co-located in a randomly assigned 1 ft² (930 cm²) section of a bay, creating three pairs in each treatment bay.

For sampling at the 300 East site, immediately following rain events, four composite grab samples of runoff water were collected, one each from the sampling boxes, using 500 mL acid washed bottles. At the same time a vacuum was pulled to 70 kPa on the lysimeters using a hand vacuum pump, and samples were collected in 500 mL glass bottles fitted with #10 stoppers over a 24-hour period after vacuum was applied. Samples at the Public Utilities site were collected during natural storm events from each gutter and sump well in the BR system using ISCO 6712 autosamplers with liquid level actuators. A sample hose was placed at the bottom of each sump well to collect samples when the water level reached 4 inches (10.2 cm) depth in the sump wells. Samples were collected at 15-minute intervals from both wells for the duration of a storm. Runoff from the parking lot ran over the curb and into the sampling gutters where BR influent samples were collected. An autosampler actuated by a separate level indicator collected samples when the water level reached 2 inches (5.1 cm) in the sampling gutters. The samplers also pulled samples at 15-minute intervals from the gutters for the duration of the storm event.

At the Green Meadows site, a vacuum of at least 70kPa was applied to each of the six lysimeters within the bay using a hand vacuum pump after all ponded water had infiltrated for each simulated storm event. A 1000 mL amber glass jar with #10 stopper was connected to each lysimeter to collect soil pore water captured by each lysimeter, and samples were collected for analysis within 24 hours after the vacuum was applied. *2.4 Sample processing and analysis procedures*

Upon collection, runoff, well, and pore water samples from all locations were returned to the Utah Water Research Laboratory for analysis of electrical conductivity (EC) and pH. For total element concentrations, water samples were digested using a hot block, nitric acid digestion using the APHA Method 330E (APHA 2012). For total dissolved element concentrations, water samples were filtered using 0.2 µm nylon filter and preserved with nitric acid. An Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometer (ICP-MS, Agilent 7700x, EPA Method 6020) was used to determine concentrations of trace elements in the samples (EPA 2007b). Dissolved metals are reported for Green Meadows site and total metals are reported for the other two sites.

To assess the potential source of metal leaching from the media at the Public Utilities, UteliteTM and pea gravel were extracted with deionized water. The UteliteTM sample was received directly from the Utelite Corporation, and common pea gravel purchased from a local hardware store. Water was added to cover the media and left to sit for 24 hours. The extractant was poured off, filtered using 0.2 µm nylon filter and preserved with nitric acid, then analyzed on the ICP-MS to determine the most mobile components of the BR media which could be affected by stormwater runoff and infiltration. Sequential extractions were also conducted on all field site soil samples, and the data and a discussion of those results can be found in the appendix.

2.5 Data Analysis

In this evaluation of media for effective removal of metals from stormwater, runoff data collected over time were averaged at 300 East and Green Meadows sites and the data were also averaged with depth. Statistical analysis of the pore water concentrations at both lysimeter depths at the 300 East site and the Green Meadows site for trace elements of interest showed no statistical difference between lysimeter depths. At the Green Meadows site, the pore water concentrations were not averaged over loadings. At all three sites, pore water and well concentration of trace elements were not affected by storm frequency, duration, or intensity. The lack of differences in the data allowed for the use of averages for pore water and well water concentrations at the three sites across time and depth.

Potential impact to groundwater was determined by analyzing the concentration of pollutants found in pore water lysimeters and wells after movement of runoff through the BR basins at all field site locations. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) and a Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (Tukey's HSD) test were conducted using the SAS University Edition statistical software program on concentrations in runoff and pore water or well samples to determine pollutant removal through the BR system. Comparisons were made between soil pore water concentrations in treatment plots receiving roadway runoff and a comparison plot at the 300 East site that received only rainwater. Comparisons were also made among the two filter media and runoff at the Public Utilities site. Comparisons at Green Meadows were made among the planted bays, unplanted control bays and the applied concentrations within and across all loading rates. The data for the ANOVA analyses were first transformed, with recommendations from a Box-Cox transformation conducted in SAS, to ensure the normality of each collected data set. All trace elements data were log transformed before analysis based on the Box-Cox recommendation.

3. Results

3.1 Characterization of storm events and runoff

For the two sites receiving natural precipitation, rainfall events occurred from February to May and August to November. After November and before February precipitation in both study areas fell as snow, with below freezing temperatures, prohibiting field sampling. From June to August, very little precipitation fell, and no sampling events were conducted during this period. Of the fourteen natural events that occurred at the 300 East location there were two 1-year storms, while the Public Utilities site experienced one 5-year storm, three 2year storms and one 1-year storm out of eleven events that occurred over the course of the study. Green Meadows received four simulated storm events as described in section 2.1. Table 1 summarizes characteristics of storm events for the three sites. The average rainfall was similar across all three sites.

	300 East	Public Utilities	Green Meadows
Dates of storms	9/2017 - 11/2018	10/2016 - 5/2017	6-9/2018
Total storms sampled	14 natural events	11 natural events	4 synthetic events
Minimum rainfall	0.1 inches (0.254	0.3 inches (0.762	
depth	cm)	cm)	
Maximum rainfall	1.6 inches (4.09	1.82 inches (4.6	
depth	cm)	cm)	
Average rainfall	0.34 inches	0.5 inches (1.27	0.2 inches (0.5
depth	(0.864 cm)	cm)	cm)

Table 1: Characteristics of storm events monitored at the three field sites in this study.

Table 2 lists the characteristics of the runoff at the two field sites that received natural rain events and also the concentrations of the applied storms at the Green Meadows field site including the contribution for the tap water used for irrigation. Arsenic and Pb were not applied at the Green Meadows site beyond the trace amounts found in Logan City Tap water, but these elements were in the runoff at the Public Utilities and 300 East sites.

Table 2: Summary of trace element concentrations measured in stormwater runoff and applied during simulated storms throughout the study period at all three study sites. *As and Pb values are trace amounts found in Logan City water used at the Green Meadows site. <MDL indicates less than the method detection limit.

		Cu Zn As			Pb		
		Totals, µg/L					
	Min	3.9	17.6	0.22	0.38		
300 East	Max	217	1929	19.7	116		
500 East	average	39.4	243	3.1	12.5		
	95% CI	±13.4	±107	± 1.2	±6.1		
Public Utilities	Min	2.6	8.7	0.02	0.19		
	Max	149	296	4.0	35.4		
	average	16.9	54.6	0.68	2.8		
	95% CI	±3.1	±9.6	±0.13	± 0.88		
		Dissolved, µg/L					
Green Meadows	Low	10.2	67.6	1.3	<mdl< td=""></mdl<>		
	Medium	16.3	98.7	1.3	<mdl< td=""></mdl<>		
	High	26.2	150	1.3	<mdl< td=""></mdl<>		

3.2 Water samples

The pH and EC values measured at the three field sites from well and lysimeter samples are listed in Table 3. All media are alkaline, with the Utelite[™] and pea gravel having higher pH values than the topsoil. The pH of the soils and media would foster sorption and precipitation of Cu, Zn, and Pb, however, it would limit the sorption of As. The EC for Green Meadow site reflects the application of compost to the site.

Table 3:	pH and EC	C results	for pore	e water	(PW)	and	well	water	samples	from	the
three stud	dy sites.										

		pH	EC (µS/cm)
Pore Water 300 East	average	8.0	557

	95% CI	±0.10	±68
Pea Gravel Well Public	average	10.0	578
Utilities	95% CI	± 0.26	±127
Utelite [™] Well	average	8.6	1577
Public Utilities	95% CI	±0.29	±431
Pore Water Green	average	7.7	2325
Meadows	95% CI	±.06	±216

At the 300 East location, total Cu, Zn, and Pb concentrations were statistically lower in the treatment bay pore water compared to the runoff; these metals are removed within the BR system (Figure 7a). The concentration of total As however, was the same in the pore water as in the runoff. The 300 East field site was unique in that it included a Comparison Bay of the same soil and plant composition as the Treatment Bays but did not receive roadway runoff during the study period. This site then allowed direct comparison of subsurface pore water concentrations impacted by pollutant runoff and that only affected by rainfall infiltration. The concentration of total Cu, Zn, and Pb were the same in the Treatment Bays (Figure 5b) as the Comparison Bay. The Treatment Bays were effective at removing total Cu, Zn, and Pb from the stormwater (Figure 5a) with no effects on the water solubility of these metals compared to the Comparison Bay. Arsenic concentration in the pore water from the Comparison Bay was higher than the Treatment Bays, demonstrating the natural leaching of As from the top soil.

The pea gravel media at Public Utilities had no effect on removal of total Cu, Zn, or Pb from stormwater (Fig 5c). The total As concentration increased in the well compared to the runoff concentration. The UteliteTM contributed all trace elements to the well water (Fig 5d). This site was designed as a detention basin with no reliance on soil or other sorption media. Stormwater runoff does not interact with the top layer of soil nor

with vegetation at this site. Stormwater immediately enters the subsurface layer where the alkaline pea gravel nor Utelite[™] was not adequate to remove contaminants from the infiltrating stormwater.



Figure 5: Runoff and pore water or well concentrations of total elements in a. Treatment Bays at 300 East site; b. Treatment Bays and Comparison Bay at 300 East site; c. Pea gravel (PG) storage layer at Public Utilities site. d. UteliteTM storage layer at Public Utilities site. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals; letters indicate significant difference $p \le 0.05$ at individual sites. Note: Y axes differ among panels.

For the Green Meadows site with or without plants, all pore water and application concentrations for total dissolved Cu or Zn were the same at the low and medium loading rates (Figure 6a, 6b; capital letters). For the high application rate, planted bays removed more dissolved Cu and Zn compared to the applied and Control Bay pore water concentrations. This site lacks bays that did not receive the simulated stormwater treatments for direct measurement of pore water concentrations not influenced by runoff. The pore water concentration of dissolved Zn was not affected by the increasing concentrations added (Figure 6 small letters) within the control and planted systems. Dissolved Cu displayed a dependency on the concentration added but not in a consistent manner. The amount of dissolved Zn and, in general, dissolved Cu were reflective of the native solubility of these metals in the compost and imported topsoil and not related to the concentrations in the stormwater runoff applied, indicating that these metals were removed from the stormwater as it moved through the BR system.

Pore water dissolved As and Pb concentrations were above the applied concentrations at all loading levels in the planted and unplanted Control Bays (Figure 6c, 6d). The planted bays released more dissolved As to the pore water than the unplanted bays for the medium and high loading. The unplanted bays had higher concentrations of dissolved Pb for the high loading rates.



Figure 6: Applied and pore water concentrations in non-planted (control) and planted bays at Green Meadows site for dissolved a. Cu b. Zn c. As and d. Pb. One-way ANOVAs within a given application rate (capital letters), and across all applications rates (small letters) with post-hoc Tukey's HSD testing. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals; letters indicate significant difference $p \le 0.05$.

3.3 Water Extractions

In order to determine the source of metals and As observed in the wells at Public Utilities, pea gravel purchased from a local hardware store and Utelite[™] obtained from the manufacturer were extracted with water. The concentrations of Cu, Zn, and Pb in the water extract for Utelite[™] and pea gravel were significantly lower than the concentrations found in both wells; however, as indicated above, the concentrations in the wells of these elements were the same as those found in the runoff for pea gravel and for Zn in Utelite[™] (Figure 7a, 7b, 7d). Cu and Pb concentrations were higher in the wells than in the runoff or water extract for Utelite[™] (Figure 7a, 7d). Water extractions for Utelite[™] at the Public Utilities site contained As concentrations that were not different than the concentrations in the Utelite[™] well indicating that the source of the As in the well is the Utelite[™] media (Figure 7c). Finally, As concentrations were higher in the pea gravel well than the corresponding runoff or water extraction.



Figure 7: Runoff, water extraction, and well results for the Public Utilities site for a. Cu, b. Zn, c. As, and d. Pb. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals; letters indicate significant difference for each filter media type at $p \le 0.05$ based on ANOVA with post hoc Tukey's results. (PG = Pea Gravel, WE = water extraction).

Discussion

The simple BR system with turf grass and pear trees at 300 East was shown to effectively remove a range of trace elements from stormwater runoff as it infiltrated to groundwater. Based on the comparison of Treatment Bay pore water concentrations
below the planted root zone to those in the Comparison Bay not receiving roadway runoff it was found that all pollutants entering the Treatment Bays were attenuated in the 300 East BR system before reaching the 12-inch (30.5 cm) soil depth. None of the pollutants in the roadway runoff or within the Treatment Bay pore water exceeded the levels found in the field site soil in the Comparison Bay, subject only to rainfall infiltration, indicating that the concentrations of elements found in the soil pore water was from the soil and not from the runoff at the 300 East site.

Removal of pollutants was not discernable until the highest loading rates at the Green Meadows site. Cu and Zn concentrations in the pore water at the Green Meadows site were statistically the same as the concentrations that were applied in the synthetic storms in the Unplanted Control Bays for all application rates and for the Planted Bays at the low and medium application rates. The Planted Bays at the Green Meadows site improved pollutant removal of Cu and Zn at the highest loading rate when compared to the Unplanted Control Bays. The pore water concentrations across the low and medium loading rates were the same for all treatments and reflect the soil characteristics within the bays rather than the pollutant loading from the simulated rain events. This resulted in pollutant removal not being apparent at the low and medium loading rates because background pore water concentrations were equal to or greater than the applied concentrations at these lower loadings. It was not until higher concentrations of trace elements were applied at the highest loading rate that pollutant removal became measurable. A discussion of mechanisms and individual plant performance is given in Chapter 4.

The runoff concentrations observed in the current study are lower (Table 1) than what have been reported in previous studies, supporting the observation that the lack of Cu and Zn removal observed at the Green Meadows site for the low and medium loading rates is due to native pore water concentrations that are statistically the same as runoff concentrations applied at those loading rates.

Hatt et al. (2007, 2008) in studies using soil and soil amendments (vermiculites, compost, and mulch) found that while soil-based filters performed poorly for nutrient removal because of nutrient leaching from native soils, they were able to remove greater than 90% of applied Cu (50 μ g/L), Zn (250 μ g/L), and Pb (140 μ g/L). The soil-based filters used in the Hatt et al. (2007, 2008) studies contained a sandy loam soil similar in texture to the soil type found at the Green Meadows and 300 East study sites. Sun and Davis (2007) with dosing Cu at 71 μ g/L or 170 μ g/L and Zn at 66 μ g/L or 1,440 μ g/L into laboratory pot studies with 50% potting soil and 50% leaf mulch observed removal of 88-97% of the metal added: plant uptake only accounted for 0.5 to 3.3% of the added metals; retention was due to sorption. Davis et al. (2001a) observed over 92% removal for applied Cu (80 μ g/L), Zn (600 μ g/L), and Pb (80 μ g/L) in a study using synthetic stormwater where removal was due to sorption of the metals to the mulch that removed a factor of 6 times more Cu, 1.7 times more Pb and 17 times more Zn compared to the soil. The concentrations of Cu, Zn, and Pb in stormwater in the previous studies are higher than those measured in the current study that are representative of run-off in Northern Utah and none of the studies reviewed from the literature examined the extractable trace elements already in the media. Concentrations of Cu and Zn in the pore water measured in the current study represent the water soluble background levels of the native soil, and

in part explain the lack of observable removal of these trace elements applied at low loading rates to the soil. At the high loading rates removal is discernable above the background level. Control bays that did not have pollutant loads administered would have helped to determine the source of the trace elements found in the pore water at the low and medium loadings at the Green Meadows site.

Only trace levels of dissolved As and no Pb were added to the bays at Green Meadows, but high concentrations of both of these trace elements were found in the pore water in the unplanted control bays indicating that the soil contains both mobile geologic As (Meng, 2017) and Pb. For As, the concentrations in the pore water exceed the drinking water standards. The geology of Northern Utah and much of the basin and range of the southwestern United State have geologies that are enriched in As. Conditions within the BR systems enhance solubilization of As containing minerals and long-term monitoring at these sites will be necessary to ensure that As migration to underlying aquifers is not enhanced with continued stormwater application. The concentrations of As in the pore water at Green Meadows were higher than the drinking water standard of 10µg/L while at 300 East the pore water As concentrations were below the drinking water standard, with neither site having high As concentrations applied. The potential for mobilization of trace elements from background soils in BR systems should also be considered in evaluating the feasibility and placement of BR systems in this geologic region.

The Utelite Corporation website for the expanded shale used in the Public Utilities BR system states that the shale in combination with compost, other organic amendments, or with the addition of soil, can remove "P, As, metals, grease oils and more" (UteliteTM 2019). None of these amendments were added at the Public Utilities site during construction however, and consequently the well samples from below the UteliteTM shale filter media contained higher concentrations of total As, Cu, Pb, and Zn than those found in the stormwater runoff. Results from this study vary considerably from other studies in which expanded shale with amendments was used. In studies by Ostrom and Davis (2019) and Sloan et al. (2008) their filter media containing expanded shale consistently removed Al, Cu Fe, and Zn from the influent, however, both studies included amendments added to the shale that resulted in the observed removal efficiencies. The expanded shale for the Ostrom and Davis study was from Cleveland, Ohio, produced by DiGeronimo Aggregates (Ostrom and Davis 2019) and the expanded shale from the Sloan et al. (2008) study was produced near Dallas, TX by Texas Industries. Sloan et al. (2008) added sphagnum peat moss or zeolite to the expanded shale in a greenhouse pot study and Ostrom and Davis (2019) used Al oxide based WTR with psyllium-based binder, both studies adding significant amounts of sorbing surfaces to their expanded shale media. The expanded shale used in the Public Utilities BR system was from the Coalville facility in Park City, UT, produced by the Utelite Corporation. This location may have high levels of geologic As and the process for creating the expanded shale appears to have changed the crystalline structure within the shale once it is expanded, enabling trace elements to be easily desorbed (Thiros et al. 2015). With no amendments to add sorption sites to the porous expanded shale performance at the Public Utilities site was in retrospect, likely to be poor at best.

Total Cu, Zn, and Pb concentrations in the pea gravel well water were the same as the concentrations in the runoff, indicating that the pea gravel was also ineffective at removing total Cu, Zn, and Pb at the Public Utilities site. This lack of pollutant removal by pea gravel is similar to results from previous studies that examined gravel and sand in BR systems. Gülbaz et al. (2015) reported that gravel and sand were the least effective of the media studied for removal of Cu, Zn, and Pb. The addition of soil and mulch improved the removal of Cu, Zn and Pb from the inflow, with the highest retention being for Cu (Gülbaz et al. 2015).

Arsenic release from the BR system observed at the Public Utilities site can be explained based on the water extraction results (Figure 10) which confirms that the Utelite[™] media is a source of the increased pollutant concentrations. Cu and Pb concentrations in the Utelite[™] well cannot be accounted for by the concentrations in the runoff or from the water extractions, the levels in the well are unexplainable and would need further study to determine its source. Zn concentrations in the Utelite[™] well are the same as the concentrations in the runoff, exhibiting a lack of removal similar to the pea gravel.

4. Conclusions

As the results of this study the following conclusions can be reached regarding the impact of media on BR system pollutant removal effectiveness and system performance evaluation.

 Engineered filter media within a BR system can be a significant source of pollutants and represent a potential groundwater threat. Geogenic sources of As can be released from soil by stormwater in areas where these elements exist in high concentrations within the soil.

- 2. Media and site soil should be evaluated using some form of water extraction before being used in stormwater treatment systems.
- Background soil pore water concentrations in areas adjacent to a BR system containing native or imported soils should be determined to develop a baseline from which to evaluate the true pollutant removal performance at these BR sites.
- 4. The water extraction procedure used in this study clearly indicated that significant levels of As can be mobilized from the Utelite[™] shale used at the Public Utilities site, and despite its high porosity and permeability, is not ideal when used without additional treatment amendments (compost, mulch, absorptive media).

From observation over the course of the study, the BR systems at both the 300 East and Public Utilities sites were able to contain and infiltrate all natural runoff generated during the field study, and completely eliminated large volumes of stormwater discharge to conventional stormwater systems and local surface water bodies. However, they provided significantly different levels of pollutant removal, driven by the specific media and vegetation which they contained. As seen in this study using realistic pollutant runoff concentrations measured in Northern Utah settings rather than high pollutant concentrations typical of most lab and greenhouse experiments, media choice can have a significant impact on apparent BR system performance. Careful evaluation of media and their naturally occurring background concentrations of trace metals is therefore necessary to ensure optimal stormwater treatment system design, valid BR system performance evaluation, and sustained groundwater quality protection.

References

- APHA (2012). Standard Methods for examination of water and wastewater, 22nd edition, American Public Health Association. Washington, DC.
- Charters, F.J., Cochrane, T.A., O'Sullivan, A.D. (2016). "Untreated runoff quality from roof and road surfaces in a low intensity rainfall climate." *Sci. Total Environ.*, 550:265-272.
- Cohen, T., Que Hee, S.S., Ambrose, R.F. (2001) "Trace metals in fish and invertebrates of three California coastal wetlands." *Marine Poll. Bulletin*, Vol. 42, No.3, 224-232.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Sharma, H., Minami, C. (2001a). "Laboratory study of biological retention for urban stormwater management." *Water Environ. Res*.73:5-14.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Shubei, N. (2001b). "Loading estimates of lead, copper, cadmium, and zinc in urban runoff from specific sources." *Chemosphere* 44:997-1009.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Sharma, H., Minami, C., Winogradoff, D. (2003). "Water quality improvement through bioretention: lead, copper, zinc removal." *Water Environ. Res.* 75:73-82.
- Dietz, M.E. and Clausen, J.C. (2006). "Saturation to improve pollutant retention in a rain garden." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* Vol. 40, No. 4, 1335-1340.
- Gaffield, S.J., Goo, R.L., Richards, L.A., Jackson, R.J. (2003). "Public health effects of inadequately managed stormwater runoff." *Am. J. Public Health*, Vol 93, No. 9, 1527-1533.
- Gülbaz, S., Kazezyilmaz-Alhan, C.M., Copty, N.K. (2015). "Evaluation of heavy metal removal capacity of bioretention systems." *Water Air Soil Pollut*. 226:376.
- Hatt, B.F., Deletic, A., Fletcher, T.D. (2007). "Stormwater reuse: designing biofiltration systems for reliable treatment." *Water Sci. Technol.* Vol 55 No. 4. 201-209.
- Hatt, B.F., Fletcher, T.D., Deletic, A. (2008). "Hydraulic and pollutant removal performance of fine media stormwater filtration systems." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 42:2535-2541.
- Jiang, C., Li, J., Ruan, T., Zhang, Z., Li, H. (2019). "Modified media for heavy metals and COD removal from urban stormwater runoff using pilot bioretention systems." *Pol. J. Environ. Stud.* Vol. 28, No.5: 3735-3744.

- Li, J., Jiang, C., Lei, T., Li, Y. (2016). "Experimental study and simulation of water quality purification of urban surface runoff using non-vegetated bioswales." *Ecol. Eng.* 95:706-713.
- Lim, H.S., Lim, W., Hu, J.Y., Ziegler, A., Ong, S.L. (2015). "Comparison of filter media materials for heavy metal removal from urban stormwater runoff using biofiltration systems." *J. Environ. Manage*.147:24-33.
- Lu, S.G. and Xu, Q.F. (2009). "Competitive adsorption of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn by different soils of Eastern China." *Environ. Geology*. 57:685-693.
- Meng, X., Dupont, R.R., Sorensen, D.L., Jacobson, A.R., McLean, J.E. (2017). "Mineralogy and geochemistry affecting arsenic solubility in sediment profiles from shallow basin-fill aquifer of Cache Valley Basin, Utah." *Appl. Geochem.* 77:126-141.
- Mullane, J.M., Flury, M., Iqbal, H., Freeze, P.M., Hinman, C., Cogger, C.G., Shi., Z. (2015). "Intermittent rainstorms cause pulses of nitrogen, phosphorus, and copper in leachate from compost in bioretention systems." *Sci. Total Environ.* 537:294-303.
- Muthanna, T.M.; Viklander, M.; Gjesdahl, N.; Thorolfsson, S.T. (2007). "Heavy metal removal in cold climate bioretention." *Water Air Soil Poll*. 183:391-402.
- Ostrom, T.K. and Davis, A.P. (2019). "Evaluation of an enhanced treatment media and permeable pavement base to remove stormwater nitrogen, phosphorus, and metals under simulated rainfall." *Water Res.* 166:115071.
- Patterson, K. (2019). "Arsenic release from surface soils induced by stormwater bioretention." Master's Thesis DOI: https://doi.org/10.26076/exen-n333.
- Paus, K.H., Morgan, J., Gulliver, J.S., Hozalski, R.M. (2014). Effect of bioretention media compost volume fraction on toxic metals removal, hydraulic conductivity, and phosphorus release." J. Environ. Eng. 140 (10):04014133.
- Reddy, K. R., Xie, T., Dastgheibi, S. (2014). Removal of heavy metals from urban stormwater runoff using different filter materials." J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 2:282-292.
- Ren, J., Gao, S., Tao, L., Li, H. (2016). "Pb removal using mixed substrates in a constructed laboratory-scale unvegetated vertical subsurface-flow wetland." *Pol. J. Environ. Stud.* Vol 25 No. 1, 283-290.
- Rycewicz-Borecki, M. (2015). "Stormwater bioretention: nitrogen, phosphorus and metal removal by plants," Doctoral dissertation, <u>https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/4597</u>.

- Sloan, J.J., Hegemann, M.A., George, S.A. (2008). "Dual-function growth medium and structural soil for use as porous pavement." *J. Environ. Quality* 37:2248-2255.
- Sun, X. and Davis, A.P. (2007). "Heavy metal fates in laboratory bioretention systems." *Chemosphere*, 66:1601-1609.
- Thiros, S.A., Paul, A.P., Bexfield, L.M., Anning, D.W. (2015). "The quality of our nation's waters: water quality in basin-fill aquifers of the Southwestern United States: Arizona, California, Nevada, New Mexico, and Utah, 1993-2009." USGS Circular 1358.
- Utelite Corporation (2019). "ES filter introduces ACT-MX filtering media." <u>https://www.utelite.com/products/es-filter-introduces-act-mx-filtering-media/</u> Accessed October 28, 2019.

EFFECTS OF PLANT SELECTION ON NUTRIENT AND TRACE ELEMENT REMOVAL FROM BIORETENTION SYSTEMS

CHAPTER 4

Abstract

Two field sites were used to examine the impact of vegetation selection on nutrient (N, P) and trace element (Cu, Zn, and Pb) removal from stormwater runoff. The Green Meadows site was planted with four species common to BR systems in Northern Utah and was compared to Unplanted Control Bays while the 300 East site was planted with a cabin grass mixture and was compared to a bay (Comparison Bay) that was subjected only to rainfall infiltration. Pore water samples were collected at both sites using Micro Rhizon pore water samplers. Runoff samples were collected at the 300 East site from 14 natural storm events. Four simulated storms with variable loading rates were administered at the Green Meadows site. At the Green Meadow site Planted Treatment Bays outperformed Unplanted Control Plots for all nutrient and trace metal pollutants applied in the synthetic storm events. The cabin grass mixture at 300 East site was also shown to effectively remove nutrient and trace metal pollutants from stormwater runoff. No single plant species was able to completely remove all pollutants studied.

1. Introduction

Due to anticipated changing requirements of MS4 stormwater permits to incorporate water quality monitoring into stormwater management plans, municipalities and state agencies are examining ways to improve pollutant removal from stormwater runoff using bioretention (BR) systems. Using BR systems to capture and treat stormwater runoff can decrease pollutant loads into nearby surface water or groundwater (EPA 2017a). BR systems generally consist of vegetation for uptake of nutrients and trace metals, to control erosion, and to manage infiltration; soil and filter media to maintain an optimum filtration rate for pollutant removal and reduction of peak flows; and an optional underdrain system to increase the holding time for runoff within BR systems, thereby increasing nitrogen removal via denitrification and phosphorus removal through enhanced sorption to media surfaces (Prince George's County 2007; EPA 2016b).

Vegetation within BR systems is generally selected simply for plant survivability or aesthetics. However, enhancing pollutant removal using vegetation should also be considered when selecting plants for BR systems. Studies conducted on BR systems with and without vegetation have consistently shown that vegetation maintains infiltration rates and improves pollutant removal compared to unplanted systems (Barrett et al. 2013; Rycewicz-Borecki 2015; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2016, 2017; Glaister et al. 2017). Studies have also shown that different plant types vary in their ability to remove pollutants, suggesting that pollutant removal performance may be enhanced by strategically selecting plants for BR systems (Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2008; Barrett et al. 2013; Payne et al. 2014; Leroy et al. 2016; Wu et al. 2017; RycewiczBorecki 2015, Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2016, 2017; Wang et al. 2017; Shrestha et al. 2018).

The presence of vegetation significantly increases nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) uptake compared to unplanted control plots and increases the useful life of BR systems (Lucas and Greenway 2008). Unplanted controls consistently have decreased removal ability for most nutrients when compared with BR systems with vegetation (Lucas and Greenway 2008; Barrett et al. 2013; Rycewicz-Borecki 2015; Rycewicz-Borecki, et al. 2017; Barron et al. 2019; Luo et al. 2019). In studies analyzing P removal effectiveness it has been found that without plants P can be leached from the soil and exported in the effluent. P removal is generally attributed to sorption onto particles, however when sorption sites are limited, plants are able to sequester excess P and remove it from the effluent (Lucas and Greenway 2008; Barrett et al. 2013; Glaister et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2019). Vegetated BR systems have also been shown to increase N removal from stormwater when compared to non-vegetated systems. Reported N removal ranges from 40 to 90 percent and is dependent on vegetation, media, and the presence of a water storage layer or a saturated zone (SZ) below the plant root zone which enhances denitrification (Bratieres et al. 2008; Lucas and Greenway 2008; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017; Wan et al. 2018).

For removal of total and dissolved metals in BR systems, removal effectiveness has been shown to be dependent on plant type. Read et al. (2010) compared different characteristics of plants with their ability to remove N, P and metals from soil. No characteristic was found to differentiate a plant's ability to uptake metals, as all 20 plant species that were studied were effective in removing Cu, Pb and Zn from BR influent

(Read et al. 2010). N and P removal however was correlated with root length, root mass and high growth rate, with *Carex appressa* being the most effective in nutrient removal. Leroy et al. (2016) compared two BR systems, one planted with fescue (Festuca arundinacea, Festuca rubra) and ryegrass (Lolium perenne), and another planted with macrophytes, to analyze the systems for pollutant removal. The BR system planted with macrophytes performed better than the system planted with grass cover for removal of trace elements due to the higher root density of the macrophytes retaining particulate associated trace elements. Rycewicz-Borecki et al. (2016) found that Carex species were the most efficient of six species studied (C. microptera, Helianthus maximilliana, Typha latafolia, Phragmites australis, Scirpus Validus, Scirpus acutus, Carex praegracilis) at mobilizing metal in the rhizosphere and increasing the amounts taken up into both the below ground and above ground plant material. Rycewicz-Borecki et al. (2017) also found that P. australis, C. praegracilis, and C. microptera uptake significantly more TP and TN mass into harvestable tissue than T. latifolia, S. validus, and S. acutus. These results confirm that species selection can also optimize nutrient and trace metal retention and recovery from stormwater and decrease pollutant discharge to surface waters. However, some of these species are intolerant to Northern Utah's semi-arid climate or are invasive to this region.

With removal of above ground plant material at the end of a growing season, metals and nutrients that have accumulated within the above ground vegetation can be removed from the BR system, extending its operating life (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2015). Metal concentrations in the harvested plant material would not be expected to be at dangerous levels if harvested annually due to generally low annual loading of metal pollutants in urban runoff. Consequently, this harvested biomass could be incorporated in local composting programs without concern for BR system biomass adversely affecting the quality of the finished compost product.

Despite water quality benefits and improved aesthetics provided by vegetated BR systems, stormwater managers often perceive drawbacks to these systems that include significant maintenance requirements, increased local flooding potential and standing water, or negative groundwater impacts. In a concurrent study examining views of BR systems by stormwater managers and developers in Northern Utah, Jackson-Smith (2019) surveyed stormwater managers and found that concerns regarding excessive maintenance such as mowing and trash removal, lack of acceptability to developers, and cost and land requirements were disadvantages identified to have limited installation of BR systems in this rapidly developing urban area. These perceived disadvantages of commonly planted BR systems led to an interest in this study in the effectiveness of pollutant removal by conventional turf grass mixes which were identified as an acceptable planting choice by these stormwater managers for their BR systems despite turf grass being reported in the literature to not perform as well as other vegetation types for nutrient and metal due to low biomass and limited rooting systems (Sun and Davis 2007; Sloan et al. 2008; Leroy et al. 2016; Nocco et al. 2016).

As indicated above, plants have been demonstrated in the literature to improve stormwater quality and maintaining BR system infiltration rates over time. Data are generally lacking from the Intermountain West region and for studies monitoring pollutant loading and BR system performance under field-scale runoff conditions. This study was conducted at two field sites in semi-arid Northern Utah to contribute to

knowledge regarding the pollutant removal effectiveness of infiltrating, vegetated BR systems, as a function of vegetation type. One field site received runoff from a road surface in response to natural rain events that contained a cabin-mix turf grass and ornamental pear trees considered an acceptable curbside planting scheme in urban neighborhoods in Northern Utah. The other field site contained a range of wetland and native plants common to more isolated BR systems treating runoff from large, neighborhood-scale drainage areas. Pollutant removal performance of these two systems were compared based on runoff versus pore water concentrations to determine if a turf grass planting scheme that required regular watering, fertilizer, and mowing in a semiarid, Northern Utah climate could provide comparable pollutant removal to a more conventionally configured and vegetated BR system. Previous studies at the Green Meadow field site saw an increase of As in pore water with plants in the BR systems (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2015; Patterson 2019). Geogenic sources of As are discussed in Chapter 3 of this dissertation and must be considered as a possible limiting factor in the use of BR.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Areas

The two field sites used for this study are two of the sites described in the previous chapter, the 300 East BR system and the Green Meadows field demonstration site. The 300 East BR system consisted of curb cuts and bioswales, and contained three bays that received roadway runoff and a Control Bay that did not. All bays were watered twice weekly and were planted with a cabin grass mixture, containing a species mix of soder streambank wheatgrass, roadcrest crested wheatgrass, and sheep fescue, as well as

ornamental pear trees. The Green Meadows site contained 15 bays (5ft x 15 ft 8 inches (1.5 m x 4.78 m)), with one of four plant types in each bay in triplicate: cattails (*T. latifolia*), small wing sedge (*C. microptera*), Baltic rush (*Juncus balticus*), and sunflower (*H. maximillina*), along with three unplanted control bays. The exact specifications for each location are described in Chapter 3 of this dissertation. At both locations there was no discharge to surface water and all stormwater runoff drained eventually to underlying groundwater.

The 300 East site received runoff from natural rain events over the study period. Precipitation was recorded on site using an ONSET, HOBOware® rain gauge smart sensor (S-RGA-M002) with a U30 data logging station. To collect runoff at the 300 East site, funnels were fashioned to direct water from the curb cuts into sample boxes. Composite runoff grab samples were collected from the sample boxes after each rain event. At the Green Meadows location simulated storms with varying pollutant concentrations were administered at different frequencies to simulate different antecedent dry days typical of this arid Northern Utah region. Individual simulated storm volumes were 97.25 gallons (370 L) each, with the first 10% being applied as a concentrated pollutant mixture to simulate a first flush, and the remaining volume applied with sprinkler hoses for a 30-minute period. Exact pollutant concentrations for natural and synthetic runoff are listed in Chapter 3 of this dissertation.

2.2 Pore water sampling and analysis procedures

Pore water samples were collected from the vadose zone at Green Meadows using six Micro Rhizon pore water samplers (lysimeters) (Soilmoisture Equipment Corp., Santa Barbara, CA. Soil Moisture Miniature Samplers – 1908D4.5L09), co-located in pairs at 3-6 (6 inch) inch depth (7.62 cm -15.24 cm) and 6-9 (9 inch) inch depth (15.24 cm - 22.86 cm). Each co-located pair were randomly assigned to a 1 ft² (930 cm²) section of a bay. At the 300 East location two Micro Rhizon pore water samplers were installed at depths of 12 (30.5cm) and 20 (50.8 cm) inches in both the Treatment and Control Bays. To collect pore water samples at each location a vacuum of at least 70kPa was applied to the lysimeters using a hand vacuum pump after all ponded water had infiltrated after each storm event. A 1,000 mL amber glass jar with #10 stopper was connected to each lysimeter to collect soil pore water captured by each lysimeter, and samples were collected for analysis within 24 hours after the vacuum was applied.

Upon collection, runoff and pore water samples from each location were returned to the Utah Water Research Laboratory (UWRL) and electrical conductivity (EC) and pH were measured (Table 1). Samples were filtered through a 0.2 µm filter then divided into various aliquots for analysis of total dissolved nitrogen (TDN), total dissolved phosphorus (TDP), nitrate (NO₃-N+NO₂-N), ammonia (NH₃-N), dissolved copper (Cu), dissolved zinc (Zn), dissolved arsenic (As) and dissolved lead (Pb). For total element concentrations, unfiltered water samples were digested using a hot block, nitric acid digestion using the APHA Method 330E (APHA 2012). An Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometer (ICP-MS, Agilent 7500c) was used to determine concentrations of total dissolved Cu, Zn, As, and Pb once samples were filtered, using SW-846 Method 6020a (EPA 2007b). Undigested, filtered water samples were analyzed on the AQ2 Discrete Analyzer (Seal Analytical) using Standard Method EPA 353.2 Rev 2.0 (1993) for NO₃-N+NO₂-N. Undigested, filtered water samples were analyzed for NH₃-N using the indophenol, low level method (Solorzano 1969). A 10 mL aliquot of each sample was digested using the persulfate oxidation method, modified from Valderrama (1981), for analysis of TN, TDN, TP, and TDP. Samples were then analyzed on the AQ2 using Standard Method EPA 353.2 Rev 2.0 (1993) for TN and TDN and the EPA Standard Method 365.1, Rev 2.0 (1993) for TP and TDP. Total metals and nutrients are reported for the 300 East site and dissolved metals and nutrients are reported for the Green Meadows site.

2.3 AG plant sampling and analysis procedures

Plant samples were collected from each treatment bay at Green Meadows and 300 East at the end of the field study. Above ground (AG) plant samples from both locations were cut to within 3 inches (7.62 cm) above the soil and were placed in dry, pre-weighed paper bags. Harvested wet plant weight was measured, then samples were placed into an oven at 60°C until dry, approximately 3 days. After drying, the bags were reweighed to determine the dry weight of the harvested plant material. Plant samples were ground to 0.2 mm using a Thomas-Wiley Model 4 Laboratory Mill, for analysis of trace metals, total N, and total P as described below.

Ground AG plant tissue from the two sites was analyzed at the USU Analytical Laboratory for total N content. For trace metal and P analysis, prepared plant samples were digested using the Jones and Case (1990) nitric acid, hydrogen peroxide hot block digestion method. Once digested, samples were analyzed for total metals and total phosphorus via ICP-MS using specific methods described above.

2.4 Statistical Analysis

Data collected from runoff, pore water, and plant samples were analyzed using SAS University Edition statistical program. A Box-Cox transformation analysis was

performed to determine the best transformation for each data set. Based on the Box-Cox recommendations, all data were log base 10 transformed, then an analysis of variance (ANOVA) (p<0.05) was completed. Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (Tukey's HSD) ad hoc testing was used to determine what significant differences exited among plant species pollutant removal rates at both sites, and to determine if significant differences existed between the control and the treatment areas.

In this evaluation of pollutant removal effectiveness as a function of vegetation type, runoff data were averaged over time and across Treatment Bays at the 300 East site. Statistical analysis of data from this site indicated that nutrient and trace elements pore water concentrations were not affected by storm frequency, duration, or intensity. This lack of differences among the data allowed for the use of averages for pore water concentrations across time and treatment location. At the Green Meadows site only the pore water results from the highest pollutant loading were analyzed in this paper as a worst case scenario and all other pollutant loadings were analyzed in Chapters 3 and 5 of this dissertation. Statistical analysis of nutrient and trace element pore water concentrations at both soil pore water depths at the 300 East Treatment Bays and the Green Meadows sites showed no statistical difference with depth, also allowing averaged pore water data to be used in system performance evaluation.

3. Results

3.1 Rainfall Events

At the 300 East field site, 14 individual natural storm events were sampled from September 2017 to November 2018. Storm sizes creating runoff and enabling sampling ranged from 0.1 (0.254 cm) inches to 1.24 (3.1 cm) inches with an average rainfall depth of 0.34 (0.86 cm) inches during the study period. In the Fall of 2018, two 1-year return period storms occurred, a 60-minute storm that contained 0.37 inches (0.94 cm) of rain, and a 24-hour storm, with 1.24 (3.1 cm) inches of rain. Rainfall events occurred from February to May and August to November. After November and before February precipitation in the study area fell as snow, with below freezing temperatures, prohibiting field sampling. From June to August, very little precipitation fell, and no sampling events were conducted during this period. At the Green Meadows site simulated storms were administered from June 2018 to September 2018 and four total events were used for analysis. Table 1 lists storm characteristics for both field sites.

Table 1: Storm characteristics for storm events at the 300 East and Green Meadows field sites

	300 East	Green Meadows
Dates of storms	9/2017 - 11/2018	6/2018 -9/2018
Total storm events sampled	14	4
Minimum depth	0.1 inches (0.254 cm)	
Maximum depth	1.6 inches (4.09 cm)	
Average depth	0.34 inches (0.864 cm)	0.2 inches (0.5 cm)

3.2 Pore water Concentrations

The pH and EC values measured at the two field sites in pore water lysimeter samples are listed in Table 2. Results shown are from the treatments bays at the 300 East site and from the planted bays at the Green Meadows site. All pore water samples were slightly alkaline as is typical for the Northern Utah region, and would foster sorption and precipitation of Cu, Zn, and Pb in the stormwater runoff. Conductivity values were significantly higher at the Green Meadows site due in part to the compost amendment used there. The pH of the soils and media would foster sorption and precipitation of Cu, Zn, and Pb, however, it would limit the sorption of As.

Table 2: pH and EC results \pm 95% Confidence Intervals for pore water samples collected from the two field sites monitored in this study.

	pН	EC (µS/cm)
300 East, Treatment Bays	8.0 ± 0.10	557 ± 68
Green Meadows, Vegetated Bays	7.5 ± 0.05	$2,407 \pm 110$

At the 300 East site, concentrations of TN, TP, NH₃-N, total Cu, Zn, and Pb were statistically the same across all Treatment Bay lysimeters at both depths. The pore water concentrations of TN, TP, NH₃-N, and Cu were lower than the concentration in the runoff across all storm events (Figure 1) displaying removal of pollutants. The Zn and NO₃-N+NO₂-N concentration was the same in the pore water as the runoff (Figure 1). Arsenic concentrations were the same in the pore water for the treatment and comparison bays, and in the runoff. These results indicate that most pollutants were attenuated in the 300 East BR system in the upper turf grass/soil zone before reaching the 12-inch (30.5 cm) lysimeter depth.



Figure 1: 300 East a. Nutrient runoff and pore water concentrations. b. Total trace element runoff and pore water concentrations. Letters indicate significant difference at $p \le 0.05$ based on ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Table 3 lists the pore water concentration results from the treatment bays

compared to the comparison bay at the 300 East site. The pore water concentrations in the

comparison bay is either higher or the same as the pore water concentration in the

treatment bays for all pollutants, indicating that the source of the pollutants is the soil.

Table 3: Comparison of pore water concentrations between treatment bays and comparison
bay. Letters incidate significant difference at $p \le 0.05$ based on ANOVA with Tukey's
HSD post-hoc test results. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.

	Treatment	Comparison		
	Bays	bay		
TN	1.09 (b)	2.40 (a)		
ТР	0.36 (b)	1.56 (a)		
NO ₃ -N+NO ₂ -N	0.23 (a)	0.69 (a)		
NH ₃ -N	0.13 (a)	0.11 (a)		
Total Cu	11.2 (a)	19.1 (a)		
Total Zn	111 (a)	53.9 (a)		
Total As	2.35 (b)	5.21 (a)		
Total Pb	1.15 (a)	1.89 (a)		

Data from all planted bays receiving the highest pollutant load at the Green

Meadows site were combined and compared to the unplanted Control Bays to evaluate

pollutant removal as affected by the presence of vegetation at this field site. Dissolved Cu, Zn, Pb, NH₃-N, NO₃+NO₂-N, TDP, and TDN all had significantly lower concentrations in pore water in the planted bays compared to pore water concentrations in the unplanted control bays (Figure 2). Dissolved Zn, dissolved Cu, TDP, and NH₃-N applied concentrations were higher than those found in pore water of the planted bays (Figure 2a, b, c). The concentrations of TDN, NO₃+NO₂-N, and, Pb are same in the applied stormwater and the planted bays, but lower in the Unplanted Control Bays, which shows assimilation of pollutants by the vegetation within the system. The removal of trace metal pollutants at lower concentrations are discussed in Chapter 3 of this dissertation, while overall pollutant removal as a function of applied loading rates is discussed in Chapter 5 of this dissertation. Arsenic concentrations in the Planted Bays were statistically higher than concentrations found in the Control Bays (Figure 2a), both being higher than the applied concentration. TDP concentrations in the pore water were higher in the Control Bays than the Planted Bays at the highest loading rate (Figure 2c). The concentration of dissolved Pb in the pore water was the same in the unvegetated Control Bays and the Planted Bays, both of which were higher than the applied amount, indicating the presence of low levels of solubilized Pb in the BR system soil (Figure 2b).



Figure 2: Pore water concentrations in planted treatments and unplanted controls at the Green Meadows field site.a. As and Zn, b. Cu and Pb, c. NH₃-N and TDP, d. NO₃-N + NO₂-N and TDN. Letters indicates significant difference at $p \le 0.05$ based on ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results. Error bars indicate 95% confidence interval.

NO₃-N + NO₂-N, TDN, TDP, dissolved Zn and dissolved Pb pore water

concentrations were not statistically different among plant types (data not presented). Cu pore water concentrations were significantly higher in sunflower and cattail treatments than in sedge and Baltic rush treatment bays (Figure 3a). NH₃-N and dissolved As pore water concentrations were statistically highest in the sedge and sunflower bays and lowest in the rush and cattail bays (Figure 3b, 3c).



Figure 3: Concentrations in pore water at Green Meadows by plant type for dissolved a. Cu, b. As, and c. NH₃-N. Letters incidate significant difference at $p\leq0.05$ based on ANOVA and Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results. Error bars indicate 95% confidence interval.

3.3 Above Ground Plant Tissue

AG plant tissue for sedge, rush, and cattail at Green Meadows and for mixed grass species at the 300 East site were analyzed for nutrients and trace element concentrations (Table 4). Sunflower AG plant tissue was not analyzed due to a similarity in pollutant removal to other species in the study and project cost constraints. Statistically, concentrations of TP within the AG plant material were higher in sedge than in cattail, with all other plants being the same. Sedge contained the statistically highest concentrations of As among all plant types, while Pb concentrations were highest in the sedge and grass. Zn concentrations were highest in the sedge and rush AG plant tissue, while the grass samples were statistically the same to sedge, rush and cattail. Cu concentrations were lowest in the cattail, with all other plant types being statistically the same. TN percentages were statistically highest in the grass AG plant tissue samples, all

BR AG plant tissue samples contained the same percentage of TN.

Table 4: Summary statistics for nutrients and trace element concentrations for AG plant material as a function of plant type measured at the end of the study period. Letters indicate significant difference at $p \le 0.05$ based on ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc test results.

			TP	TN	Cu	Zn	As	Pb
		Units	mg/kg	%	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg
Green Meadows	Sedge	Min	2,511	0.81	3.10	12.28	0.86	0.09
		Max	4,320	1.6	10.0	86.58	7.28	0.74
		Average	3,311 ^a	1.2 ^b	5.59 ª	38.76 ª	2.77 ^a	0.31 ^a
		95% CI	±302	±0.14	±0.96	±15.9	± 1.0	±0.23
		Min	1,729	0.92	3.2	22.2	0.06	0.04
	Rush	Max	3,545	1.3	6.8	91.6	1.6	0.24
		Average	2,424 ^{a,b}	1.1 ^b	4.7 ^a	48.8 ^a	0.43 ^b	0.10 ^b
		95% CI	±303	±0.06	±0.64	±15.2	±0.29	±0.06
	Cattail	Min	998	0.58	1.4	9.2	0.14	0.02
		Max	3,411	1.3	2.9	18.7	0.67	0.1
		Average	2,264 ^b	0.91 ^b	2.4 ^b	12.3 ^b	0.29 ^b	0.04 ^b
		95% CI	±418	±0.15	±0.26	±1.6	±0.07	±0.03
300 East	Grass	Min	2,087	1.78	4.7	20.2	0.12	0.29
		Max	2,864	1.98	6.4	27.3	0.14	0.36
		Average	2,554 ^{a,b}	1.86 ^a	5.7 ^a	24.5 ^{a,b}	0.13 ^b	0.34 ^a
		95% CI	±466	±0.12	±1.0	±4.3	±0.01	±0.05

4. Discussion

The simple curb cut with turf grass and pear trees BR system at the 300 East site was shown to remove nutrients and trace metals from stormwater runoff as it infiltrated through the soil profile and was removed by plant uptake. This BR system removed TN, TP, NO₃-N, NH₃-N, and total Cu, total Zn and total Pb as has been shown from other studies that included vegetation in their BR systems (Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2008, 2010; Zhang et al. 2011; Borin and Salvato 2012; Barrett et al. 2013; Rycewicz-

Borecki 2015; Glaister et al. 2016). Grass swales in previous studies have not been shown to significantly reduce pollutant loads similar to BR systems with BR specific plants, likely due to the low biomass and shallow rooting systems found in turf grass (Sun and Davis 2007; Leroy et al. 2016; Nocco et al. 2016). The results observed at the 300 East location indicate, however, that the removal of pollutants with a turf grass mixture in a BR system is highly effective when exposed to pollutant loadings measured in this study. The removal of pollutants through the upper soil layers and root zone can be accomplished with this turf grass mixture, which performed similar to BR specific plants observed in this study. Suggesting that the grass mixture and the BR specific plants will all work for pollutant removal in BR systems.

Vegetation is important for the removal of N species within a BR system. Payne et al. (2014), Rycewicz-Borecki (2015), Wang et al. (2017), and Vroom et al. (2018) found that planted systems performed better than the unplanted controls for NO₃-N removal in BR systems. Barron et al. (2019) saw high N removal (>75%) where all vegetated columns outperformed the unvegetated columns for NO₃-N, NH₃-N and TDN removal. Read et al. (2008), Borin and Salvato (2012), Zhang et al. (2011), Wang et al. (2017), and Barron et al. (2019) all found that the TDN removal efficiency in vegetated treatments was significantly higher than in unvegetated plots. Results observed in this study of high N species removal efficiency by the turfgrass mix at 300 East and Planted Bays versus Unplanted Control Bays at the Green Meadows site support these findings from the literature that vegetation provides significant N removal when used in BR systems under Northern Utah climate and pollutant loading conditions.

Several previous studies have shown that the presence of plants also improves TP and TDP removal in BR systems. Read et al. (2008), Bratieres et al. (2008), Lucas and Greenway (2008), Barrett et al. (2013), and Glaister et al. (2016, 2017) all saw improved TP and TDP removal with vegetation compared to systems without vegetation. At the 300 East location there was complete removal of TP from the runoff based on pore water concentrations observed at the site's Comparison Bay. At the Green Meadows site, the applied concentration of TDP was found to be statistically the same as the pore water concentrations in Unplanted Control Bays but statistically higher than the Planted Bays (Figure 2), suggesting enhanced TDP removal by the planted treatments as was observed at the 300 East site.

With regard to specific vegetation for pollutant removal, previous studies have reported no specific plant species is able to remove all pollutants of concern (Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2008; Read et al. 2010; Barron et al. 2019). However, various studies have found that different plants do improve removal for portions of the pollutant load entering a BR system and a combination of plant species would be most effective for complete pollutant removal (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2015; Zhang et al 2011; Wu et al. 2017). These results are similar to those found in the current study, with cattail and rush performing best for NH₃-N removal and sedge and rush performing best for Cu removal. Sedge and rush species have been identified as species that improve pollutant removal for nutrients and trace metals in BR system due to high biomass and fibrous root structure (Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2010). The difference in the ability of plants to uptake nutrients and mobilize As demonstrates that a variety of plants in a BR system would be optimal for overall pollutant removal. The interaction of plants with existing As in the soil necessitates evaluating the media to be installed within a BR system and evaluation for the placement of these systems as discussed in Chapter 3 of this dissertation.

The range of plant tissue concentrations of TP and TN and Cu and Zn found in this study are similar to that found in previous studies (Liu et al. 2007; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2015). Arsenic and Pb concentrations were highest in sedge, showing that sedge is adept at uptake of these two trace elements, however, root exudates produced by all plant species studied at the Green Meadows site, especially sedge and sunflower, appear to cause increased concentrations of As observed in the pore water at the Green Meadows site. Lower pore water concentrations of As in rush and cattail corresponded to less uptake by those species in their AG tissue.

The AG plant tissue analysis (Table 2) demonstrated that the cabin grass mixture was equally efficient at pollutant uptake for most nutrients and trace elements as BR specific plants studied at the Green Meadows site. The cabin grass mixture had a higher percentage of TN than any of the BR specific AG plant material. Sedge contained the highest As concentration among all plant types, while sedge and the grass mixture contained the highest concentrations of Pb. Plants used in BR systems that are able to incorporate nutrients and trace metals into the AG plant tissue can extend the lifespan of these BR systems and should be considered when selecting plants to optimize BR system performance. With removal of AG plant material at the end of a growing season, or on a regular frequency during the growing season as seen at the 300 East site, nutrients and trace elements that have accumulated within the vegetation can be removed from the BR system, extending its operating life (Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2015). Based on results from this study as summarized in Table 2, sedge and rush from the Green Meadows site

and the mixed grass species from the 300 East site all demonstrate pollutant enrichment in their above ground tissue that can be used to control pollutant accumulation over time in stormwater BR systems.

5. Conclusions

Based on the findings from this study, the following conclusions can be reached:

1. Results from the 300 East site confirm that a range of elements and nutrients can be removed from stormwater by turf grass vegetated BR systems that stormwater managers find acceptable for implementation in urban settings.

2. Results from the Green Meadows site comparing vegetated and non-vegetated treatment plot performance verified that plants improve TDN, NO₃-N + NO₂-N, NH₃-N, TDP, Cu, Pb, and Zn removal through plant uptake and retention in soil when compared to unplanted controls in the semi-arid Northern Utah climate.

3. Plant types evaluated at this field site (cattails, sedge, Baltic rush, and sunflower) did not perform significantly different for the removal of TDP, TDN, NO₃-N + NO₂-N or Zn from pore water. Sedge and rush did perform best for Cu removal, while for NH₃-N removal, cattails performed better than sedge. Arsenic was released in these planted BR systems due to plant solubilization of As from the native soil and not effectively taking up the released As into their biomass. An additional consideration for plant species selection for BR systems, AG plant tissue pollutant concentration, would suggest that sedge and rush from the Green Meadows site and the mixed grass species from the 300 East site all can be used to control pollutant accumulation over time in stormwater BR systems.

5. Finally, this study has shown the importance of evaluating unintended consequences of placing BR system in areas with geogenic source of As or other mobile metals. It is necessary to evaluate the leaching potential of BR media and native soils that can be affected by stormwater and vegetation used in BR systems for stormwater treatment to ensure long-term groundwater protection. A discussion of media effects on stormwater BR system pore water quality, and evaluation of groundwater contamination potential from the BR systems based on elevated pore water concentrations evaluated in this study is provided in Chapter 3 of this dissertation.

References

- APHA (2012). Standard Methods for examination of water and wastewater, 22nd edition, American Public Health Association. Washington, DC.
- Barrett, M.E., Limouzin, M., Lawler, D.F. (2013). "Effects of media and plant selection on biofiltration performance." J. Environ. Eng. 139(4): 462-470.
- Barron, N.J., Deletic, A., Jung, J., Fowdar, H., Chen, Y. (2019). "Dual-mode stormwatergreywater biofilters: The impact of alternating water sources on treatment performance." *Water Res.* 159:521-537.
- Borin, M. and Salvato, M. (2012). "Effects of five macrophytes on nitrogen remediation and mass balance in wetland mesocosms." *Ecol. Eng.* 46(2012) 34-42.
- Bratieres, K., Fletcher, T.D., Deletic, A., Zinger, Y. (2008). "Nutrient and sediment removal by stormwater biofilters: A large-scale design optimisation study." *Water Res.* 42:3930-3940.
- Cording, A., Hurley, S., Adair, C. (2018). "Influence of critical bioretention design factors and projected increases in precipitation due to climate change on roadside bioretention performance." J. Environ. Eng. 144(9):04018082.
- Dietz, M.E. and Clausen, J.C. (2006). "Saturation to improve pollutant retention in a rain garden." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* Vol. 40, No. 4, 1335-1340.
- Glaister, B.J. Fletcher, T.D. Cook, P.L.M. Hatt, B.E. (2016). "Intra-event nutrient removal dynamics in stormwater biofilters: the influence of system design." *NOVATECH*.
- Glaister, B.J. Fletcher, T.D. Cook, P.L.M. Hatt, B.E. (2017). "Interactions between design, plant growth and treatment performance of stormwater biofilters." *Ecol. Eng*.105:21-31.
- Jackson-Smith, D. (2021). "Assessment of stormwater harvesting via managed aquifer recharge (mar) to develop new water supplies in the arid west: the Salt Lake Valley example." National Center for Environmental Research, US Environmental Protection Agency.
- Leroy, M-C., Portet-Koltalo, F., Legras, M., Lederf, F., Moncond'huy, V., Polaert, I., Marcotte, S. (2016). "Performance of vegetated swales for improving road runoff quality in a moderate traffic urban area." *Sci. Total Environ.* 566-567:113-121.

- Liu, J., Dong, Y., Xu, H., Wang, D., Xu, J. (2007) "Accumulation of Cd, Pb, and Zn by 19 wetland plant species in constructed wetland." *J. Hazard. Mater.s* 147:947-953.
- Lucas, W.C. and Greenway, M. (2008). "Nutrient retention in vegetated and nonvegetated bioretention mesocosms." *J. Irrig. Drain. Eng.* Vol. 134, No. 5, 613-623.
- Luo, Y., Sun, S., Zhang. H. (2019). "Effectiveness of various wetland vegetation species on mitigating water pollution from highway runoff." *Water Environ. Fed.* 91:906-917.
- Nocco, M.A., Rouse, S.E., Balster, N.J. (2016). "Vegetation type alters water and nitrogen budgets in a controlled, replicated experiment on residential-sized rain gardens planted with prairie, shrub and turfgrass." *Urban Ecosystem* 19:1665-1691.
- Patterson, K. (2019). "Arsenic release from surface soils induced by stormwater bioretention." Master's Thesis, DOI:https://doi.org/10.26076/exen-n333
- Payne, E.G.I., Fletcher, T.D., Russell, D.G., Grace, M.R., Cavagnaro, T.R., Evrard, V., Deletic, A., Hatt, B.E., Cook, P.L.M. (2014). "Temporary storage or permanent removal? the division of nitrogen between biotic assimilation and denitrification in stormwater biofiltration systems." *PLOS ONE*, Volume 9, Issue 3.
- Prince George's County, MD. (2007). *Bioretention Manual*, Environmental Services Division, Department of Environmental Resources.
- Read, J., Fletcher, T.D., Wevill, T., Deletic, A. (2010). "Plant traits that enhance pollutant removal from stormwater in biofiltration systems." *Int. J. Phytoremediation* 12:34-53.
- Read, J., Wevill, T., Fletcher, T., Deletic, A. (2008). "Variation among plant species in pollutant removal from stormwater in biofiltration systems." *Water Res.* 42,893-902.
- Rycewicz-Borecki, M. (2015). "Stormwater bioretention: nitrogen, phosphorus and metal removal by plants," Doctoral dissertation, https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/4597.
- Rycewicz-Borecki, M., McLean, J., Dupont, R.R. (2016). "Bioaccumulation of copper, lead, and zinc in six macrophyte species grown in simulated stormwater bioretention systems." *J. Environ. Manage.* 166:267-275.

- Rycewicz-Borecki, M., McLean, J., Dupont, R.R. (2017). "Nitrogen and phosphorus mass balance, retention and uptake in six plant species grown in stormwater bioretention microcosms." *Ecol. Eng.* Vol 99: 409-416.
- Shrestha, P., Hurley, S.E., Wemple, B.C. (2018). "Effects of different soil media, vegetation, and hydrological treatments on nutrients and sediment removal in roadside bioretention systems." *Ecol. Eng.* Vol. 112:116-131.
- Sloan, J.J., Hegemann, M.A., George, S.A. (2008). "Dual-function growth medium and structural soil for use as porous pavement." *J. Environ. Quality* 37:2248-2255.
- Sun, X. and Davis, A.P. (2007). "Heavy metal fates in laboratory bioretention systems." *Chemosphere* 66:1601-1609.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (2016B). "Green infrastructure design and implementation." <u>https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/green-infrastructure-design-and-implementation</u>. Accessed September 11, 2017.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (2017). National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). "Stormwater rules and notices."
- Vroom, R.J.E., Xie, F., Geurts, J.J.M., Chojnowska, A., Smolder, A.J.P., Lamers, L.P.M., Fristz, C. (2018). "Typha latifolia paludiculture effectively improves water quality and reduces greenhouse gas emissions in rewetted peatlands." *Ecol. Eng.* 124:88-98.
- Wang, S., Lin, X., Yu, H., Wang, Z., Xia, H., An, J., Fan, G. (2017). "Nitrogen removal from urban stormwater runoff by stepped bioretention systems." *Ecol. Eng.* 106 (2017)340-348.
- Zhang, Z., Rengel, Z., Liaghati, T., Antonette, T., Meney, K. (2011). "Influence of plant species and submerged zone with carbon addition on nutrient removal in stormwater biofilter." *Ecol. Eng.* 37:1833-1841.

CHAPTER 5

POLLUTANT REMOVAL IN BIORETENTION SYSTEMS AS A FUNCTION OF VARIABLE LOADING

Abstract

Pollutant loadings at two field sites in Northern Utah were analyzed for this study. The 300 East site was vegetated with a cabin grass mixture, experienced 14 natural rain events and included a Comparison Bay that did not receive runoff from adjacent roadway pavement. The Green Meadows site included planted and unplanted control bays and was subjected to four synthetic stormwater events at three pollutant loading rates. Pore water samples were collected and nutrient and Cu and Zn concentrations were compared to pollutant loading and pore water from the control treatments. The two sites effectively assimilated pollutants from natural or simulated storm events up to the peak loadings administered. Pore water concentrations generally reflected nutrient and trace metal concentrations generated by the media and were not related to stormwater pollutant loading. BR system sizing can be carried out from maximum pollutant loading rates applied to the sites, ensuring protection of groundwater resources from pollutant contamination in stormwater runoff in Northern Utah settings for the pollutants evaluated in this study.

1. Introduction

Urbanization has increased the amount of stormwater runoff by increasing the proportion of impermeable surfaces in these developed areas, creating a need to expand stormwater runoff capture and treatment to ensure minimal impacts to a receiving surface water body or groundwater. An increase in runoff creates an increase in pollutant loadings as the water flows over lawns, parking lots, roads, sidewalks and roofs. The pollutants found in these areas come from lawn fertilizer, pesticides, tire wear, brakes, engine lubricants, auto exhaust, etc. (Davis et al. 2001b; Charters et al. 2016). Some of the pollutants of concern in stormwater include nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), copper (Cu), lead (Pb) and zinc (Zn). These pollutants should be removed before water can be used for groundwater recharge or be allowed to enter surface water.

Bioretention (BR) systems are considered best management practices by the EPA for pollutant removal which occurs by settling, filtration, adsorption and/or plant uptake (EPA 1999; Prince George's County 2007; EPA 2016). Many studies have been completed verifying the ability of BR systems to remove pollutants, including nutrients, trace metals, and suspended solids from stormwater runoff (Davis et al. 2001a; Davis et al. 2001b; Davis et al. 2003; Sun and Davis 2007; Bratieres et al. 2008; Read et al. 2008; Barrett et al. 2013; Rycewicz-Borecki et al. 2017; Glaister et al. 2017; Shrestha et al. 2018). But pollutant event mean concentrations (EMCs) found in stormwater vary nationally, and temporally, depending on region, season, antecedent dry days, storm volume or intensity, catchment size, and land use, along with several other basin characteristics (EPA 2007). Determining pollutant EMCs and corresponding pollutant loadings for a given area can ensure effective pollutant removal by BR systems when
these systems are designed and sized to mitigate the loads that may be encountered. The regionally specific nature of pollutant loadings was particularly evident from the results of Fernandez-Valesquez (2018) that evaluated the use of the WinSLAMM stormwater modeling package for the Northern Utah region. The WinSLAMM model uses regionally specific input parameters that include pollutant probability distributions, particulate solids loadings, and runoff coefficients. Most of these default data were collected in the East Coast and the Great Lakes area, and essentially none were generated in locations hydrologically similar to the Intermountain Region. Fernandez-Valesquez (2018) found that default regional parameters in WinSLAMM did not adequately describe runoff and pollutant loading characteristics in the Cache Valley area of Northern Utah, and that Cache Valley calibrated runoff and pollutant loading parameter files did not accurately represent runoff and loading conditions in the Salt Lake Valley.

Removal of nutrients and trace metals by laboratory scale BR systems have been analyzed with the administration of different pollutant loads. Sun and Davis (2007) studied trace metal removal at two loading regimes in a laboratory bioretention system using three grass species; the high concentration was removed by sorption to the media while plant uptake was reported to be predominant at the low concentration. Barron et al. (2019) used a planted column study to determine the impact of gray water (high pollutant concentration) on a BR system's pollutant removal abilities combined with events using simulated stormwater (lower pollutant concentration). Their system showed effective removal of nutrients and metals regardless of the water applied; the selection of plant species, however, was important in the success of these systems.

While lab studies show limited effects of loading, the field study reported by Shrestha et al. (2018) analyzed the performance of eight BR systems receiving roadside runoff in Vermont and did show some effect of loading rate on pollutant removal. The BR systems contained a variety of treatments including two plant varieties (low density with two plant species, and high density with seven plant species), two cells with SorbtiveMediaTM to increase P removal, and two cells received additional enhanced rainfall along with runoff that all bays received. Fifty individual storms were sampled with a range of small and large sized storms, with small storms making up 79% of the total. The authors report that the smaller storms showed over 60% removal for total N species but the removal of nutrients was mostly through the reduction of runoff, not the reduction in concentrations of input, while large storms always showed negative removal for N and P (Shrestha et al. 2018). Examining EMCs and loads data together, the authors concluded that the effects of vegetation and enhanced rainfall treatments were minimal compared to the soil media effects. The same research group (Cording et al. 2018) reported removal of nonlabile N and P, but labile N and P from the compost amended soil exceeded the mass load associated with the stormwater.

This study examined the impact of different field measured loading rates specific to the Northern Utah region on the pollutant removal efficiency at two vegetated BR field sites to develop pollutant loading criteria for future regional BR system design. One field site was planted with vegetation common to BR systems in the region and was exposed to simulated storms, while the other was planted with turf grass and ornamental trees and exposed to natural storm events.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Areas

Site 1, the 300 East site, is a BR system along a residential street in Logan, UT that contains a series of curb cuts to direct runoff into four vegetated bioswales during storm events. The entire system drains the west half of an asphalt paved road for one block encompassing a total drainage area of approximately 6,400 ft² (0.059 hectares). One additional bay was isolated from runoff with an elevated berm and was used as a comparison bay since it did not receive runoff from the street.

Site 2, the Green Meadows site, was an existing stormwater field demonstration site in a southwest neighborhood of Logan, UT. The site was originally constructed to collect and treat stormwater from a 25-acre portion of the Green Meadows subdivision. Fifteen bays (5 feet (1.5 m) wide by 15 feet 8 inches (4.78 m) long) established with four triplicate plant species and three non-vegetated control bays, were used in this study. The triplicate planted bays were randomly assigned and each contained a single plant species that included: cattails (*Typha latifolia*), small wing sedge (*Carex microptera*), Baltic rush (*Juncus balticus*), and sunflower (*Helianthis maximillina*) Exact specifications for each BR system's area are included in Chapter 3.

A total of 14 natural storm events were sampled at the 300 East site from September 2017 to November 2018, while results from four simulated rainfall events at three loading rates administered at the Green Meadows site from June to September 2018 were included in this study. For the simulated storms, concentrations of trace elements, phosphorus, and nitrogen species for a low loading event were calculated using EMC data collected from runoff from various locations throughout Logan, UT. Medium and high loadings at this site were scaled by a factor of 1.86 and 3.25, respectively, from the low loading rate based on historical rainfall characteristics in the study area.

2.2 Storm sizes and pollutant loading.

At the 300 East site, precipitation data were recorded using an ONSET, HOBOware® rain gauge smart sensor (S-RGA-M002) with a U30 data logging station. Any rain event data that were missing due to rain gauge malfunctions were supplied by the Utah Climate Center (USU, UCC, 2019). The weather station used was from the Logan Cache Airport station (station ID USW00094128) located within 3.7 miles (6 km) of the site.

At the Green Meadows site, synthetic storms were administered at three pollutant loads, with individual storm volume simulating the 3 month, 45-minute storm, 0.202 inches (0.513 cm) of rain in Logan, UT. This design storm resulted in a total volume per individual storm of 97.25 gallons (370 L) per plot. The first flush, assumed to be the first 10 percent of a storm (9.7 gallons, 37 L), contained the entire concentrated pollutant load, and was administered uniformly to each treatment plot using a hose end sprayer with a flow rate of 0.63 gal/min (2.4 L/min). Pollutant mixtures were made in Logan City tap water. The remaining volume of the storm was administered using sprinkler hoses attached to a frame temporarily placed on top of each plot.

Three loading rates were administered at the Green Meadows site at different storm frequencies during the study to represent varying pollutant loadings created by different antecedent dry day storms. Final synthetic storm concentrations (Table 1) were calculated based on EMC data plus background nutrient and trace element concentrations contributed by Logan City tap water. Individual storm and total pollutant loads applied to each bay over the duration of the study are shown in Table 1 for each loading rate. The medium and high loading rate concentrations for each simulated storm were scaled from the low loading rate storm, assuming that the increase in loading would be due to an increase in days between events. Thirteen applications of the low loading rate storm every 5 days, seven of the medium loading rate storm every 11 days, and four of the high loading rate storm every 23 days, were conducted over the course of the study. Because of the frequency of storm events, as shown in Table 1, the total pollutant load administered over the study period was actually highest for the low storm loading event compared to the high storm loading event due to background concentrations of most of the pollutants in the synthetic storm water (Logan City tap water) applied at the site. Samples were collected and analyzed from replicate field plots when all storm frequencies coincided, resulting in four total sampling events over the course of the study.

	Event M Concent	Aean ration	Total pollu	each bay per	Total pollutant load for entire	
Analyte	Average	n	low	(mg)		
TDN	4.00 mg/L	165	1,487	2,116	3,152	19,332; 14,812; 12,608
NO ₃ -N	1.60 mg/L	112	594	870	1,326	7,717; 6,093; 5,305

Table 1: Pollutant loading for low, medium, and high loading rate simulated storms at the Green Meadows field site. Organic-N was added as urea.

	Event N Concent	/lean ration	Total pollu	tant load for a storm (mg)	each bay per	Total pollutant load for entire
Analyte	Average	n	low	medium	high	(mg)
NH3-N	0.62 mg/L	114	231	422	738	2,997; 2,957; 2,953
Organic-N	0.51 mg/L	24	189	349	613	2,453
TDP	0.28 mg/L	304	105	171	280	1,363; 1,196; 1,119
Cu	10.2 µg/L	167	3.8	6.0	49.1; 42.0; 38.7	
Zn	67.6 µg/L	169	25.0	36.5	55.5	325; 256; 222

2.3 Pore water sampling and analysis procedures

To collect runoff from storm events entering each bay at the 300 East site, funnels were fashioned from sheet metal and collapsible plumbers tubing to direct water into 16quart (16.75 inches x 11.88 inches x 7 inches, [42.5 cm x 30.2 cm x 17.8 cm]) polystyrene (SteriliteTM) sample boxes from the curb cuts. A 2-inch baffle was inserted in the sample boxes to create a collection area with a v-notch to allow flow to continue during storm event. Composite runoff grab samples were collected from the sample boxes after each rain event was complete. For pore water sampling, two Micro Rhizon pore water samplers (Soilmoisture Equipment Corp., Santa Barbara, CA. Soil Moisture Miniature Samplers – 1908D4.5L09) were installed at depths of 12 (30.5cm) and 20 (50.8 cm) inches in each bay, including the control bay. Samplers were installed per manufacturer instructions within 6 to 12 inches (15.2 cm – 30.5 cm) from the end of the concrete apron of each curb cut. Each lysimeter was connected to a length of plastic tubing with a Luer-LockTM connector. The lysimeters were made of a porous polymer, internally strengthened by a wire or plastic fiber. The porous portion of the lysimeter was 3.5 inches (8.9 cm) long with an outer diameter of 0.98 (2.5 cm) inches and an inner diameter of 0.06 inches (0.15 cm). A vacuum of at least 70kPa was applied to each of the lysimeters using a hand vacuum pump after all ponded water had infiltrated following each storm event. Samples from the Comparison Bay at the 300 East site were limited due to lack of runoff infiltration.

At the Green Meadows site, each bay was instrumented with six Micro Rhizon pore water samplers using installation procedures per manufacturer instructions. Three pore water samplers were installed within each bay to a depth of approximately 3-6 inches (7.62 cm -15.24 cm) and three installed to a depth of 6-9 inches (15.24 cm - 22.86 cm). Each pair of lysimeters were co-located in a randomly assigned 1 ft² (930 cm²) section of a bay, creating three pairs in each treatment bay. A vacuum of at least 70kPa was applied to each of the lysimeters using a hand vacuum pump after all ponded water had infiltrated following each simulated storm event. A 500 mL amber glass jar with #10 stopper was connected to each lysimeter to collect soil pore water captured by each lysimeter. All samples were taken to the Environmental Quality Laboratory at the UWRL for analysis.

2.4 Sample analysis, Pore water samples

Samples were analyzed for total nitrogen (TN), total dissolved nitrogen (TDN), total phosphorus (TP) total dissolved phosphorus (TDP), ammonia-N (NH₃-N), nitrate-N (NO₃-N), and total and dissolved metals. Undigested, filtered pore water samples were analyzed on an AQ2 Discrete Analyzer (Seal Analytical) using Standard Method EPA 353.2 Rev 2.0 (1993) for NO₃-N+NO₂-N. Undigested, filtered samples were also analyzed on an inductively coupled mass spectrometer (ICP-MS) (Agilent 7700x) for dissolved metals (EPA Method 6020). For total metal concentrations, water samples were digested using a hot block, nitric acid digestion for total As, Cu, and Zn, using the APHA Method 330E (APHA 1999). Undigested, filtered samples were analyzed for NH₃-N using the indophenol, low level method (Solorzano 1969). A 10 mL aliquot of the sample was digested using the persulfate oxidation method, modified from Valderrama (1981), for analysis of TN, TDN, TP, and TDP. Samples were then analyzed on an AQ2 using Standard Method EPA 353.2 Rev 2.0 (1993) for TN and TDN and the EPA Standard Method 365.1, Rev 2.0 (1993) for TP and TDP. Total metals and nutrients are reported for 300 E and dissolved metals and nutrients for Green Meadows.

2.5 Data analysis

Potential impact to groundwater was determined by analyzing the concentration of pollutants found in pore water compared to the pollutant loadings applied during natural or synthetic storm events. Percent removal efficiency was calculated using the runoff concentrations at each location and concentrations found in the BR system pore water. Comparisons were made among the three loading regimes at Green Meadows. Linear regression analyses were completed to determine relationships between pollutant loading normalized to the BR system treatment area and the pollutant pore water concentrations measured in these BR systems.

3. Results

3.1 Precipitation data

Samples were collected from the 300 East location with an average precipitation depth of 0.34 inches (0.864 cm). The storm events ranged in depth from 0.1 inches (0.254 cm) to 1.6 inches (0.4.09 cm) from September 2017 to November 2018. Four total

synthetic storm events were sampled at the Green Meadows site with total storm characteristics (Table 1) for the low, medium and high loading rate storms.

3.2 Runoff concentrations and pollutant loading rates

Table 2 shows a summary of average pollutant concentrations in the synthetic runoff at the Low, High, and Medium Loading Rate applied at the Green Meadows site, along with the minimum, maximum, and EMC pollutant concentrations measured in the natural storm runoff observed at the 300 East site during this study. Table 2 also shows the corresponding pollutant loadings to the BR systems in units of g/hectare of treatment surface area reflecting pollutant runoff concentrations and loadings reflective of Northern Utah conditions.

 Table 2: Summary of nutrient and trace element concentrations and corresponding loading rates measured in stormwater runoff and applied during simulated storms throughout the study period at the Green Meadows and 300 East study sites.

 TDN
 TDP
 NO2-N
 NH2-N
 Cu
 Zn

			1011	101	110511	1111311	Cu	211
	a i	Low	4.0	0.28	1.6	0.62	0.010	0.068
GM	Concentration mg/I	High	8.5	0.76	3.6	2.0	0.026	0.150
	iiig/L	Medium	5.7	0.46	2.4	1.1	0.016	0.098
	x 1	Low	2,040	144	814	316	5.2	34.3
	Load g/bectare	High	4,324	384	1,819	1,013	13.3	76.1
	g/neetare	Medium	2,903	234	1,194	579	8.2	50.1
			TN	TP	NO ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N	Total Cu	Total Zn
		Minimum	TN 0.28	TP 0.06	NO ₃ -N 0.05	NH ₃ -N 0.01	Total Cu 0.004	Total Zn 0.02
	Concentration	Minimum Maximum	TN 0.28 21.1	TP 0.06 4.4	NO ₃ -N 0.05 1.41	NH ₃ -N 0.01 8.1	Total Cu 0.004 0.22	Total Zn 0.02 1.9
200 E	Concentration mg/L	Minimum Maximum EMC	TN 0.28 21.1 3.7	TP 0.06 4.4 0.91	NO ₃ -N 0.05 1.41 0.35	NH ₃ -N 0.01 8.1 0.81	Total Cu 0.004 0.22 0.039	Total Zn 0.02 1.9 0.24
300 E	Concentration mg/L	Minimum Maximum EMC Minimum	TN 0.28 21.1 3.7 106	TP 0.06 4.4 0.91 16.4	NO ₃ -N 0.05 1.41 0.35 29.7	NH ₃ -N 0.01 8.1 0.81 0.06	Total Cu 0.004 0.22 0.039 0.82	Total Zn 0.02 1.9 0.24 4.8
300 E	Concentration mg/L Load g/bectare	Minimum Maximum EMC Minimum Maximum	TN 0.28 21.1 3.7 106 5,655	TP 0.06 4.4 0.91 16.4 1,059	NO ₃ -N 0.05 1.41 0.35 29.7 174	NH ₃ -N 0.01 8.1 0.81 0.06 1,012	Total Cu 0.004 0.22 0.039 0.82 95.6	Total Zn 0.02 1.9 0.24 4.8 748

3.3 Pore water concentrations and corresponding pollutant removal efficiency

Pollutant pore water concentrations at both sites showed little variability across loadings for Planted or Unplanted Control Bays at Green Meadows or Treatment Bays at 300 East, and Table 3 summarizes the average pollutant pore water concentrations for these treatments. While Table 2 emphasizes the range of loading observed in the study, Table 3 shows the averages across loadings due to the lack of statistical difference between loadings for both field sites.

based c	on results from	n Dunnett's	Test at the	e 95% con	fidence ir	iterval. N	A = Not a	inalyzed
			TDN	TDP	NO ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N	Cu	Zn
			mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	μg/L	μg/L
		Ave	12.4 ^b	0.65 ^a	5.1 ^b	0.13 ^b	10.3 ^b	67.3 ^b
GM	Planted	95% CI	±1.9 ±0.10		±1.51	±0.03	±1.3	±7.5
		n	257	257	275	275	276	276
		Ave	17.2ª	0.82 ^a	10.2ª	0.32 ^a	12.8ª	111 ^a
	Unplanted	95% CI	±4.9	±0.24	±6.9	±0.08	±2.7	±28.8
		n	52	52	63 64		70	70
					NO. N	NL. N	Total	Total
	Treatment		111	11	1103-11	1 N11 3-1N	Cu	Zn
		Ave	1.08 ^B	0.356 ^B	0.23 ^в	0.13 ^A	11.2 ^A	111 ^A
2005	Бау	95% CI	±0.14	±0.20	±0.08	±0.06	±5.3	±46.4
300E		n	52	52	25	33	48	48
	C	Ave	2.5 ^A	1.7 ^A	0.69 ^A	0.04 ^A	18.6 ^A	39.6 ^A
	Comparison	95% CI	±1.34	±0.71	NA	-	±14.2	±34.0
	Day	n	5	5	1	2	4	4

Table 3: Average pore water concentrations measured at the Green Meadows and 300 East field sites. Letters indicate significant differences in pore water concentrations for each site based on results from Dunnett's Test at the 95% confidence interval. NA = Not analyzed

Pollutant removal efficiency was calculated based on runoff concentrations and pore water concentrations for each storm then averaged to determine the percent removal for the entire study period for the 300 East site (data shown in Appendix I). At the 300 East site, the background concentrations of trace elements and nutrients could be accounted for by subtracting the average pore water concentration found in the Comparison Bay from the concentrations in the pore water in the Treatment Bays for each individual storm. Samples from the Comparison Bay were only available during large storm events due to the lack of runoff entering the bay, limiting the availability of the pore water. The resultant concentrations were then used to calculate removal percentages which ranged from 100% for TN, TP, and NO₃+NO₂, 90% for NH₃-N and Cu, and 66% for Zn. If the comparison bay concentrations are not accounted for the removal percentages decrease to 74% for Cu and 66% for NH₃-N and less than 50% for TN, NO₃+NO₂, and Zn. Since the pollutant removal efficiencies for the BR systems at Green Meadows (Appendix I) could not be corrected for background pore water concentrations as a background plot that did not receive simulated runoff was not available at this field site, pollutant removal efficiencies were not reported.

3.4 Loading rate and pore water concentration relationships

Regression analysis for nutrients and trace metals measured at the two field sites revealed no relationships for most pollutants between pore water concentrations averaged across pore water sampler depth and BR system aerial runoff loadings. Data at the Green Meadows site included Planted and Unplanted Control Bays from the low, medium and high loading events. Data from the 300 East site were averaged across the Treatment Bays for all natural rainfall events. Figure 1 shows some of these regression plots with all regression plots provided in Appendix J. Table 4 provides a summary of all regression results. At the Green Meadows site there was no relationship between the aerial runoff loading and the resulting Cu and Zn pore water concentrations (Figure 1a and b), but NH₃-N loading was positively correlated with the pore water concentrations at this site (Figure 1c). At the 300 East site; however, only Cu concentrations found in the pore water were positively correlated with the Cu loading rates applied to this BR system (Figure 1d). For all other trace elements and nutrients at both sites pore water concentrations were independent of loading (Table 4).



Figure 1: Regression analysis of loading (g/ha) versus pore water concentrations. a. Cu, b. Zn, and c. NH₃-N at the Green Meadows site; and d. TN at the 300 East site.

Table 4: Regression equation data for pollutant loading (g/ha) versus pore water concentration relationships for Green Meadows planted bays and 300 East treatment bays. Peak loading and average pore water concentrations are also included. Regulatory

		TDN.	TDP.	NO ₃ -N.	NH ₃ -N.	Cu.	Zn.
		mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	μg/L	μg/L
Regulator	y Standard	10†	1.0††	10	10†	1,300	5,000
	\mathbb{R}^2	0.005	0.085	0.1588	0.5635	0.0135	0.0311
	n	12	12	12	12	12	12
	Significant	N	Ν	N	Y	Ν	N
GM	Slope				0.0002		
Planted	Intercept				-0.0007		
bays	Mean PW conc.	12.1	0.65	5.1	0.13	10.3	67.3
	Maximum Load g/ha	7,085	474	2,045	50,035*	13.5	107
		TN	ТР	NO ₃ -N,	NH ₃ -N,	Cu,	Zn,
	1	111		mg/L	mg/L	μg/L	μg/L
	\mathbb{R}^2	0.0327	0.1797	0.0856	0.0097	0.8171	0.0771
	n	14	14	9	12	15	15
	Significant	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
300 E	Slope					1.53	
Treatment	Intercept					1.32	
bays	Mean PW conc.	1.08	0.36	0.23	0.13	11.2	111
	Maximum Load g/ha	5,655	1,059	174	1,012	849*	748

standards shown are for drinking water except for TDP which is a regulated wastewater discharge standard in the State of Utah.

[†] Drinking water standard related to NO₃-N assuming all N species converted to NO₃-N through nitrification in soil vadose zone.

†† Maximum wastewater discharge standard in the State of Utah.

*Maximum loading rates are based on regression equation and regulatory standard for that pollutant and are understood to be the maximum pollutant load that can be treated within a given system.

Along with R^2 , n, and a significance determination of the regressions at the 95% confidence level, Table 4 provides slope and intercept values for the significant regression relationships. For pollutants with non-significant relationships the mean pore water concentrations and peak loading rates observed at the sites are listed along with relevant drinking water or wastewater standards when available. The mean pore water

concentrations observed for most pollutants were significantly below any concentrations of concern except for TDN at the Green Meadows site, where pore water concentrations were 12.1 mg/L (corresponding to a 7,085 g/ha TDN loading) compared to a related NO₃-N drinking water level of 10.0 mg/L.

For those pollutants showing a significant relationship between loading and pore water concentrations, NH₃-N at Green Meadows and Cu at the 300 East site, the regression equations were used to extrapolate loading rates to the pore water concentrations associated with regulatory standards for that pollutant. Using the significant regression relationship for NH₃-N at the Green Meadows site, a calculated loading of greater than 50,000 g/ha would be necessary to produce a 10 mg/L NH₃-N pore water concentration there. For Cu at the 300 East site, the 1,300 µg/L drinking water standard within the pore water would be reached at a Cu loading of 849 g/ha. The maximum loading values in Table 4 provide design guidelines regarding maximum loadings to protect groundwater resources from pollutant contamination from stormwater runoff in Northern Utah settings.

4. Discussion

At the Green Meadows site, the concentrations of most pollutants found in the soil pore water were relatively constant over all loading rates as shown for Cu and Zn in Figure 1 and appear to be related to the soil and compost amendment used at this site rather than pollutants in the simulated stormwater runoff. ANOVA results also indicated that the planted systems were able to capture and remove most pollutants from the BR system pore more effectively, i.e., producing lower pore water concentrations (Table 3), than the unplanted control plots. For the 300 East location all trace metals and nutrients showed a positive removal over the study period for all pollutant loads. As was seen even more clearly than at the Green Meadows, at the 300 East site pore water concentrations were controlled by the background concentrations in the site soil rather than by the concentrations that were input due to stormwater runoff. This observation is consistent with study reported by Shrestha et al. (2018) from the eight BR systems receiving roadside runoff in Vermont in which they concluded that the effects of vegetation and enhanced rainfall treatments on pollutant removal were minimal compared to the soil media effects.

Pollutant pore water concentrations in the Comparison Bay at the 300 East site generated from rainwater infiltration were statistically equal to or higher than pore water in the Treatment Bays receiving roadway stormwater runoff because stormwater diluted nutrient concentrations (Table 3). This BR system with turf grass was able to sequester and remove trace elements and nutrients from runoff up to the loading rates reported in Table 5. The use of a comparison bay that does not receive runoff was highly beneficial in demonstrating the effectiveness of this BR system so that background levels of trace metals and nutrients can be monitored and accounted for in system performance evaluation.

At both locations, removal for most nutrients and trace metals was independent of loading. At the Green Meadows site only NH₃-N pore water concentrations were dependent on loading. Similar results were found for the 300 East site where regression analysis of all trace elements and nutrients, other than Cu, showed that pore water concentrations were not dependent on what was loaded to the system up to the maximum loading rates observed in this study. The relationship between loading and pore water

concentrations can be used to improve sizing of BR systems by determining a maximum load that the system can receive and sizing accordingly. The two field sites give a range of loading rates to consider in designing of BR systems with two difference sizing regimes. The results suggest that the highest loading rate observed in this study can be used without deterioration of treatment efficiency within the BR system as the design loading rate for sizing BR systems in this region.

Lucas and Greenway (2008) studied variable loadings of TDN and TDP in laboratory mesocosm studies. TDP ranged from 0.78 mg/L to 4.8 mg/L while TDN ranged from 4.8 mg/L to 5 mg/L in the simulated runoff they applied to their laboratory systems. The vegetated mesocosms in their study removed up to 92% TDP for both concentrations and TDN removal was 81%. Sun and Davis (2007) saw 88-97% removal in BR systems with three different plant species at two concentrations of Cu (71+5 μ g/L and $170 \pm 19 \,\mu\text{g/L}$), Zn (0.66 $\pm 0.11 \,\text{mg/L}$ and 1.44 $\pm 0.12 \,\text{mg/L}$) and Pb (67 $\pm 6.1 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ and $160+18 \mu g/L$) with no significant loading effect on overall pollutant removal efficiency. The concentrations of trace metals and nutrients applied in these previous studies were within the range of concentrations observed in the runoff and applied in the synthetic storms in the current study (Table 2). Similar or better pollutant removal efficiency was observed in this field study at the 300 East site in comparison to the microcosm studies reported in the literature, when background pore water concentrations were accounted for, and no effect on pore water concentrations was observed for most pollutants over the range of pollutant loadings observed in this study.

The current literature focuses on concentrations of pollutants flowing into a BR system but because of the assimilative capacity of the treatment area in this study,

loading rates in the form of mass/unit treatment area/time was determined to be a better way to explore performance and design of BR systems. This concept results in the sizing of treatment areas based on the "land limiting constituent," that is the pollutant that requires the largest treatment area to provide required treatment efficiency.

5. Conclusions

Based on the findings from this study, the following conclusions can be made related to the effect of stormwater pollutant loading on vegetated BR system performance.

- Planted BR systems at the two field sites analyzed in this study were able to effectively assimilate pollutants from natural or simulated storm events representative of multiple pollutant loadings in the Northern Utah region up to the peak loadings observed in this study without increasing pore water concentrations below the sites.
- 2. Pore water concentrations were found to reflect the nutrient and trace metal concentrations solubilized from the media and not what was added to them from the stormwater runoff. This is evident from the Comparison Bay at 300 East, and pollutant removal efficiency results that increased with increased loading that were observed at the Green Meadows site.
- Pollutant runoff concentrations observed in this study can be used to improve model parameters in predictive models such as WinSLAMM by improving regional specific input parameters. The data collected during this study adds

information to the knowledge base for runoff concentrations in the Intermountain West.

Vegetated BR system performance appears to be robust, providing protection against surface or groundwater contamination under highly variable pollutant loading conditions that are normal for stormwater runoff in the region. Using runoff characteristics and peak loading rates reported in this study, rational sizing of BR systems can be carried out, with final design based on the largest BR system area required (the limiting constituent) for the range of pollutants being managed at a site.

References

- Barrett, M.E., Limouzin, M., Lawler, D.F. (2013). "Effects of media and plant selection on biofiltration performance." *J. Environ. Eng.* 139(4): 462-470.
- Barron, N.J., Deletic, A., Jung, J., Fowdar, H., Chen, Y. (2019). "Dual-mode stormwatergreywater biofilters: The impact of alternating water sources on treatment performance." *Water Res*. 159:521-537.
- Blecken, G-T., Zinger, Y., Deletić, A., Fletcher, T.M., Viklander, M. (2009a). "Influence of intermittent wetting and drying conditions on heavy metal removal by stormwater biofilters." *Water Res.* 43:4590-4598.
- Blecken, G-T., Zinger, Y., Deletić. A., Fletcher, T.M., Viklander, M. (2009b). "Impact of a submerged zone and a carbon source on heavy metal removal in stormwater biofilters." *Ecol. Eng.* 35:769-778.
- Bratieres, K., Fletcher, T.D., Deletić, A., Zinger, Y. (2008). "Nutrient and sediment removal by stormwater biofilters: A large-scale design optimisation study." *Water Res*.42:3930-3940.
- Charters, F.J., Cochrane, T.A., O'Sullivan, A.D. (2016). "Untreated runoff quality from roof and road surfaces in a low intensity rainfall climate." *Sci. Total Environ.* 550:265-272.
- Cording, A., Hurley, S., Adair, C. (2018). "Influence of critical bioretention design factors and projected increases in precipitation due to climate change on roadside bioretention performance." J. Environ. Eng. 144(9):04018082.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Sharma, H., Minami, C. (2001a). "Laboratory study of biological retention for urban stormwater management." *Water Environ. Res.* 73:5-14.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Shubei, N. (2001b). "Loading estimates of lead, copper, cadmium, and zinc in urban runoff from specific sources." *Chemosphere* 44:997-1009.
- Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Sharma, H., Minami, C., Winogradoff, D. (2003). "Water quality improvement through bioretention: lead, copper, zinc removal." *Water Environ. Res.* 75:73-82.
- Fernández-Válesquez, R.A. (2018). "Application of WinSLAMM to evaluate the effect of green infrastructure implementation in northern Utah." Master's Thesis, https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/7405.

- Glaister, B.J., Fletcher, T.D., Cook, P.L.M., Hatt, B.E. (2017). "Interactions between design, plant growth and treatment performance of stormwater biofilters." *Ecol. Eng.* 105:21-31.
- Lucas, W.C. and Greenway, M. (2008). "Nutrient retention in vegetated and nonvegetated bioretention mesocosms." *J. Irrig. Drain. Eng.* Vol. 134, No. 5, 613-623.
- Luo, Y., Sun, S., Zhang. H. (2019). "Effectiveness of various wetland vegetation species on mitigating water pollution from highway runoff." *Water Environ. Res.* 91:906-917.
- Ng, K.T., Herrero, P., Hatt, B., Farrelly, M., McCarthy, D. (2018). "Biofilters for urban agriculture: Metal uptake of vegetables irrigated with stormwater." *Ecol. Eng.* 122:177-186.
- Prince George's County, MD. (2007). *Bioretention Manual*, Environmental Services Division, Department of Environmental Resources.
- Read, J., Wevill, T., Fletcher, T., Deletić, A. (2008). "Variation among plant species in pollutant removal from stormwater in biofiltration systems." *Water Res.* 42,893-902.
- Rycewicz-Borecki, M. (2015). "Stormwater bioretention: nitrogen, phosphorus and metal removal by plants." Doctoral dissertation, <u>https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/4597</u>.
- Rycewicz-Borecki, M., McLean, J., Dupont, R.R. (2017). "Nitrogen and phosphorus mass balance, retention and uptake in six plant species grown in stormwater bioretention microcosms." *Ecol. Eng.* Vol 99: 409-416.
- Shrestha, P., Hurley, S.E., Wemple, B.C. (2018). "Effects of different soil media, vegetation, and hydrological treatments on nutrients and sediment removal in roadside bioretention systems." *Ecol. Eng.* Vol. 112:116-131.
- Solorzano, L. (1969). "Determination of ammonia in natural waters by the phenolhypochlorite method." Association for the Sciences of Limnology and Oceanography.
- Sun, X. and Davis, A.P. (2007). "Heavy metal fates in laboratory bioretention systems." *Chemosphere* 66:1601-1609.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (1993). Method 353.2, Revision 2.0: Determination of nitrate-nitrite nitrogen by automated colorimetry.

- US Environmental Protection Agency (1993). Method 365.1, Revision 2.0: Determination of phosphorus by semi-automated colorimetry.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (1999). "Stormwater technology fact sheet: bioretention." EPA 832-F-99-012.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (2016). "Green infrastructure design and implementation." <u>https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/green-infrastructure-design-and-implementation</u>. Accessed September 11, 2017.
- US Environmental Protection Agency, US Fish and Wildlife Service, Maryland Department of Natural Resources (2007). "Bioretention: A guide for stormwater retention and water quality improvement." <u>https://www.fws.gov/ChesapeakeBay/PDF/stream-</u> restoration/USFW_guide_d08.pdf Accessed August 25, 2020.
- Valderrama, J.C. (1981) "The simultaneous analysis of total nitrogen and total phosphorus in natural waters." *Marine Chemistry* 10, 109-122.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Bioretention (BR) systems have been identified by the EPA as a best management practice for pollutant removal for stormwater runoff. This dissertation's research design looked at three different BR systems to assess their effectiveness. The study analyzed the effectiveness of various plant types and three types of filter media for pollutant removal under variable pollutant loads and stormwater regimes both natural and synthetic.

This study consisted of three field sites. The Green Meadows site contained four typical BR species: *Typha latifolia* (Broadleaf cattail); *Juncus balticus* (Baltic Rush); *Carex microptera* (Smallwing sedge); *Helianthus maximiliana* (Sunflower). The 300 East site contained a common cabin grass mixture containing a species mix of soder streambank wheatgrass, roadcrest crested wheatgrass, and sheep fescue, and native soil, while the Public Utilities site contain no effective vegetation but two types of filter media: Utelite[™] expanded shale and pea gravel.

Media selection in BR systems is important to limit leaching of pollutants from media selected to remove those same pollutants from the infiltrating stormwater. Native soils and engineered filter media within a BR system can be a source of pollutants and should be evaluated using some form of water extraction before being used in a stormwater treatment system. Background soil pore water concentrations should be determined in an adjacent area to a BR system to develop a baseline to evaluate true pollutant removal performance. The water extraction procedure used in this study clearly indicated that significant levels of As can be mobilized from the UteliteTM shale used at the Public Utilities site, and despite its high porosity and permeability, is not ideal when used without additional treatment amendments (compost, mulch, absorptive media). Media choice can have a significant impact on apparent BR system performance. Careful evaluation of media and their naturally occurring background concentrations of nutrients and trace metals is necessary to ensure optimal stormwater treatment system design, valid BR system performance evaluation, and sustained groundwater quality protection. Evaluation of unintended consequences of placing BR system in areas with geogenic source of As or other mobile metals is important. It is necessary to evaluate the leaching potential of BR media and native soils that can be affected by stormwater and vegetation used in BR systems for stormwater treatment to ensure long-term groundwater protection.

Pollutant removal varied with plant species and no one plant type was effective in removal of all pollutants monitored at the Green Meadows site, indicating that a variety of plant type would be most effective for pollutant removal. TDN, NO₃-N, NH₃-N, TDP, Cu, and Zn pore water concentrations were significantly higher in unplanted control bays compared to planted bays at the highest pollutant loading. Removal for a range of pollutants occurred at the 300 East site indicating that turf grass would be an effective implementation in BR systems that would be acceptable to stormwater managers.

Vegetated BR system performance appears to be robust, providing protection against surface or groundwater contamination under highly variable pollutant loading conditions that are normal for stormwater runoff in the region. Vegetated BR systems at the two field sites analyzed in this study were able to effectively assimilate pollutants from natural or simulated storm events up to the peak loadings observed in this study without increasing pore water concentrations below the sites. Pore water concentrations were found to reflect the nutrient and trace element concentrations solubilized from the media and not what was added to them from the stormwater runoff. This is evident from the Control Bay at 300 East, and pollutant removal efficiency results that increased with increased loading that were observed at the Green Meadows site.

Media and plant selection and knowledge of loading rates are important for design of BR systems. Use of regional-specific characteristics of each of these variables should improve BR system design and can be expected to improve the effectiveness of BR systems compared to design based on generic sizing criteria. As seen in this study, media selected in areas known to contain geogenic As, nutrients, and trace metals can negatively impact pollutant removal and leach pollutants from the media. Control plots near BR systems that do not receive runoff would be beneficial in the analysis of BR system pollutant removal effectiveness. Vegetation in a BR system can help to mitigate solubilization of pollutants via uptake into the plants and subsequent harvesting and plant biomass removal from the site. Finally, knowing pollutant loading from various runoff sources in a region, and the maximum loadings BR systems can assimilate without compromising underlying pore water and groundwater quality can improve sizing to optimize pollutant removal and long-term groundwater protection.

CHAPTER 7

ENGINEERING SIGNIFICANCE

This study evaluated the efficiency of three types of BR systems in Northern Utah. One aspect of the study compared filter media, while a second explored the effect of vegetation and plant type on the removal of nutrients and trace elements from stormwater. A third aspect examined the impact of pollutant loading rates on pollutant removal in these BR systems. A major motivation for the study was to generate regionalspecific information about BR system performance to add performance data from this region to the literature, and to document for local stormwater manager's the functionality of these systems and design consideration relevant for stormwater management in Utah.

Two of the three systems studied (vegetated BR systems) demonstrated effective pollutant removal from stormwater runoff, while the BR system containing filter media exhibited significant leaching, especially from Utelite[™] expanded shale. Plants were determined to have a positive impact on pollutant removal in the Northern Utah region as has been reported elsewhere throughout the United States. Installation of vegetation within BR systems is beneficial for nutrient and trace metal removal and protection of groundwater. Individual plant species provide variable removal results for specific pollutants, and a variety of plant types within a BR system would result in more comprehensive pollutant removal. The study also demonstrated that a diverse cabin grass mixture, more acceptable for implementation by municipal stormwater managers than commonly used BR system native vegetation, is effective in stormwater pollutant removal and can be used as a model planting scheme for expansion of BR stormwater systems throughout the state. Pore water concentrations of nutrient and trace elements were generally independent of pollutant loadings observed in this study. Pollutant concentrations measured in pore water were more likely due to the background concentrations found within the filter media than from the stormwater runoff moving into the BR systems. Analysis of engineered filter media and native soils should be routinely conducted before installation in BR systems to alleviate any concerns of pollutant leaching into groundwater.

Finally, maximum loading rates observed in this study can be used along with consideration of regulatory standards appropriate for the pollutants evaluated in this study for optimum BR system sizing to ensure protection of groundwater resources from pollutant contamination in stormwater runoff in Northern Utah settings. APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Sequential Extraction results for filter media at Salt Lake City Public Utilities Bioretention System using the Huang and Kratzschmar (2010) method

	•	27 Al [He]	56 Fe [He]	63 Cu [He]	66 Zn [He]	75 As [He]	8 Pb [No Ga
		µg∕kg	µg∕kg	µg/kg	µg/kg	µg/kg	µg/kg
top soil side 1	rep 1 extraction 1	1989.83	1119.52	25.50	139.26	83.92	6.76
top soil side 1	rep 2 extraction 1	1032.82	609.63	25.50	17.80	91.45	2.57
top soil side 1	rep 3 extraction 1	910.41	530.81	20.33	10.92	87.11	3.54
top soil side 2	rep 1 extraction 1	454.99	201.96	31.08	121.39	127.64	1.25
top soil side 2	rep 2 extraction 1	1684.58	1382.84	31.88	141.78	120.04	6.49
top soil side 2	rep 3 extraction 1	1255.65	829.91	35.52	41.08	148.89	3.65
	average	1221.38	779.11	28.30	78.71	109.84	4.04
washed pea gravel	rep 1 extraction 1	132.27	53.74	0.61	60.98	1.04	0.24
washed pea gravel	rep 2 extraction 1	244.73	15.40	2.85	14.55	2.17	0.80
washed pea gravel	rep 3 extraction 1	112.13	84.38	1.26	700.93	0.27	1.06
1 1 1	average	163.04	51.17	1.57	258.82	1.16	0.70
unwashed gravel	rep 1 extraction 1	393.96	36.00	5.75	86.57	3.84	0.40
unwashed gravel	rep 2 extraction 1	315.25	50.90	1.09	2.60	4.09	0.11
unwashed graver	rep 5 extraction 1	417.12	43.00	0.07	28.39	3.08	1.34
utalita	rop 1 overaction 1	1246 22	45.50	2.30	39.20	118.16	0.62
utelite	rep 2 extraction 1	4240.32	3783 02	25.02	42.34	03 //	0.39
utelite	rep 3 extraction 1	3079.65	93 50	1 11	1121 28	77 22	5.24
	average	3436.03	1357.69	12.07	504.15	96 31	2.03
	arenage	5450.05	1557.09	12.07	504.15	70.51	2.05
top soil side 1	rep 1 extraction 2	337.69	675.27	154.37	291.17	156.93	45.74
top soil side 1	rep 2 extraction 2	66.24	731.99	207.91	644.77	206.21	93.79
top soil side 1	rep 3 extraction 2	65.18	308.18	196.46	660.92	219.59	71.81
top soil side 2	rep 1 extraction 2	195.79	419.11	188.65	650.32	249.49	74.87
top soil side 2	rep 2 extraction 2	18.49	299.13	187.66	1159.51	244.19	81.45
top soil side 2	rep 3 extraction 2	160.06	289.30	198.09	450.68	282.76	105.69
	average	140.58	453.83	188.86	642.89	226.53	78.89
washed pea gravel	rep 1 extraction 2	100.74	432.67	150.76	5878.99	16.10	23.47
washed pea gravel	rep 2 extraction 2	175.22	380.30	153.52	725.64	20.70	13.72
washed pea gravel	rep 3 extraction 2	41.04	390.45	139.24	565.24	14.91	15.35
	average	105.67	401.14	147.84	2389.96	17.24	17.51
unwashed gravel	rep 1 extraction 2	54.54	354.53	131.71	988.63	31.01	13.23
unwashed gravel	rep 2 extraction 2	8.50	341.67	135.68	373.93	31.59	12.36
unwashed gravel	rep 3 extraction 2	10.53	1311.14	138.58	1422.24	29.32	13.83
. 1".	average	24.52	669.12	135.32	928.26	30.64	13.14
utelite	rep 1 extraction 2	118.76	1949.59	133.02	541.28	362.73	11.24
utente	rep 2 extraction 2	146.00	590.19	190.24	2057.14	381.97	14.57
utente	avorago	112 42	020.41	155.94	1056 70	205.72	12.00
	average	115.45	700.73	101.07	1050.79	550.14	12.09
ton soil side 1	rep 1 extraction 3	1 70	1.70	238 79	736 32	423.76	593.40
top soil side 1	rep 2 extraction 3	3.92	3.60	299.97	1521.66	524.60	748.59
top soil side 1	rep 3 extraction 3	0.37	142.52	224.67	1050.46	541.15	651.26
top soil side 2	rep 1 extraction 3	2.68	5.90	192.42	2625.69	591.68	551.46
top soil side 2	rep 2 extraction 3	5.43	8.60	134.40	950.68	556.12	586.26
top soil side 2	rep 3 extraction 3	0.93	11.80	147.43	1029.79	654.75	718.02
	average	2.51	29.02	206.28	1319.10	548.68	641.50
washed pea gravel	rep 1 extraction 3	12.11	29.80	44.27	480.82	25.52	26.30
washed pea gravel	rep 2 extraction 3	7.27	24.40	44.56	662.02	46.81	16.94
washed pea gravel	rep 3 extraction 3	9.48	19.60	35.04	458.08	26.19	19.27
	average	9.62	24.60	41.29	533.64	32.84	20.84
unwashed gravel	rep 1 extraction 3	5813.17	10090.07	52.20	1127.81	122.78	224.99
unwashed gravel	rep 2 extraction 3	10840.53	42007.85	50.58	1715.86	123.92	274.27
unwashed gravel	rep 3 extraction 3	7212.05	6719.76	54.76	931.41	87.07	199.88
	average	7955.25	19605.89	52.51	1258.36	111.25	233.05
utelite	rep 1 extraction 3	327.33	59.80	142.59	3635.27	325.92	17.64
utelite	rep 2 extraction 3	21835.58	3208.21	189.42	1306.48	342.56	60.31
utelite	rep 3 extraction 3	19//8/.59	130886.91	200.06	2107.11	406.98	125.99
1	average	/3316.83	44718.31	177.35	2349.62	358.49	67.98

APPENDIX B

Start Time	End Time	Event Length (hours)	Total Precip (inches)	ADD	Intensity, in/hr	Return Period
10/16/2016 9:48	10/17/2016 7:56	22.1	0.3	10.0	0.01448	5 days
3/22/2017 22:59	3/23/2017 16:27	17.5	1.82	16.0	0.104	5yr storm
3/25/2017 8:54	3/25/2017 19:10	10.25	0.64	2.0	0.062	2 yr storm
3/27/2017 9:40	3/27/2017 17:14	7.5	0.83	2.0	0.111	1 yr storm
3/30/2017 9:14	3/31/2017 2:29	17.75	0.11	3.0	0.006	7 days
4/2/2017 11:54	4/2/2017 13:56	2	0.08	2.0	0.040	13 days
4/8/2017 4:39	4/8/2017 22:40	18	0.74	6.0	0.041	2 years
4/9/2017 9:01	4/9/2017 10:09	1	0.27		0.270	1.5 yr storm
4/18/2017 17:16	4/19/2017 3:28	10.25	0.7	9.0	0.068	2 yr storm
4/20/2017 11:11	4/21/2017 6:10	19	0.37	1.0	0.019	6 month
4/28/2017 12:28	4/28/2017 16:42	4.25	0.11	1.0	0.026	13 days
5/17/2017 0:52	5/17/2017 5:22	4.5	0.39	18.0	0.087	1.5 yr storm

Storm event data from Salt Lake City Public Utilities

APPENDIX C

		Event	Total			
		Length	precip		ADD	Return
Start Time	End Time	(hours)	(inches)	Intensity	(days)	Period
	9/14/2017		0.098			
	9/15/2017		0.13			
	9/18/2017		0.16			
	9/19/2017		0.42			
	9/21/2017		0.15			
	9/22/2017		0.01			
10/20/2017 13:49	10/20/2017 21:24	7.58	0.1	0.013	6.410	5 day
11/2/2017 23:59	11/3/2017 4:34	4.58	0.2	0.044	13.108	1 day
	11/4/2017 0:00		0.51			
	11/5/2017 0:00		0.07			
4/12/2018 5:09	4/12/2018 16:39	11.50	0.82	0.071	3.563	8 month
4/29/2018 23:24	4/30/2018 16:49	17.42	0.49	0.028	6.802	4 month
5/11/2018 1:19	5/11/2018 13:14	11.92	0.62	0.052	0.684	8 month
5/12/2018 0:29	5/12/2018 11:44	11.25	0.47	0.042	0.469	6 month
5/12/2018 20:39	5/12/2018 21:24	0.75	0.04	0.053	0.372	5 day
10/2/2018 19:59	10/2/2018 20:59	1.00	0.37	0.370	36.52431	1 year
10/3/2018 21:19	10/5/2018 3:04	29.75	1.24	0.042	1.013889	1 year
10/9/2018 19:39	10/10/2018 4:14	8.58	0.48	0.056	4.690972	6 month
11/4/2018 10:24	11/4/2018 12:04	1.67	0.08	0.048	2.020833	12.5 days

Storm event data from 300 East. Columns with blue are data from Utah Climate Center

APPENDIX D

			luone	portio	in m soi	1				
	Extraction step	As (µg/ L)	As (mg/ kg)	% As	Cu (µg/ L)	Cu (mg/ kg)	% Cu	Zn (mg/L)	Zn (mg/ kg)	% Zn
0" ("	Exchangeables	4.2	0.23	11.2	77.9	4.3	1.3	78.3	4,350	4.8
0"-6"	Carbonates	10.3	0.71	34.0	34.7	2.4	0.71	484	33,560	37.1
(0- 15 2cm)	Mn Oxides	1.5	0.12	5.8	11.6	1.0	0.31	160	14,300	15.8
15.2011)	Organics	14.7	1.0	48.9	4,810	334	98.0	552	38,160	42.2
() ()	Exchangeables	5.5	0.22	12.8	69.3	2.8	5.6	79.6	3,170	6.5
6"-12"	Carbonates	12.5	0.61	35.4	36.4	1.8	3.7	352	17,360	35.6
15.2cm)	Mn Oxides	2.1	0.12	7.0	10.0	0.63	1.3	102	6,430	13.2
10.2011)	Organics	15.6	0.77	44.9	902	44.9	90.8	439	21,740	44.6
12"-18"	Exchangeables	8.0	0.30	15.4	93.4	3.5	11.7	36.5	1,360	2.6
(30.5-	Carbonates	19.7	0.89	46.0	162	7.2	24.3	681	31,630	59.3
45.7	Mn Oxides	2.2	0.10	5.3	8.8	0.22	0.73	100	5,050	9.5
cm)	Organics	13.8	0.64	33.3	407	19.0	64.0	330	15,260	28.6

Sequential extraction data for 300 East soil using the Amacher (1996) method, most labile portion in soil

APPENDIX E

Statistics for Green Meadows pore water and groundwater concentrations for nitrogen species

	Planted bays, includes all four plant types												
	Minimum (mg/L)	Maximum (mg/L)	Average (mg/L)	Stand. Deviation									
TDN 3"-6"	0.53	109	15.5	<u>+</u> 3.1									
TDN 6"-9"	0.55	95.1	9.3	<u>+</u> 2.2									
TDN GW	0.25	5.6	1.4	<u>+</u> 0.3									
NH ₃ 3"-6"	0.001	2.5	0.14	<u>+</u> 0.05									
NH ₃ 6"-9"	0.002	1.5	0.12	<u>+</u> 0.03									
NH ₃ GW	0.002	1.3	0.10	<u>+</u> 0.04									
NO ₃ 3"-6"	0.002	99.1	5.1	<u>+</u> 2.1									
NO ₃ 6"-9"	0.001	107	5.1	<u>+</u> 2.2									
NO ₃ GW	0.006	1.3	0.56	<u>+</u> 0.23									
		Unplanted control I	bays										
	Minimum (mg/L)	Maximum (mg/L)	Average (mg/L)	Stand. Deviation									
TDN 3"-6"	2.1	79	19	<u>+</u> 19									
TDN 6"-9"	2.4	69	13	<u>+</u> 15									
TDN GW	0.25	2.5	0.95	<u>+</u> 0.65									
NH ₃ 3"-6"	0.003	1.2	0.33	<u>+</u> 0.32									
NH ₃ 6"-9"	0.007	1.3	0.29	<u>+</u> 0.33									
NH ₃ GW	0.003	0.30	0.04	<u>+</u> 0.07									
NO ₃ 3"-6"	0.04	87.5	10.3	<u>+</u> 19.1									
NO ₃ 6"-9"	0.03	192	9.8	<u>+</u> 36.3									
NO ₃ GW	0.01	2.1	0.54	<u>+</u> 0.64									

APPENDIX F

	samples											
	TD	P in planted bays, a	ll loadings									
	Minimum (mg/L)	Maximum (mg/L)	Average (mg/L)	Stand. Deviation								
TDP 3"- 6"	0.029	11.7	0.789	<u>+</u> 0.185								
TDP 6"- 9"	0.049	3.31	0.504	<u>+</u> 0.087								
TDP GW	0.005	0.045	<u>+</u> 0.007									
	TDP in u	inplanted control ba	ays, all loadings									
	Minimum (mg/L)	Maximum (mg/L)	Average (mg/L)	Stand. Deviation								
TDP 3"- 6"	0.132	4.03	0.92	<u>+</u> 0.94								
TDP 6"- 9"	0.117	3.35	0.58	<u>+</u> 0.74								
TDP GW	0.01	0.108	0.06	<u>+0.03</u>								

Phosphorus concentration statistics for Green Meadows pore water and groundwater samples

APPENDIX G

5	Summary	statist	ics f	or trace	elei	ments	for	pore	water	and	ground	lwater	samp	les	from	the
					C	Green]	Mea	adows	s study	y site	•					

Planted bays, all depths, and all loadings							
Pollutant	n	Min (µg/L)	Max	Average	Ct. Derr		
			(µg/L)	(µg/L)	St. Dev		
As 3"-6"	135	8.79	2039.8	281.4	+320		
As 6"-9"	141	7.9	1883	417.6	<u>+</u> 414		
As GW	71	1.79	72.98	17.89	<u>+</u> 20.2		
Cu 3"-6"	135	0.27	56.9	13.3	<u>+</u> 12.2		
Cu 6"-9"	141	0.04	61.3	7.4	<u>+</u> 9.7		
Cu GW	71	0.03	5.56	0.95	<u>+</u> 0.95		
Zn 3"-6"	135	2.8	283.7	69.2	<u>+</u> 58.3		
Zn 6"-9"	141	0.17	402	65.4	<u>+</u> 68.8		
Zn GW	71	0.09	181.7	12.6	<u>+</u> 28.7		
Unplanted control bays, all depths, and all loadings							
Pollutant	n	Min (µg/L)	Max	Average	St. Dev		
			(µg/L)	(µg/L)			
As 3"-6"	36	31.3	343.3	126.6	<u>+</u> 78.4		
As 6"-9"	35	28.9	232.6	102.8	<u>+</u> 47.2		
As GW	17	3.3	102	39.9	<u>+</u> 36.3		
Cu 3"-6"	36	0.43	54.7	14.4	<u>+</u> 11.9		
Cu 6"-9"	35	1.58	58.5	10.8	<u>+</u> 10.6		
Cu GW	17	0.07	8.8	2.8	<u>+</u> 2.3		
Zn 3"-6"	36	2.1	444.7	95.5	<u>+</u> 100		
Zn 6"-9"	35	7.6	723.5	124	+142		
	22						

APPENDIX H

ICPMS data for trace elements for water extractions for UteliteTM expanded shale and pea gravel

PG=Pea Gravel, SS= Utelite [™]							
	63 Cu [He]	66 Zn [He]	75 As [He]	208 Pb [No Gas]			
Top Limit MRL	500	400	200	100			
	0.63	2.00	0.25	0.06			
MDL	0.066	0.611	0.042	0.014			
Sample Name	Conc. [ug/l]	Conc. [ug/l]	Conc. [ug/l]	Conc. [ug/l]			
PG1	1.90	2.42	3.66	0.01			
PG2	2.82	1.86	3.61	0.01			
PG3	2.82	4.35	4.16	0.01			
SS1 1:1	1.36	2.58	4.38	0.02			
SS2 1:1	1.08	1.58	4.18	0.02			
SS3 1:1	1.76	2.60	5.66	0.04			
APPENDIX I

				TDN	TDP	NO ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N		
				mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	Cu	Zn
	Low	planted	Ave		-				
GM			Removal	-119%	136%	-116%	90%	24%	-2%
			95% CI	95%	110%	253%	4%	18%	30%
		unplanted	Ave		-				
			Removal	-190%	150%	-110%	67%	22%	-72%
			95% CI	121%	93%	111%	16%	10%	133%
			Ave						
			Removal	-196%	-73%	-192%	90%	2%	31%
		planted	95% CI	46%	32%	109%	5%	39%	37%
			Ave						
			Removal	-106%	-24%	-80%	78%	22%	-11%
	medium	unplanted	95% CI	131%	19%	209%	21%	29%	82%
		planted	Ave						
			Removal	-45%	33%	-33%	90%	72%	57%
			95% CI	90%	24%	99%	6%	10%	22%
			Ave						
			Removal	-272%	-73%	-590%	74%	32%	27%
	high	unplanted	95% CI	180%	68%	301%	7%	18%	38%
300 East				TN	TP	NO ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N		
				mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	Cu	Zn
			Ave						
			Removal	100%	100%	100%	66%	79%	27%
			95% CI				62%	41%	70%

Summary of nutrient and trace element removal efficiency at the Green Meadows and 300 East field sites.























Cu Loading, g/ha





APPENDIX K

	C 11	7	<u> </u>	Dh	NO₃+		TDN	TDD
	Cu	Zn	AS	PD	NO ₂ -N	NH3-N	TDN	TDP
Low	μg/L	μg/L	μg/L	μg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L
applied	10.2	67.6	1.3	0.018	1.6	0.62	4	0.28
Planted	7.61	67.86	301.37	0.52	3.52	0.06	8.70	0.65
control	7.91	116.04	96.88	0.51	3.37	0.21	11.77	0.68
%rmvl plant	25%	0%	-23083%	-2803%	-120%	90%	-118%	-131%
%rmvl control	22%	-72%	-7352%	-2754%	-110%	67%	-194%	-144%
Medium								
applied	16.2	98.7	1.3	0.018	2.4	1.1	5.7	0.46
Planted	15.97	68.63	408.15	0.85	6.98	0.11	16.93	0.80
control	12.80	109.91	129.59	1.73	3.92	0.24	11.65	0.56
%rmvl plant	1%	30%	-31296%	-4613%	-191%	90%	-197%	-74%
%rmvl control	21%	-11%	-9869%	-9529%	-63%	78%	-104%	-21%
High								
applied	26.1	150	1.3	0.018	3.6	2	8.5	0.76
Planted	7.15	64.94	342.44	0.58	4.71	0.20	11.88	0.51
control	17.78	105.87	115.29	1.79	24.49	0.51	32.07	1.34
%rmvl plant	73%	57%	-26242%	-3101%	-31%	90%	-40%	33%
%rmvl control	32%	29%	-8769%	-9870%	-580%	75%	-277%	-76%

Nutrient and trace element removal at Green Meadows site, by application rate.

APPENDIX L

References for raw data published in HydroShare for each study site.

Rife, T. (2021). Analysis of plant species in bioretention areas in Logan, UT, HydroShare, <u>http://www.hydroshare.org/resource/ceae616026614bdc86701823a3d62d40</u>

Rife, T. (2020). Analysis of bioretention area at 300 East in Logan UT, HydroShare, http://www.hydroshare.org/resource/3551eed4209645c29d640d834c876343

Rife, T. (2020). Analysis of two types of filter media in a bioretention system at Public Utilities, Salt Lake City, UT, HydroShare, <u>http://www.hydroshare.org/resource/d8338d638ff34b35a7db1353bd0f7a4b</u>

CURRICULUM VITAE

Trixie Rife

Trixwolf55@gmail.com

EDUCATION & CERTIFICATION

- PhD Civil/Environmental Engineering 2021)
 M.S. Civil/Environmental Engineering (2010)
 M.S. Ecology
 Utah State University (2003)
- B.S. Education with minor in Biology
- GIS Certificate

RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

Research Assistant Utah State University

Logan, UT

- Working to complete doctoral research project involving soil water transport, plant uptake of pollutants, and water analysis
- Completed metal and nutrient digestion for water analyses using standard laboratory procedures
- Successfully completed course work in hydraulics, hydrology, structure design while conducting research

CONSULTING EXPERIENCE

Environmental Consultant Leonardo Technologies, Inc. August 2010 – December 2014 Pittsburgh, PA

NEPA Quality Analyst & GIS Analyst

- Using ESRI ArcMap, constructed maps of areas and project boundaries from latitude and longitude coordinates, oblique imagery, and site description for site area analysis, land ownership determination, and analysis of geologic structure location
- Developed PDF map documents, independent of the internet, with additional data file formats attached for additional analysis and presentation of locations presented on map
- Helped to conduct ISO14001 and OHSAS18001 audits
- Conducted NEPA categorical exclusion audits

TEACHING & COACHING EXPERIENCE

Science Teacher

Middlesex High School, Middlesex, VA

• Used various labs and activities in class to enhance student learning. Completed a water monitoring activity, cultured oysters, and planned habitat construction for various areas near the school such as, woodlands, rain garden, and meadow

August 2006 – June 2007

Duquesne University (1996)

Penn State University (2010)

July 2014 – present

142

Assistant Women's Basketball Coach **Duquesne University, Pittsburgh, PA**

Science Teacher

Riverside High School, Painesville, OH

• Used various labs and activities in class to enhance student learning. Taught General Science

Science Teacher

McCamey High School, McCamey, TX

 Used various labs and activities in class to enhance student learning. Taught Biology and Anatomy and Physiology

Science Teacher

West Charlotte High School, Charlotte, NC

Used various labs and activities in class to enhance student learning. Taught Biology and • Anatomy and Physiology

PUBLICATIONS

- Master's Thesis Research: "Modeling the Value of Ecosystem Services: Application to Soil Loss in Southeastern Allegheny County," Youngstown State University, August 2010
- Master's Option B Project: "Feral pigs and the Environment: An Annotated Bibliography," Berryman Institute Publication 21, Utah State University – Logan, UT; Mississippi State University – Starksville, MS

July 2003 – April 2005

August 2000 – June 2001

August 1998 – June 2000

August 1997 – June 1998